2019
Annual Report

FURTHERING OUR

aRPAI

RE/DEFINED



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

| hope this letter finds you well during this unprecedented time.
While the events of the last few months have tested many aspects
of our lives, | believe our industry, our country, and our world will
weather these current challenges and emerge even stronger in
many regards.

Last year, | outlined our plan to RE/Define retail real estate
following the successful conclusion of our multi-year portfolio
repositioning. | am proud to report that we have validated our
RPAI 2.0 thesis through our record-setting performance in 2019.
We ended 2019 with our strongest fundamental positioning in
our corporate history, placing us on solid footing to deal with the
morphing economic backdrop as 2020 unfolds. And with our honed
asset footprint, we are furthering our focus on the key initiatives
that will continue to shape our long-term success.




FURTHERING OUR FOCUS: OPERATING PORTFOLIO

During 2019, our team signed leases for 16% of our portfolio gross leasable area (GLA), nearly matching our
record 17% performance in 2018. These efforts enabled us to increase our presence with digitally native
tenants such as Warby Parker, Casper, and UNTUCKit. We also delivered the RE/Development of the
multi-family portion of Plaza del Lago in April, reinforcing the project-based momentum that complements
our core operating portfolio strengths. Our highly adjacent footprint and the hard work of our team enabled
us to produce all-time highs in key operating statistics for our retail portfolio in the fourth quarter, including
occupancy of 95.2%, percent leased of 96.2%, and annualized base rent per square foot of $19.52. Our
sustained operating momentum throughout the year also catalyzed our 2019 operating funds from
operations per diluted share of $1.08, up 4.9% year-over-year, and 2019 same store net operating income
growth of 2.7%, our highest in the last three years.
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FURTHERING OUR FOCUS: RE/DEVELOPMENT

In 2019, we made significant headway on our Big
Three RE/Development and expansion projects,
which sit in the Washington, D.C. / Baltimore
corridor. At our Circle East RE/Development, we
have completed the bulk of major construction and
signed leases for a portion of the 82,000 square
foot retail segment of the project with Shake Shack
and Ethan Allen, which will occupy prominent
corner locations at Towson’s roundabout circle
interchange. These signings set the table favorably
for lease-up of the balance of the project. At
One Loudoun Downtown Pads G & H, our team
has advanced construction on the garages and
foundation work ahead of frame construction
expected to begin this spring. Amid the sustained
wave of investment in technology infrastructure
in Northern Virginia, this expansion complements

and enhances our approximately 469,000 square
foot mixed-use community anchor asset, One
Loudoun Downtown, which boasted year-end
retail occupancy of 98.2% and office occupancy
of 100.0%. In response to current macroeconomic
conditions, we have halted plans for vertical
construction at our Carillon RE/Development
project, for which we also are evaluating a material
reductionin scope and spend. This capital allocation
discipline enables us to de-risk our overall operating
plan and focus on preservation of our outstanding
balance sheet amid more variability in the broader
consumer spending landscape. We are maintaining
optionality for either the monetization or build-
out of components of Carillon, which we believe
can drive compelling risk-adjusted returns when
conditions support commencement in the future.
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The graph compares the cumulative total stockholder returns on RPAI’s Class A Common Stock with the cumulative total stockholder returns of the (i) FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs Index, (ii)
FTSE NAREIT Equity Shopping Centers Index and (iii) Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (S&P 500), in each case during the period beginning December 31, 2014 through December 31, 2019.
The graph assumes a $100 investment in each of RPAI’s Class A Common Stock and the selected indices on December 31, 2014, and the reinvestment of all dividends. We changed the com-
parison, for the years presented, from the Bloomberg REIT Shopping Center Index, the MSCI US REIT Index (RMS) and the S&P 500 to the FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs Index, the FTSE NAREIT
Equity Shopping Centers Index and the S&P 500 because we believe these indices reflect a better comparison of our performance relative to the broader market and our peers as well as more
closely align with the indices selected by our peers. In this transition year, we have retained the previous indices for comparison, but will not include them in our stock performance graph
going forward. The comparisons are based on historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the future performance of RPAI’s Class A Common Stock. Source: Bloomberg

FURTHERING OUR FOCUS: CORPORATE STEWARDSHIP AND STRATEGIC

POSITIONING

We continue to reinforce the strength of our
investment-grade balance sheet, which serves as a key
tool amid many unknowns in the economy at present.
After raising $370 million in debt capital during 2019
with a weighted average interest rate of 3.56% and
a weighted average term of 7.2 years, we ended the
year with more than $840 million in total available
liquidity and one of the lowest leverage positions in
our peer group. Further, we enhanced visibility on
our long-term runway for growth with the recent
outline of entitlements for 4.0 million square feet of
commercial GLA and 2,650 multi-family rental units
across nine assets in our portfolio. Combined, these
actions both solidify and illuminate our long-term path
to successful, responsible growth that should reward
all of our many stakeholders. And our balance sheet
strength, as well as our abundant liquidity, provide us
much flexibility to address the current changes in the
macroeconomic backdrop.

While working to ensure the current health and safety
of our employees, we also continue to advance our
environmental, social and governance (ESG) efforts in
big and small ways. We have executed power purchase
agreements that commence on July 1st of this year
to deliver energy from renewable resources such
as wind and solar to 27 of our Texas assets located

in deregulated power jurisdictions. These contracts
account for more than one quarter of the assets in
our total portfolio. While addressing an important
environmental concern, our investment in renewable
energy resources also should hold growing resonance
with our tenants and shoppers alike. In addition, we
continue to make progress on our stewardship goals
in more incremental ways, including the removal
of disposable plastic water bottles,
composting efforts, and other measures at our LEED-
certified corporate headquarters. We are expanding
our disclosure on this key topic, including in our Proxy
Statement and at our microsite, www.RPAlesg.com.

initiation of

I would like to thank our dedicated team and our
Board of Directors for their ongoing efforts to advance
our strategy. And | would like to thank you, our
shareholders, for your support.

Sincerely,

Steven P. Grimes
Chief Executive Officer
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PART 1

All dollar amounts and share amounts in this Form 10-K in Items 1. through 7A. are stated in thousands with the exception of per
share, per square foot and per unit amounts. In this report, all references to “we,” “our” and “us” refer collectively to Retail
Properties of America, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Retail Properties of America, Inc. is a real estate investment trust (REIT) that owns and operates high quality, strategically located
open-air shopping centers, including properties with a mixed-use component. As of December 31, 2019, we owned 104 retail
operating properties in the United States representing 19,972,000 square feet of gross leasable area (GLA) and had three active
expansion and redevelopment projects. Our retail operating portfolio includes (i) neighborhood and community centers, (ii) power
centers, and (iii) lifestyle centers and multi-tenant retail-focused mixed-use properties, as well as single-user retail properties.

The following table summarizes our portfolio as of December 31, 2019:

Percent Leased

Number of GLA Including Leases
Property Type Properties (in thousands) Occupancy Signed (a)
Retail operating portfolio:
Multi-tenant retail:
Neighborhood and community centers 63 10,244 95.5% 96.8%
Power centers 23 4,922 96.2% 96.8%
Lifestyle centers and mixed-use properties (b) 16 4,545 93.4% 94.0%
Total multi-tenant retail 102 19,711 95.2% 96.2%
Single-user retail 2 261 100.0% 100.0%
Total retail operating properties 104 19,972 95.2% 96.2%
Expansion and redevelopment projects: e
Circle East (c) 1
One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H (d) —
Carillon 1
Total number of properties 106

(a) Includes leases signed but not commenced.

(b) Excludes the 18 multi-family rental units at Plaza del Lago. As of December 31, 2019, 14 multi-family rental units were leased at an average
monthly rental rate per unit of $1,309.

(¢) Theredevelopment at Circle East is no longer combined with our neighboring property Towson Square, which increased our property count
within expansion and redevelopment projects by one. There was no change to the property count of lifestyle centers and mixed-use properties
as Towson Square remains within our retail operating portfolio.

(d) The operating portion of this property is included in the property count of lifestyle centers and mixed-use properties within our retail
operating portfolio.

Operating History

We are a Maryland corporation formed in March 2003 and have been publicly held and subject to U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) reporting requirements since 2003. We were initially formed as Inland Western Retail Real Estate Trust, Inc.
and on March 8, 2012, we changed our name to Retail Properties of America, Inc.

Business Objectives and Strategies

In 2012, we adopted a strategic plan to transform our portfolio, through asset sales and strategic acquisitions, to focus on high
quality, multi-tenant retail properties located in targeted markets where demographic trends and expanding employment would
result in long-term, structural earnings growth. We completed this transformation and are now a prominent owner of multi-tenant
retail properties, many with a mixed-use component, primarily located in the following markets: Dallas, Washington, D.C./
Baltimore, New York, Chicago, Seattle, Atlanta, Houston, San Antonio, Phoenix and Austin.



As a result of these efforts, our portfolio is better focused in markets with improved growth prospects, which we believe will
translate into durable earnings growth. Since our inaugural investor day in June 2013, we have (i) improved our retail annualized
base rent (ABR) by 35% to $19.52 per square foot as of December 31, 2019 from $14.46 per square foot as of March 31, 2013,
(i) increased our concentration in lifestyle and mixed-use properties based on multi-tenant retail ABR by 1,900 basis points to
35% as of December 31, 2019 from 16% as of March 31, 2013, (iii) reduced our top 20 retail tenant concentration of total ABR
by 1,160 basis points to 26.3% as of December 31, 2019 from 37.9% as of March 31, 2013, and (iv) reduced our indebtedness by
37% to $1,632,904 as of December 31, 2019 from $2,601,912 as of March 31, 2013. Additionally, as of December 31, 2019,
approximately 87.7% of our multi-tenant retail ABR was generated in the top 25 metropolitan statistical areas (MSAs), as determined
by the United States Census Bureau and ranked based on the most recently available population estimates.

We are primarily focused on growing our portfolio organically through (i) accretive leasing activity and (ii) mixed-use expansion
and redevelopment projects. During 2019, we recorded a series of accomplishments in each of these primary areas of focus.

Our 2019 leasing activity was accretive as we signed 498 new and renewal leases across 3,255,000 square feet of GLA for a blended
comparable re-leasing spread of 8.1%, achieving positive comparable cash leasing spreads of 19.7% on signed new leases and
5.3% on signed renewal leases. This 2019 signed leasing activity represents approximately 16% of our portfolio GLA, just shy of
our record high of approximately 17% achieved in 2018. These signings helped us achieve record highs in a number of leasing,
occupancy and ABR statistics as of December 31, 2019, including (i) retail portfolio occupancy of 95.2%, (ii) retail portfolio
percent leased, including leases signed but not commenced, of 96.2%, (iii) retail anchor tenant occupancy of 97.6% and (iv) retail
anchor tenant percent leased, including leases signed but not commenced, of 98.8%, as well as retail portfolio ABR per occupied
square foot of $19.52. During 2019, we also achieved average annual contractual rent increases on signed new leases of
approximately 180 basis points.

Our active and near-term expansion and redevelopment projects consist of approximately $372,000 to $407,000 of expected
investment through 2022, equivalent to approximately 12% of the net book value of our investment properties as of December 31,
2019. These predominantly mixed use-focused projects include the redevelopments at Circle East and phase one at Carillon, the
expansion projects of Pads G & H at One Loudoun Downtown and site and building reconfiguration at The Shoppes at Quarterfield
as well as the vacant pad development at Southlake Town Square. Our current portfolio of assets contains numerous additional
projects in the longer-term pipeline, including, among others, future phases at Carillon, additional pad developments at One
Loudoun Downtown, pad developments and expansions at Main Street Promenade and Downtown Crown, and future projects at
Merrifield Town Center, Tysons Corner, Southlake Town Square, Lakewood Towne Center and One Loudoun Uptown.

During 2019, we invested $29,470 in our expansion and redevelopment projects and recorded several milestones. We placed the
redevelopment of the multi-family rental units at Plaza del Lago, our first multi-family rental redevelopment, in service. At Carillon,
we executed a joint venture agreement for the medical office building component at phase one of the project and completed
demolition work on approximately 290,000 square feet of vacant retail GLA. We also broke ground on Pads G & H at One Loudoun
Downtown. Lastly, we signed our first lease at the Circle East redevelopment with a prominent fast casual restaurant operator.

Competition

In seeking new investment opportunities, we compete with other real estate investors, including other REITs, pension funds,
insurance companies, foreign investors, real estate partnerships, private equity funds, private individuals and other real estate
companies.

From an operational perspective, we compete with other property owners on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to,
location, visibility, quality and aesthetic value of construction, and strength and name recognition of tenants. These factors combine
to determine the level of occupancy and rental rates that we are able to achieve at our properties. Because our revenue potential
is linked to the success of retailers, we indirectly share exposure to the same competitive factors that our retail tenants experience
when trying to attract customers. These factors include other forms of retailing, including e-commerce and direct consumer sales,
and general competition from other shopping centers. To remain competitive, we evaluate all of the factors affecting our centers
and work to position them accordingly. We believe the principal factors that retailers consider in making their leasing decisions
include:

e local consumer demographics;
* quality, design and location of properties;

+ diversity and perceived quality of retailers within individual shopping centers;



* management and operational expertise of the landlord; and
«  rental rates.

Based on these factors, we believe that the size and scope of our property portfolio and operating platform, as well as the overall
quality and attractiveness of our individual properties, enable us to compete effectively for retail tenants. We believe that our
geographically focused strategy enhances our ability to drive revenue growth by more thoroughly understanding the local market
dynamics and by increasing our market relevancy.

Tax Status

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the
Code. To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must meet a number of organizational and operational requirements, including
a requirement that we annually distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard
to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gains. As a REIT, we generally are not subject to U.S. federal income
tax on the taxable income we distribute to our shareholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject
to U.S. federal income tax at the generally applicable corporate tax rate. Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be
subject to certain state and local taxes on our income, property or net worth and U.S. federal income and excise taxes on our
undistributed income. We have one wholly owned consolidated subsidiary that has jointly elected to be treated as a taxable REIT
subsidiary, or TRS, for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A TRS is taxed on its net income at the generally applicable corporate
tax rate. The income tax expense incurred through the TRS has not had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Regulation

General

The properties in our portfolio, including common areas, are subject to various laws, ordinances and regulations.
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)

Our properties must comply with Title III of the ADA to the extent that such properties are “public accommodations” as defined
by the ADA. The ADA may require removal of structural barriers to allow access by persons with disabilities in certain public
areas of our properties where such removal is readily achievable. We believe our existing properties are substantially in compliance
with the ADA and that we will not be required to incur significant capital expenditures to address the requirements of the ADA.
Refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for more information regarding compliance with the ADA.

Environmental Matters

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, as a current or former owner or operator of real property,
we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from the presence or release of hazardous or toxic substances at, on, in, under
or from such property, including costs for investigation, remediation, natural resource damages or third party liability. These laws
often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence or release of
such materials, and the liability may be joint and several.

Independent environmental consultants conducted Phase I Environmental Site Assessments or similar environmental audits for
all of our investment properties. A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment is a written report that identifies existing or potential
environmental conditions associated with a particular property. These environmental site assessments generally involve a review
of records and visual inspection of the property, but do not include soil sampling or ground water analysis. These environmental
site assessments have not revealed, nor are we aware of, any environmental liability that we believe will have a material adverse
effect on our operations. Refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for more information regarding environmental matters.

Insurance

We carry comprehensive liability and property insurance coverage inclusive of fire, extended coverage, earthquakes, terrorism
and loss of income insurance covering all of the properties in our portfolio under a blanket policy. We believe the policy specifications
and insured limits are appropriate given the relative risk of loss, the cost of the coverage and industry practice. We believe that the
properties in our portfolio are adequately insured. Terrorism insurance is carried on all properties in an amount and with deductibles
that we believe are commercially reasonable. Refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for more information. The terrorism insurance is



subject to exclusions for loss or damage caused by nuclear substances, pollutants, contaminants and biological and chemical
weapons. Insurance coverage is not provided for losses attributable to riots or certain acts of God.

Employees
As of December 31, 2019, we had 215 employees.
Access to Company Information

We make available, free of charge, through our website and by responding to requests addressed to our investor relations group,
our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K including exhibits and all
amendments to those reports and proxy statements filed or furnished pursuant to 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. These reports are available as soon as reasonably practical after such material is electronically filed or furnished
to the SEC. Our website address is www.rpai.com. The information contained on our website, or other websites linked to our
website, is not part of this document. Our reports may also be obtained by accessing the EDGAR database at the SEC’s website
at www.sec.gov.

Shareholders wishing to communicate directly with our board of directors or any committee thereof can do so by writing to the
attention of the Board of Directors or applicable committee in care of Retail Properties of America, Inc. at 2021 Spring Road,
Suite 200, Oak Brook, Illinois 60523.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In evaluating our company, careful consideration should be given to the following risk factors, in addition to the other information
included in this annual report. Each of these risk factors could adversely affect our business operating results and/or financial
condition, as well as adversely affect the value of our common stock or unsecured debt. In addition to the following disclosures,
please refer to the other information contained in this report including the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
the related notes.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS AND OUR PROPERTIES

There are inherent risks associated with real estate investments and the real estate industry, any of which could have an adverse
impact on our financial performance and the value of our properties.

Real estate investments are subject to various risks, many of which are beyond our control. Our operating and financial performance
and the value of our properties can be affected by many of these risks, including, but not limited to, the following:

* national, regional and local economies, which may be negatively impacted by inflation, deflation, government deficits,
high unemployment rates, severe weather or other natural disasters, decreased consumer confidence, industry slowdowns,
reduced corporate profits, lack of liquidity and other adverse business conditions;

* local real estate conditions, such as an oversupply of retail space or a reduction in demand for retail space, resulting in
vacancies or compromising our ability to rent space on favorable terms;

» the perception by retailers or customers of the convenience, quality and safety of our properties compared to competing
retail properties and other retailing platforms such as the internet;

« adverse changes in the financial condition of tenants at our properties, including financial difficulties, lease defaults or
bankruptcies;

«  competition for investment opportunities from other real estate investors with significant capital, including other REITs,
real estate operating companies and institutional investment funds;

» theilliquid nature of real estate investments, which may limit our ability to sell properties at the terms desired or at terms
favorable to us;

* fluctuations in interest rates and the availability of financing, which could adversely affect our ability and the ability of
potential buyers and tenants at our properties to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all;

« changes in, and changes in the enforcement of, laws, regulations and governmental policies, including, without limitation,
health, safety, environmental, zoning and tax laws, government fiscal policies and the ADA; and



« civil unrest, acts of war, terrorist attacks and natural disasters, including earthquakes, hurricanes and floods, which may
result in uninsured and underinsured losses.

During a period of economic slowdown or recession, or the public perception that such a period may occur, declining demand for
real estate could result in a general decline in rents and/or an increase in the number of defaults among our existing tenants, and,
consequently, our properties may fail to generate revenues sufficient to meet operating, debt service and other expenses. As a
result, we may have to borrow funds to cover fixed costs and our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected. As such, the per share trading price of our Class A common stock, the market price of our debt securities and
our ability to satisfy our principal and interest obligations and make distributions to our shareholders may be adversely affected.

Our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by poor economic or market conditions where
our properties are located, especially in markets where we have a high concentration of properties.

The economic conditions in markets where our properties are concentrated greatly influence our financial condition and results
of operations. We are particularly susceptible to adverse economic and other developments in such areas, including increased
unemployment, industry slowdowns, corporate layoffs or downsizing, relocations of businesses, decreased consumer confidence,
adverse changes in demographics, increases in real estate and other taxes, increased regulation and natural disasters. As of
December 31, 2019, approximately 83.7% of our GLA and approximately 87.4% of our ABR in our retail operating portfolio was
from 15 of the top 25 MSAs, including amounts attributable to our active redevelopment projects, and we may continue to increase
our concentration in these markets. Notably, approximately 34.1% of our GLA and approximately 34.6% of our ABR in our retail
operating portfolio was located in the state of Texas as of December 31, 2019. In addition, approximately 15.4% of our GLA and
approximately 17.4% of our ABR in our retail operating portfolio, including amounts attributable to our active redevelopment
projects, was located in the Washington, D.C./Baltimore MSAs as of December 31, 2019. Poor economic or market conditions in
markets where our properties are located, including those in Texas and the Washington, D.C./Baltimore MSAs, may adversely
affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

A shift in retail shopping from brick and mortar stores to online shopping may have an adverse impact on our cash flow,
financial condition and results of operations.

Many retailers operating brick and mortar stores have made online sales a vital piece of their business. Although many of the
retailers operating at our properties sell groceries and other necessity-based soft goods or provide services, including entertainment
and dining options, the shift to online shopping may cause declines in brick and mortar sales generated by certain of our tenants
and/or may cause certain of our tenants to reduce the size or number of their retail locations in the future. As a result, our cash
flow, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We may choose not to renew leases or be unable to renew leases, lease vacant space or re-lease space as leases expire. In
addition, rents associated with new or renewed leases may be less than expiring rents or, to facilitate leasing, we may choose
to provide significant lease inducements, rent abatements or incur significant capital expenditures to improve our properties,
which could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Approximately 3.8% of the total GLA in our retail operating portfolio was vacant as of December 31, 2019, excluding leases
signed but not commenced. In addition, as of December 31, 2019, leases accounting for approximately 34.1% of the ABR in our
retail operating portfolio are scheduled to expire within the next three years. We may choose not to renew leases based on various
strategic factors such as operating strength of the occupying tenant, its retail category, merchandising composition of the property,
other leasing opportunities available to us or redevelopment plans for the property. In our efforts to lease space, we compete with
numerous developers, owners and operators of retail properties, many of whom own properties similar to, and in the same sub-
markets as, our properties. As a result, we cannot assure you that leases will be renewed or that current or future vacancies will
be re-leased at rental rates equal to or above the current average rental rates without significant down time, or that substantial lease
inducements, rent abatements, tenant improvements, early termination and co-tenancy rights or below-market renewal options
will not be offered to attract new tenants or retain existing tenants. Additionally, we may incur significant capital expenditures or
accommodate requests for renovations and other improvements to make our properties more attractive to tenants. If we choose
not to or are unable to renew existing leases, lease vacant space or re-lease space as leases expire, or if rents associated with new
or renewed leases are less than expiring rents or we incur significant capital expenditures to improve our properties, our cash flow,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.



Our inability to collect rents from tenants or collect balances due on our leases from any tenants in bankruptcy or experiencing
other significant financial hardship may negatively impact our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Substantially all of our income is derived from rentals of real property. If sales generated by retailers operating at our properties
decline sufficiently or if tenants encounter other significant financial hardships, they may be unable to pay their existing minimum
rents or other charges. Tenants may also decline to extend or renew a lease upon its expiration on terms favorable to us, or at all,
or may even exercise early termination rights to the extent available. If a significant number of our tenants are unable to make
their rental payments to us or otherwise meet their lease obligations, our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations
may be materially and adversely affected. In addition, although minimum rent is generally supported by long-term lease contracts,
tenants who file bankruptcy have the legal right to reject any or all of their leases and close their stores. In the event that a tenant
with a significant number of leases at our properties files bankruptcy and rejects its leases, we could experience a significant
reduction in our revenues and we may not be able to collect all pre-petition amounts owed, which could adversely affect our cash
flow, financial condition and results of operations.

If any of our anchor tenants experience a downturn in their business or terminate their leases, our cash flow, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Anchor tenants occupy a significant amount of the square footage and pay a significant portion of the total rent in our retail operating
portfolio. Specifically, our 20 largest tenants based on ABR, many of which are anchor tenants, represent 35.6% of occupied GLA
and 26.3% of ABR as of December 31, 2019. In addition, anchor tenants and “shadow” anchors, or retailers in or adjacent to our
properties that occupy space we do not own, contribute to the success of other tenants by drawing customers to a property. The
bankruptcy, insolvency or downturn in business of any of our anchor tenants could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition
and results of operations.

If'small shop tenants are not successful and, consequently, terminate their leases, our cash flow, financial condition and results
of operations could be adversely affected.

Small shop tenants, those that occupy less than 10,000 square feet, in our retail operating portfolio represent 32.0% of occupied
GLA, but 48.7% of ABR as of December 31, 2019. Such tenants may have more limited resources than larger tenants and, as a
result, may be more vulnerable to negative economic conditions. If a significant number of our small shop tenants experience
financial difficulties or are unable to remain open, our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Many of the leases at our retail properties contain provisions, which, if triggered, may allow tenants to pay reduced rent, cease
operations or terminate their leases, any of which could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of
operations.

Some anchor tenants have the right to cease operations, vacate their space and continue to pay rent through the end of their lease
term, which inhibits our ability to re-lease the space during that period and would result in lower physical occupancy levels at the
property. Additionally, many of the leases at our retail properties contain provisions that condition a tenant’s obligation to remain
open, the amount of rent payable by the tenant or potentially its obligation to remain in the lease on certain factors, including (i) the
presence and continued operation of a certain anchor tenant or tenants, (ii) minimum occupancy levels at the applicable property
or (iii) the amount of tenant sales. If such a provision is triggered by a failure of any of these or other applicable conditions, a
tenant could have the right to cease operations at the applicable property, have its rent reduced or terminate its lease early. A tenant
ceasing operations as a result of these provisions could cause a decrease in customer traffic and, therefore, decreased sales for
other tenants at that property. To the extent these provisions result in lower revenue, our cash flow, financial condition and results
of operations could be adversely affected.

Our expenses may remain constant or increase, even if income from our properties decreases, causing our cash flow, financial
condition and results of operations to be adversely affected.

Certain costs associated with our business, such as real estate taxes, state and local taxes, insurance, utilities, mortgage payments
and corporate expenses, are relatively inflexible and generally do not decrease when (i) a property’s occupancy decreases, (ii)
rental rates decrease, (iii) a tenant fails to pay rent or (iv) other circumstances cause our revenues to decrease. If we are unable to
reduce our operating costs in response to declines in revenue, our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could
be adversely affected. In addition, inflationary or other price increases could result in increased operating costs and increases in
assessed values or changes in tax rates could result in increased real estate taxes for us and our tenants. The extent to which we



are unable to fully recover such increases in operating expenses and real estate taxes from our tenants, our cash flow, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend on external sources of capital that are outside of our control, which may affect our ability to execute on strategic
opportunities, satisfy our debt obligations and make distributions to our shareholders.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, under the Code, we are generally required to annually distribute to our shareholders
at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital
gains. In addition, as a REIT, we will be subject to income tax at the generally applicable corporate rate to the extent that we
distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, including any net capital gains. Because of these distribution requirements,
we may not be able to fund future capital needs (including, among others, redevelopment and acquisition activities, payments of
principal and interest on our existing debt, tenant improvements and leasing costs) from operating cash flow, and our cash flows
may be insufficient to fund distributions required to maintain our qualification as a REIT as a result of differences in timing between
the actual receipt of income and the recognition of income for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Consequently, we may rely on
third-party sources to fund our capital needs. We may not be able to obtain the necessary capital on favorable terms, in the time
period we desire, or at all. Additional debt we incur may increase our leverage, expose us to the risk of default and impose operating
restrictions on us, and any additional equity we raise could be dilutive to existing shareholders. If we cannot obtain capital from
third-party sources, we may be unable to acquire or redevelop properties when strategic opportunities exist, satisfy our principal
and interest obligations or make cash distributions to our shareholders necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT.

We may be unable to sell a property at the time we desire and on favorable terms or at all, which could limit our ability to access
capital through dispositions and could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Real estate investments generally cannot be sold quickly. Our ability to dispose of properties on advantageous terms depends on
factors beyond our control, including, among others, (i) competition from other sellers, (ii) increases in market capitalization rates
and (iii) the availability of attractive financing for potential buyers of our properties, and we cannot predict the market conditions
affecting real estate investments that will exist at any particular time in the future. As a result of the uncertainty of market conditions,
we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to sell properties at a profit, or at all. In addition, and subject to certain safe
harbor provisions, the Code generally imposes a 100% tax on gain recognized by REITs upon the disposition of assets if the assets
are held primarily for sale in the ordinary course of business rather than for investment, which may cause us to forego or defer
sales of properties that otherwise would be attractive from a pre-tax perspective. Accordingly, our ability to access capital through
dispositions may be limited, which could limit our ability to fund future capital needs.

We may be unable to complete acquisitions, and even if acquisitions are completed, our operating results at acquired properties
may not meet our financial expectations.

We continue to evaluate the market of available properties and expect to continue to acquire properties when we believe strategic
opportunities exist. Our ability to acquire properties on favorable terms or at all and successfully operate or develop them is subject
to the following risks:

* we may be unable to acquire a desired property because of competition from other real estate investors with substantial
capital, including other REITSs, real estate operating companies and institutional investment funds;

* even if we are able to acquire a desired property, competition from other potential investors may significantly increase
the purchase price;

* we may incur significant costs and divert management’s attention in connection with the evaluation and negotiation of
potential acquisitions, including ones that are subsequently not completed;

* we may be unable to finance acquisitions on favorable terms and in the time period we desire, or at all;

+ we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate newly acquired properties, particularly the acquisition of portfolios
of properties, into our existing operations;

* we may acquire properties that are not initially accretive to our results, and we may not successfully manage and lease

those properties to meet our expectations; and

* we may acquire properties that are subject to liabilities with limited or no recourse to former owners with respect to
unknown liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination, claims by tenants or other persons to former
owners of the properties and claims for indemnification by general partners, directors, officers and others indemnified
by the former owners of the properties.



If we are unable to acquire properties on favorable terms, obtain financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms, or operate
acquired properties to meet our financial expectations, our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority.

As of December 31, 2019, we had entered into three joint ventures in connection with two of our expansion and redevelopment
projects, One Loudoun Downtown and Carillon, and we may enter into additional joint venture arrangements in the future. Our
existing joint ventures and any additional joint venture arrangements in which we may engage in the future are, or could be, subject
to various risks, including the following:

» lack of exclusive control over the joint venture, which may prevent us from taking actions that are in our best interest;

» future capital constraints of our partners or failure of our partners to fund their share of required capital contributions,
which may require us to contribute more capital than we anticipated to fund the developments and/or cover the joint
venture’s liabilities;

* actions by our partners that could jeopardize our REIT status, require us to pay taxes or subject the properties owned by
the joint venture to liabilities greater than those contemplated by the terms of the joint venture agreements;

*  disputes between us and our partners may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent
our officers and/or directors from focusing their time and effort on our business;

* joint venture agreements may require prior consent of our joint venture partners for a sale or transfer to a third party of
our interest in the joint venture, which would restrict our ability to dispose of our interest in such a joint venture; and

e joint venture agreements may contain buy-sell provisions pursuant to which one partner may initiate procedures requiring
us to buy the other partner’s interest.

If any of the foregoing were to occur, our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Development, redevelopment, expansions and pad development activities have inherent risks that could adversely impact our
cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

As of December 31, 2019, we had three active expansion and redevelopment projects, Circle East, One Loudoun Downtown and
Carillon. We have invested a total of approximately $42,000 in these projects, which is net of proceeds of $11,820 from the sale
of air rights at Circle East and net of contributions from our joint venture partners at One Loudoun Downtown and Carillon. These
projects are at various stages of completion, and based on our current plans and estimates, we anticipate that it will require
approximately $319,000 to $352,000 of additional investment from us to complete these projects. We anticipate engaging in
additional development, redevelopment, expansion and pad development of commercial retail space and residential units in the
future. In addition to the risks associated with real estate investments in general as described elsewhere herein, the risks associated
with future development, redevelopment, expansions and pad development activities include the following:

» expenditure of capital and time on projects that may never be completed;

+ failure or inability to obtain financing on favorable terms or at all;

* inability to secure necessary zoning or regulatory approvals;

*  higher than estimated construction or operating costs, including labor and material costs;

* inability to complete construction on schedule due to a number of factors, including (i) inclement weather, (ii) labor
disruptions, (iii) construction delays, (iv) delays or failure to receive zoning or other regulatory approvals, (v) acts of
terror or other acts of violence, or (vi) acts of God (such as fires, earthquakes, hurricanes or floods);

* significant time lag between commencement and stabilization resulting in delayed returns and greater risks due to
fluctuations in the general economy, shifts in demographics and competition;

*  decrease in customer traffic during the redevelopment period causing a decrease in tenant sales;

* inability to secure key anchor or other tenants for commercial retail projects or complete the lease-up of residential units
at anticipated absorption rates or at all;

* occupancy and rental rates at a newly completed project may not meet expectations;



* lossofdeposits or failure to recover expenses already incurred in connection with development opportunities we ultimately
determine not to pursue; and

* suspension of development projects after construction has begun due to changes in economic conditions or other factors
that may result in the write-off of costs, payment of additional costs or increases in overall costs if and when the project
is restarted.

If any of the above events were to occur, the development, redevelopment, expansion or pad development of the properties could
hinder our growth and have an adverse effect on our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, new
development and significant redevelopment activities, regardless of whether they are ultimately successful, typically require
substantial time and attention from management.

Investment returns from our developed and redeveloped properties may be less than anticipated.
Our developed and redeveloped properties may be exposed to the following risks, among others:

* we may lease properties at rental rates that are less than the rates projected at the time we decide to undertake the project;

* operating expenses and construction costs may be greater than projected at the start of the project, resulting in our
investment being less profitable than we expected; and

e  occupancy rates and rents at newly developed and redeveloped properties may fluctuate depending on a number of factors,
including market and economic conditions, and may result in our investments being less profitable than we expected or
not profitable at all.

We are subject to litigation that could negatively impact our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

From time to time, we are a defendant in lawsuits and regulatory proceedings relating to our business. Due to the inherent
uncertainties of litigation and regulatory proceedings, we may not be able to accurately predict the ultimate outcome of any such
litigation or proceedings. A significant unfavorable outcome could negatively impact our cash flow, financial condition and results
of operations.

If we are found to be in breach of a ground lease at one of our properties or are unable to renew a ground lease, we could be
materially and adversely affected.

As of December 31, 2019, we have six properties in our portfolio that are either completely or partially on land that is owned by
third parties and leased to us pursuant to ground leases. Accordingly, we only own a long-term leasehold or similar interest in those
properties. If we are found to be in breach of a ground lease and that breach cannot be cured, we could lose our interest in the
improvements and the right to operate the property. In addition, unless we can purchase a fee interest in the underlying land or
extend the terms of these leases before or at their expiration, as to which no assurance can be given, we will lose our interest in
the improvements and the right to operate these properties. Assuming we exercise all available options to extend the terms of our
ground leases, all of our ground leases will expire between 2050 and 2115. However, in certain cases, our ability to exercise such
options is subject to the condition that we are not in default under the terms of the ground lease at the time we exercise such options,
and we can provide no assurances that we will be able to exercise our options at such time. If we were to lose the right to operate
a property due to a breach or non-renewal of the ground lease, we would be unable to derive income from such property, which
could materially and adversely affect us.

Uninsured losses or losses in excess of insurance coverage could materially and adversely affect our cash flow, financial
condition and results of operations.

Each tenant is responsible for insuring its goods and demised premises and, in most circumstances, is required to reimburse us for
its share of the cost of acquiring comprehensive insurance for the property, including casualty, liability, fire and extended coverage
customarily obtained for similar properties in amounts which have been determined as sufficient to cover reasonably foreseeable
losses. Tenants with net leases typically are required to pay all insurance costs associated with their space. However, material
losses may occur in excess of insurance proceeds with respect to any property and, specific to net leases, tenants may fail to obtain
adequate insurance. Additionally, losses of a catastrophic nature including loss due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes, floods,
hurricanes, wind, other natural disasters, pollution or environmental matters may be considered uninsurable or not economically
insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments. In the instance of a loss that is uninsured
or that exceeds policy limits, a significant portion of the capital invested in the damaged property could be lost, as well as the
anticipated future revenue of the property, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of



operations. A variety of factors, including, among others, changes in building codes and ordinances and environmental
considerations, might also make it impractical or undesirable to use insurance proceeds to replace a property after it has been
damaged or destroyed. Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain adequate insurance coverage at reasonable costs in the future, as
the costs associated with property and casualty renewals may be higher than anticipated.

A number of our properties are located in areas which are susceptible to, and could be significantly affected by, natural disasters
that could cause significant damage. For example, many of our properties are located in coastal regions and would, therefore, be
affected by any future increases in sea levels or in the frequency or severity of hurricanes and tropical storms to the extent they
are located in impacted areas. In addition, some of our properties are located in regions that are especially susceptible to earthquakes.

The occurrence of terrorist acts could significantly increase the premiums paid for terrorism insurance coverage. Further, in some
cases, mortgage lenders insist that specific coverage against terrorism be purchased by commercial property owners as a condition
for providing mortgage loans. It is uncertain whether such insurance policies will be available, or available at reasonable costs,
which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our properties. In such instances, we may be required to provide other
financial support, either through financial assurances or self-insurance, to cover potential losses. We cannot provide assurance that
we will have adequate coverage for such losses and, to the extent we are required to pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance,
our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We may incur significant costs complying with the ADA and similar laws, which could adversely affect our cash flow, financial
condition and results of operations.

Under the ADA, all public accommodations must meet federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. Although
we believe the properties in our portfolio substantially comply with the present requirements of the ADA, we have not conducted
an audit or investigation of all of our properties to determine our compliance, nor can we be assured that requirements will not
change. The obligation to make readily achievable accommodations is an ongoing one, and we will continue to assess our properties
and make alterations as appropriate in this respect. If one or more of the properties in our portfolio is not in compliance with the
ADA, we would be required to incur costs to bring the property into compliance and it could result in the imposition of fines or
an award of damages to private litigants. Additional federal, state and local laws may also require modifications to our properties
or restrict our ability to renovate our properties. We cannot predict the ultimate cost of compliance with the ADA or other legislation.
If we incur substantial costs to comply with the ADA and any other legislation, our cash flow, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

We may become liable with respect to contaminated property or incur costs to comply with environmental laws, which could
negatively impact our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, as a current or former owner or operator of real property,
we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from the presence or release of hazardous or toxic substances at, on, in, under
or from such property, including costs for investigation, disposal, remediation, natural resource damages or third party liability.
These laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence
or release of such materials, and the liability may be joint and several. In addition, the presence of contamination or the failure to
remediate contamination at our properties may adversely affect our ability to sell, redevelop, or lease such property or borrow
funds using the property as collateral. While we complete environmental site assessments described in Item 1. “Business —
Environmental Matters” at our investment properties, these assessments have a limited scope and may not reveal all potential
environmental liabilities. As a result, (i) we may not be aware of all potential environmental liabilities, (ii) a previous owner or
tenant may have created a material environmental condition not known to us, (iii) our properties may be affected by tenants or
nearby properties or other unrelated third parties, and (iv) future uses or conditions, or changes in environmental laws and regulations
may result in material environmental liabilities to us. To the extent we incur costs or liabilities as a result of environmental issues,
our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We could experience a decline in the fair value of our assets, which could materially and adversely impact our results of
operations.

A decline in the fair value of our assets could require us to recognize an impairment charge on such assets under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) if we were to determine that we do not have the ability and intent to
hold such assets for a period of time sufficient to allow for recovery to the asset’s carrying value. If such a determination were to
be made, we would recognize an impairment charge through earnings and write down the carrying value of such assets to a new
cost basis based on the fair value of such assets on the date they are considered to not be recoverable. For the years ended
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December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we recognized aggregate impairment charges related to investment properties of $12,298,
$2,079 and $67,003, respectively. We may be required to recognize additional asset impairment charges in the future.

We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise, as well as other significant
disruptions of our information technology (IT) networks and related systems.

We face risks associated with security breaches, whether through (i) cyber attacks or cyber intrusions, (ii) malware or ransomware,
(iii) computer viruses, (iv) people with access or who gain access to our systems, and (v) other significant disruptions of our
IT networks and related systems. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber attack or cyber intrusion,
including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and
sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. Our IT networks and related systems are
essential to the operation of our business and our ability to perform day-to-day operations. Although we make efforts to maintain
the security and integrity of our IT networks and related systems, and we have implemented various measures to manage the risk
of'a security breach or disruption, there can be no assurance that our security efforts and measures will be effective or that attempted
security breaches or disruptions would not be successful or damaging. A security breach or other significant disruption involving
our IT networks and related systems could significantly disrupt the proper functioning of our networks and systems and, as a result,
disrupt our operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed.

We depend on the efforts and expertise of our senior management team to manage our day-to-day operations and strategic business
direction. While we have retention agreements with the members of our executive management team that provide for certain
payments in the event of a change in control or termination without cause, we do not have employment agreements with the
members of our executive management team. Therefore, we cannot guarantee their continued service. The loss of their services
and our inability to find suitable replacements could have an adverse effect on our operations.

Corporate responsibility, specifically related to environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors, may impose additional
costs and expose us to new risks.

We are focused on corporate responsibility, specifically related to environmental, social and governance factors. In addition, some
investors may use these factors to guide their investment strategies, and potential and current employees, vendors and business
partners may consider these factors when extending and establishing relationships with us. Third-party providers of corporate
responsibility ratings and reports on companies have increased to meet growing investor demand for measurements of corporate
responsibility performance. We are focused on being a responsible corporate citizen and provide disclosure regarding our existing
ESG programs on our ESG microsite at www.rpaiesg.com; however, we have not completed a formal third-party assessment. We
may face reputational damage in the event our corporate responsibility initiatives do not meet the standards set by various
constituencies. Furthermore, should peer companies outperform us in such metrics, potential or current investors may elect to
invest with our competitors instead and employees, vendors and business partners may choose not to do business with us. The
occurrence of any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock and our cash flow,
financial condition and results of operations, including increased capital expenditures and/or operating expenses.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR DEBT FINANCING

We are generally subject to the risks associated with debt financing and our debt service obligations could adversely affect our
financial health and operating flexibility.

Required principal and interest payments on our indebtedness reduce funds available for general business purposes and distributions
to our shareholders. Our existing debt financing and debt service obligations also increase our vulnerability to general adverse
economic and industry conditions, including increases in interest rates. In addition, as our existing debt comes due, we may be
unable to refinance it on favorable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of
operations.

Credit ratings may not reflect all the risks of an investment in our debt.

Our credit ratings are an assessment by rating agencies of our ability to pay our debts when due. Consequently, real or anticipated
changes in our credit ratings will generally affect the market value of our publicly traded debt and our ability to access the public
debt markets. Credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by a rating agency at its sole discretion. We do not undertake
any obligation to maintain our ratings or advise our debt holders of any change in our ratings. There can be no assurance that we
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will be able to maintain our current credit ratings. Adverse changes in our credit ratings could impact our ability to obtain additional
debt and equity financing on favorable terms, or at all, and could significantly reduce the market price of our publicly traded debt.

Our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by financial and other covenants and
provisions under the unsecured credit agreement governing our Unsecured Credit Facility or our other debt agreements.

Our Unsecured Credit Facility, which is comprised of our unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured term loan, is governed
by our unsecured credit agreement (the Unsecured Credit Agreement). Our other debt agreements include, but are not limited to,
the Indenture, as supplemented, governing our Notes Due 2025 (the Indenture), the note purchase agreements governing our Notes
Due 2021, 2024, 2026, 2028 and 2029 (the Note Purchase Agreements) and the credit agreements governing our Term Loans Due
2023,2024 and 2026 (the Term Loan Agreements). The Unsecured Credit Agreement, the Indenture, the Note Purchase Agreements,
the Term Loan Agreements and any future debt agreements require, or may require, compliance with certain financial and operating
covenants, including, among others, the requirement to maintain maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage
ratios, minimum interest, fixed charge, debt service and unencumbered interest coverage ratios, a minimum ratio of assets to
unsecured debt and a minimum consolidated net worth. They also contain or may contain customary events of default, including
defaults on any of our recourse indebtedness in excess of $50,000. The provisions of these agreements could limit our ability to
obtain additional funds needed to address cash shortfalls or pursue growth opportunities or other accretive transactions.

In addition, our senior unsecured debt obligations, including our Unsecured Credit Facility, Notes Due 2021, 2024, 2025, 2026,
2028 and 2029 and Term Loans Due 2023, 2024 and 2026, are pari passu in priority of payment. Therefore, a breach of these
covenants or other events of default would allow the lenders to require us to accelerate payment of amounts outstanding under
one or all of these agreements. If payment is accelerated, our liquid assets may not be sufficient to repay such debt in full and, as
a result, such an event could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Given the restrictions in our debt covenants, we may be limited in our operating and financial flexibility and in our ability to
respond to changes in our business or pursue strategic opportunities in the future.

Increases in interest rates would cause our borrowing costs to rise and may limit our ability to refinance debt.

Although a significant amount of our outstanding debt has fixed interest rates, we also borrow funds at variable interest rates. As
of December 31,2019, we had $18,000 of unhedged London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)-based variable rate debt outstanding.
Increases in interest rates would increase our interest expense on any outstanding unhedged variable rate debt and would affect
the terms under which we refinance our existing debt as it matures, which would adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition
and results of operations.

We may be adversely affected by the discontinuation of LIBOR.

In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority in the U.K., which regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to stop compelling
banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. It is expected that a transition away from the widespread use of
LIBOR to alternative interest rates will occur over the course of the next few years. As of December 31, 2019, we had $738,000
of debt that was indexed to LIBOR, including our unsecured credit facility term loan due 2021, unsecured credit facility revolving
line of credit, Term Loan Due 2023, Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due 2026, as well as interest rate swap agreements that
hedge the variable cash flows associated with variable rate debt with an aggregate notional amount of $720,000. Of the total
$738,000 of debt and $720,000 notional swap amount that is indexed to LIBOR, $488,000 and $470,000, respectively, mature
after 2021.

When LIBOR is discontinued, the interest rate for our debt that is indexed to LIBOR will be based on a replacement rate or an
alternate base rate as specified in the applicable documentation governing such debt or as otherwise agreed upon. Such an event
would not affect our ability to borrow or maintain already outstanding borrowings, but the replacement rate or alternate base rate
could be higher or more volatile than LIBOR prior to its discontinuation. In addition, we expect that amendments will be made to
our interest rate swap agreements that will result in the LIBOR-based swap rate reverting, upon the occurrence of such events, to
the same rate that would be expected to be used as the replacement rate or alternate base rate under the related debt agreements.
The full impact of the expected transition away from LIBOR and the discontinuation of LIBOR after 2021 is not known, but these
changes could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may choose to retire debt prior to its stated maturity date and incur debt prepayment costs as a result, some of which could
be significant.

At times, management has chosen to retire debt prior to its stated maturity date, and in doing so, we have incurred prepayment or
defeasance premiums in accordance with the relevant loan agreements. If we choose to retire debt prior to its stated maturity date
in the future, we may incur significant debt prepayment costs or defeasance premiums, which could have an adverse effect on our
cash flow and results of operations.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
Our board of directors may change significant corporate policies without shareholder approval.

Our investment, financing and distribution policies are determined by our board of directors. These policies may be amended or
revised at any time at the discretion of the board of directors without a vote of our shareholders. As a result, the ability of our
shareholders to control our policies and practices is extremely limited. We could make investments and engage in business activities
that are different from, and possibly riskier than, the investments and businesses described in this report. In addition, our board of
directors may change our policies with respect to conflicts of interest provided that such changes are consistent with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements, including the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). A change in these
policies could have an adverse effect on our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

We could increase the number of authorized shares of stock and issue stock without shareholder approval.

Subject to applicable legal and regulatory requirements, our charter authorizes our board of directors, without shareholder approval,
to (i) increase the aggregate number of authorized shares of stock or the number of authorized shares of stock of any class or series,
(i1) issue authorized but unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock, (iii) classify or reclassify any unissued shares of
our common stock or preferred stock and (iv) set the preferences, rights and other terms of such classified or unclassified shares.
As a result, we may issue series or classes of common stock or preferred stock with preferences, dividends, powers and rights,
voting or otherwise, that are senior to, or otherwise conflict with, the rights of holders of our common stock. In addition, our board
of directors could establish a series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of such series, delay, defer or prevent a
transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for our common stock or that our shareholders may believe
is in their best interests.

Certain provisions of our charter may limit the ability of a third party to acquire control of our company.

Our charter provides that no person may beneficially own more than 9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is more
restrictive, of our outstanding common stock or 9.8% in value of the aggregate outstanding shares of our capital stock. While these
charter provisions help ensure we maintain our REIT status, these ownership limitations may prevent an acquisition of control of
our company by a third party without our board of directors’ approval, even if our shareholders believe the change in control is in
their best interests.

Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes of control, which could lower the value of our Class A common stock.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, or MGCL, may have the effect of inhibiting or deterring a third
party from making a proposal to acquire us or of impeding a change in control under circumstances that otherwise could provide
our common shareholders with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares, including:

*  “business combination” provisions that, subject to limitations, prohibit certain business combinations between us and an
“interested shareholder” (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our
shares or an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was
the beneficial owner of 10% or more of our then outstanding voting shares) or an affiliate of an interested shareholder
for five years after the most recent date on which the shareholder becomes an interested shareholder, and thereafter, may
impose special shareholder voting requirements unless certain minimum price conditions are satisfied; and

*  “control share” provisions that provide that “control shares” of our company (defined as shares which, when aggregated
with other shares controlled by the shareholder, entitle the shareholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges of voting
power in electing directors) acquired in a “control share acquisition” (defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of
ownership or control of outstanding “control shares”) have no voting rights except to the extent approved by our
shareholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all
interested shares.
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As permitted by the MGCL, our board of directors has adopted a resolution exempting any business combinations between us and
any other person or entity from the business combination provisions of the MGCL. Our bylaws provide that such resolution or
any other resolution of our board of directors exempting any business combination from the business combination provisions of
the MGCL may only be revoked, altered or amended, and our board of directors may only adopt a resolution that is inconsistent
with any such prior resolution (including any amendment to that bylaw provision), which we refer to as an opt-in to the business
combination provisions, with the approval of stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all votes cast by the holders of the issued
and outstanding shares of our common stock. In addition, as permitted by the MGCL, our bylaws contain a provision exempting
from the control share acquisition provisions of the MGCL any acquisition by any person of shares of our stock. This bylaw
provision may be amended, which we refer to as an opt-in to the control share acquisition provisions, only with the affirmative
vote of a majority of the votes cast on such matter by holders of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock.

Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL permits our board of directors, without shareholder approval and regardless of what is currently
provided in our charter or bylaws, to implement certain takeover defenses, including adopting a classified board. Such takeover
defenses may have the effect of inhibiting a third party from making an acquisition proposal for us or of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change in control of us under the circumstances that otherwise could provide our common shareholders with the
opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price.

In addition, the provisions of our charter on removal of directors and the advance notice provisions of our bylaws, among others,
could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control of our company that might involve a premium price for holders
of our common stock or that our shareholders may believe to be in their best interests. Likewise, if our company’s board of directors
were to opt-in to the provisions of Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL, or if our board of directors were to opt-in to the business
combination provisions or the control share acquisition provisions of the MGCL, with shareholder approval, these provisions could
have similar anti-takeover effects.

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited, which could limit
shareholder recourse in the event of actions that our shareholders do not believe are in their best interests.

Maryland law provides that a director or officer has no liability in that capacity if he or she satisfies his or her duties to us and our
shareholders. As permitted by the MGCL, our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our shareholders
for monetary damages, except for liability resulting from the following:

» actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

+ a final judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was material to
the cause of action adjudicated.

In addition, our charter and bylaws and indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and certain of our
officers require us to indemnify our directors and officers, among others, for actions taken by them in those capacities to the
maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. As a result, we and our shareholders may have more limited rights against our
directors and officers than might otherwise exist. Accordingly, in the event that actions taken in good faith by any of our directors
or officers impede the performance of our company, the ability of our shareholders to recover damages from such director or officer
will be limited. In addition, we will be obligated to advance the defense costs incurred by our directors and officers who have
indemnification agreements, and may, at the discretion of our board of directors, advance the defense costs incurred by our
employees and other agents in connection with legal proceedings.

Our charter contains provisions that make removal of our directors difficult, which could make it difficult for our shareholders
to effect changes to our management.

Our charter provides that a director may only be removed for cause upon the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the votes
entitled to be cast in the election of directors. Vacancies may be filled only by a majority vote of the remaining directors in office,
even if less than a quorum. These requirements make it more difficult to change our management by removing and replacing
directors and may prevent a change in control that is in the best interests of our shareholders.
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR REIT STATUS

Failure to qualify as a REIT would cause us to be taxed as a regular corporation and, even if we qualify as a REIT, we may
face other tax liabilities which could substantially reduce funds available for distribution to our shareholders and materially
and adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

We believe that we have been organized, owned and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation
as a REIT under the Code beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2003, and that our intended manner of ownership
and operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. However, we cannot assure you that we have qualified or will qualify as such.

Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code as to which there are only
limited judicial and administrative interpretations and involves the determination of facts and circumstances not entirely within
our control. For example, to qualify as a REIT, we generally are required to annually distribute to our shareholders at least 90%
of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gains. To the
extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our taxable income, we will be subject to U.S.
federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will face serious tax consequences that will substantially reduce the funds
available for distributions to our shareholders because of the following:

* we would not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in computing our taxable income and would be
subject to U.S. federal income tax at the generally applicable corporate rate;

* we could be subject to increased state and local taxes; and

e unless we are entitled to relief under certain U.S. federal income tax laws, we could not re-elect REIT status until the
fifth calendar year after the year in which we failed to qualify as a REIT.

In addition, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, it could result in default under certain of our indebtedness agreements. As a result of
all of these factors, our failure to qualify as a REIT could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could negatively impact our cash flow, financial condition
and results of operations.

At any time, the U.S. federal income tax laws governing REITs or the administrative interpretation of those laws (or other laws
affecting our business) may be amended. We cannot predict if or when any new or amended U.S. federal income tax law, regulation
or administrative interpretation (or any repeal thereof) will become effective, and any such law, regulation, interpretation or repeal
may take effect retroactively. Any such changes could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for reduced tax rates.

Certain qualified dividends paid by corporations to individuals, trusts and estates that are U.S. shareholders are taxed at capital
gain rates, which are lower than ordinary income rates. Dividends of current and accumulated earnings and profits payable by
REITs, however, are generally taxed at ordinary income rates as opposed to the capital gain rates (provided that for taxable years
2018 to 2025, non-corporate taxpayers generally may deduct up to 20% of their ordinary REIT dividends, subject to certain
limitations). Dividends payable by REITs in excess of these earnings and profits generally are treated as a non-taxable reduction
of the shareholders’ basis in the shares to the extent thereof and thereafter as taxable gain. The more favorable rates applicable to
regular corporate dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs, including
us, to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stock of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends. In addition, non-
REIT corporations may begin to pay dividends or increase dividends as a result of the lower corporate income tax rate that went
into effect in 2018. As a result, the trading price of our Class A common stock may be negatively impacted.

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities or liquidate otherwise attractive
investments.

To qualify as a REIT, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, (i) the sources of our income, (ii) the nature
and diversification of our assets, (iii) the amounts we distribute to our shareholders, (iv) the number of or aggregate value of
dispositions completed annually and (v) the ownership of our capital stock. In order to meet these tests, we may be required to
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forego investments we might otherwise make and refrain from engaging in certain activities. Thus, compliance with the REIT
requirements may hinder our performance.

In addition, if we fail to comply with certain asset ownership tests at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure
within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT
qualification. As a result, we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

If a transaction intended to qualify as an Internal Revenue Code Section 1031 tax-deferred exchange (1031 Exchange) is later
determined to be taxable, we may face adverse consequences, and if the laws applicable to such transactions are amended or
repealed, we may be unable to dispose of properties on a tax-deferred basis.

From time to time, we may dispose of properties in transactions that are intended to qualify as 1031 Exchanges. It is possible that
the qualification of a transaction as a 1031 Exchange could be successfully challenged and determined to be currently taxable. In
such case, our taxable income and earnings and profits would increase, which could increase the ordinary dividend income to our
stockholders. In some circumstances, we may be required to pay additional dividends or, in lieu of that, corporate income tax,
possibly including interest and penalties. As a result, we may be required to borrow funds in order to pay additional dividends or
taxes, and the payment of such taxes could cause us to have less cash available to distribute to our stockholders. In addition, if a
1031 Exchange was later determined to be taxable, we may be required to amend our tax returns for the applicable year in question,
including any information reports we sent our stockholders. Moreover, it is possible that legislation could be enacted that could
modify or repeal the laws with respect to 1031 Exchanges, which could make it more difficult or impossible for us to dispose of
properties on a tax-deferred basis.

Shareholders may be restricted from acquiring or transferring certain amounts of our stock.

In order to maintain our REIT qualification, among other requirements, no more than 50% in value of our outstanding stock may
be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code to include certain kinds of entities, during the
last half of any taxable year other than the first year for which we made a REIT election. To assist us in qualifying as a REIT, our
charter contains an aggregate stock ownership limit of 9.8% and a common stock ownership limit of 9.8%. Generally, shareholders
must include stock of affiliates for purposes of determining whether they own stock in excess of any of these ownership limits.

If anyone attempts to transfer or own shares of our stock in a way that would violate the aggregate stock ownership limit or the
common stock ownership limit, unless such ownership limits have been waived by our board of directors, or in a way that would
prevent us from continuing to qualify as a REIT, those shares instead will be transferred to a trust for the benefit of a charitable
beneficiary and will either be redeemed by us or sold to a person whose ownership of the shares will not violate the aggregate
stock ownership limit or the common stock ownership limit. Purported transferees generally bear any decline in the market price
of such stock held in such trust but do not benefit from any increase. If this transfer to a trust fails to prevent such a violation or
our disqualification as a REIT, then the initial intended transfer or ownership will be null and void from the outset.

The ability of our board of directors to revoke our REIT qualification without shareholder approval may cause adverse
consequences to our shareholders.

Our charter provides that our board of directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without the approval of our
shareholders, if it determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify as a REIT. If we cease to be a REIT, we
will not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in computing our taxable income and we will be subject to U.S.
federal income tax at the generally applicable corporate rate as well as state and local taxes, which may have adverse consequences
on our total return to our shareholders.

GENERAL INVESTMENT RISKS
The market prices and trading volume of our debt and equity securities may be volatile.

The market prices of our debt and equity securities depend on various factors that may be unrelated to our operating performance
or prospects. We cannot assure you that the market prices of our debt and equity securities, including our Class A common stock,
will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future.

Anumber of factors could negatively affect, or result in fluctuations in, the prices or trading volume of our debt and equity securities,
including:

» actual or anticipated changes in our operating results and changes in expectations of future financial performance;
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e our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;

*  our strategic decisions, such as acquisitions, dispositions, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in
business strategy;

» adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we incur in the future;
*  equity issuances or buybacks by us or the perception that such issuances or buybacks may occur;

* increases in market interest rates or decreases in our distributions to shareholders that lead purchasers of our shares to
demand a higher yield;

* changes in market valuations of similar companies;
+ changes in real estate valuations;
+ additions or departures of key management personnel;

« changes in the real estate industry, including increased competition due to shopping center supply growth, and in the retail
industry, including growth in e-commerce, catalog companies and direct consumer sales;

*  publication of research reports about us or our industry by securities analysts;

* speculation in the press or investment community;

*  passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us, our tax status, or our industry;
»  changes in accounting principles;

*  our failure to satisfy the listing requirements of the NYSE;

« our failure to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

*  our failure to qualify as a REIT; and

»  general market conditions, including factors unrelated to our performance.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the price
of their common stock. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources,
which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the value of our publicly traded debt and equity securities.

One of the factors that may influence the prices of our publicly traded debt and equity securities is the interest rate on our publicly
traded debt and the dividend yield on our common stock relative to market interest rates. If market interest rates, which are currently
at low levels relative to historical rates, rise, our borrowing costs could rise and result in less funds being available for distribution.
Therefore, we may not be able to, or we may choose not to, provide a higher distribution rate on our common stock. In addition,
fluctuations in interest rates could adversely affect the market value of our properties. These factors could result in a decline in
the market prices of our publicly traded debt and equity securities.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would be senior to our common stock, would dilute the interests of our existing
shareholders and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

We currently have $800,000 of unsecured notes outstanding and in the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources
by making additional offerings of debt or equity securities, including senior or subordinated notes and classes of preferred or
common stock. Holders of debt securities or shares of preferred stock will generally be entitled to receive interest payments or
distributions, both current and in connection with any liquidation or sale, prior to the holders of our common stock. Furthermore,
offerings of common stock or other equity securities may dilute the holdings of our existing shareholders. We are not required to
offer any such equity securities to existing shareholders on a preemptive basis, and future offerings of debt or equity securities, or
perceptions that such offerings may occur, may reduce the market price of our common stock or the distributions that we pay with
respect to our common stock. Because we may generally issue any such debt or equity securities in the future without obtaining
the consent of our shareholders, our shareholders bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our common
stock and diluting their proportionate ownership.
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Our ability to pay dividends is limited by the requirements of Maryland law.

Our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is limited by the laws of the State of Maryland. Under applicable Maryland
law, a Maryland corporation generally may not make a distribution if, after giving effect to the distribution, the corporation would
not be able to pay its debts as they become due in the normal course of business, or the corporation’s total assets would be less
than the sum of its total liabilities plus, unless the corporation’s charter provides otherwise, the amount that would be needed if
the corporation were dissolved at the time of the distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of shareholders
whose preferential rights are superior to those receiving the distribution. Accordingly, we generally may not make a distribution
on our common stock if, after giving effect to the distribution, we would not be able to pay our debts as they become due in the
normal course of business or our total assets would be less than the sum of our total liabilities plus, unless the terms of such class
or series provide otherwise, the amount that would be needed to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of the holders of
shares of any class or series of preferred stock then outstanding, if any, with preferences senior to those of our common stock.

Our common stock dividend policy may change in the future.

The timing, amount and composition of any future dividends to our common shareholders will be at the sole discretion of our
board of directors and will depend upon a variety of factors as to which no assurance can be given. Our ability to pay dividends
to our common shareholders depends, in part, on our operating results, overall financial condition, capital requirements, access to
capital and the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code. Any change in our dividend policy could
have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

Changes in accounting standards may adversely impact our financial results.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) periodically issues new guidance that can impact how we account for
transactions. As new standards are issued, we work to understand any changes; however, we are unable to predict the full impact
new accounting standards not yet adopted or future standards could have on the presentation of our consolidated financial statements,
results of operations and financial ratios required by our debt covenants.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table sets forth summary information regarding our retail operating portfolio as of December 31, 2019. Square feet
of GLA is presented in thousands. This information is grouped into divisions based on the manner in which we have structured
our asset management, property management and leasing operations. For additional property details on our operating portfolio,
see “Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation (Schedule I1T)” herein.

ABR per
Number of % of Total Occupied % of Total  Occupancy
Division Properties ABR ABR Sq. Ft. GLA GLA (a)

Eastern Division

Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Massachusetts, 41 $§ 155878 42.0% $ 20.05 8,139 40.8% 95.5%
Michigan, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina,
Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Virginia

Western Division

Arizona, California, Illinois, Missouri, Texas,
Washington 63 215,257 58.0% 19.15 11,833 59.2% 95.0%

Total retail operating portfolio (b) 104 $ 371,135 100.0% $ 19.52 19,972 100.0% 95.2%

(a) Calculated as the percentage of economically occupied GLA as of December 31, 2019. Including leases signed but not commenced, our
retail operating portfolio was 96.2% leased as of December 31, 2019.

(b) Excludes (i) our active expansion and redevelopment projects at Circle East, One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H and Carillon, and (ii)
the multi-family rental units at Plaza del Lago, which were placed in service during the three months ended September 30, 2019.

18



The following table sets forth information regarding the 20 largest tenants in our retail operating portfolio based on ABR as of
December 31, 2019. Square feet of GLA is presented in thousands.

ABR per % of
Number % of Occupied Occupied Occupied
Tenant Primary DBA/Number of Stores of Stores ABR Total ABR Sq. Ft. GLA GLA
Best Buy Co., Inc. Best Buy (11), Pacific Sales (1) 12 8 8,857 24% $ 18.04 491 2.6%
The TJX Companies, Inc. T.J. Maxx (11), Marshalls (7), 25 7,967 2.1% 10.82 736 3.9%
HomeGoods (6), Homesense (1)
AB Acquisition LLC Safeway (4), Jewel-Osco (3), Tom 9 6,674 1.8% 13.73 486 2.5%
Thumb (2)
Bed Bath & Beyond Inc. Bed Bath & Beyond (12), Cost Plus 17 6,344 1.7% 14.04 452 2.4%
World Market (3), buybuy BABY (2)
Ross Stores, Inc. Ross Dress for Less 18 6,097 1.6% 11.55 528 2.8%
PetSmart, Inc. 17 5,764 1.6% 16.66 346 1.8%
Ahold U.S.A. Inc. Stop & Shop (3), Giant Eagle (1) 4 5,468 1.5% 22.60 242 1.3%
Gap Inc. Old Navy (13), The Gap (4), Banana 24 5,342 1.4% 20.01 267 1.4%
Republic (3), Janie & Jack (2),
Athleta (1), Gap Factory Store (1)
Michaels Stores, Inc. Michaels 16 4,855 1.3% 12.88 377 2.0%
BIJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc. 2 4,659 1.3% 19.02 245 1.3%
Ascena Retail Group, Inc. Lane Bryant (10), Catherine’s (5), 34 4,063 1.1% 22.83 178 0.9%
Dress Barn (5), Justice (5),
LOFT (5), Ann Taylor (4)
Lowe’s Companies, Inc. 4 3,944 1.1% 6.47 610 3.2%
Regal Entertainment Group Edwards Cinema 1 3,882 1.0% 31.06 125 0.7%
The Kroger Co. Kroger (5), Harris Teeter (1), 7 3,639 1.0% 10.43 349 1.8%
QFC (1)
Barnes & Noble, Inc. 7 3,592 1.0% 20.88 172 0.9%
The Home Depot, Inc. 3 3,404 0.9% 9.38 363 1.9%
Office Depot, Inc. Office Depot (8), OfficeMax (2) 10 3,397 0.9% 14.71 231 1.2%
Party City Holdings Inc. 16 3,383 0.9% 14.15 239 1.3%
Ulta Beauty, Inc. 14 3,183 0.9% 21.36 149 0.8%
Petco Animal Supplies, Inc. 13 3,155 0.8% 17.63 179 0.9%
Total Top Retail Tenants 253 $ 97,669 26.3% $ 14.44 6,765 35.6%

The following table sets forth a summary, as of December 31, 2019, of lease expirations scheduled to occur during 2020 and each
of the nine calendar years from 2021 to 2029 and thereafter, assuming no exercise of renewal options or early termination rights
for all leases in our retail operating portfolio. The following table is based on leases commenced as of December 31, 2019. Square
feet of GLA is presented in thousands.

ABR per % of
Lease % of Total Occupied Occupied

Lease Expiration Year Count ABR ABR Sq. Ft. GLA GLA
2020 (a) 316 $ 27,041 7.2% $ 23.78 1,137 6.0%
2021 316 46,439 12.6% 20.09 2,311 12.1%
2022 361 52,500 14.2% 17.03 3,083 16.2%
2023 353 50,291 13.5% 19.58 2,568 13.5%
2024 424 61,857 16.7% 20.13 3,073 16.2%
2025 176 33,201 9.0% 17.34 1,915 10.1%
2026 94 18,555 5.0% 20.82 891 4.7%
2027 82 13,078 3.5% 15.97 819 4.3%
2028 81 18,706 5.0% 23.27 804 4.2%
2029 99 21,837 5.9% 21.26 1,027 5.4%
Thereafter 93 27,089 7.3% 19.89 1,362 7.2%
Month-to-month 14 541 0.1% 20.04 27 0.1%
Total 2,409 $ 371,135 100.0% $ 19.52 19,017 100.0%

(a) Excludes month-to-month leases.

As of December 31, 2019, our weighted average remaining lease term is 4.8 years.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. While the
resolution of such matters may not be predicted with certainty, we believe, based on currently available information, that the final
outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEMS. MARKET FORREGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our Class A common stock trades on the NYSE under the trading symbol RPAI. The closing price of our Class A common stock
on February 14, 2020, as reported on the NYSE, was $12.70 per share.

As of February 14, 2020, there were approximately 11,700 record holders of our Class A common stock, which does not include
individuals or entities who beneficially own shares but whose shares of record are held by a broker or clearing agency.

We declared quarterly distributions totaling $0.6625 per share of our Class A common stock during 2019 and 2018.

We intend to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Code generally requires that a REIT annually
distributes to its shareholders at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction
and excluding net capital gains. The Code imposes tax on any undistributed REIT taxable income.

To satisfy the requirements for qualification as a REIT and generally not be subject to U.S. federal income and excise tax, we
intend to make regular quarterly distributions of all, or substantially all, of our REIT taxable income to shareholders. Our future
distributions will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors. When determining the amount of future distributions, we expect
to consider, among other factors, (i) the amount of cash generated from our operating activities, (ii) our expectations of future cash
flow, (iii) our determination of near-term cash needs for debt repayments and potential future share repurchases, (iv) the market
of available acquisitions of new properties and redevelopment, expansion and pad development opportunities, (v) the timing of
significant re-leasing activities and the establishment of additional cash reserves for anticipated tenant allowances and general
property capital improvements, (vi) our ability to continue to access additional sources of capital and (vii) the amount required to
be distributed to maintain our status as a REIT, which is a requirement of our unsecured credit agreement, and to reduce any income
and excise taxes that we otherwise would be required to pay. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to make distributions
in excess of cash available for distribution in order to meet the REIT distribution requirements.

If our operations do not generate sufficient cash flow to allow us to satisfy the REIT distribution requirements, we may be required
to fund distributions from working capital or by borrowing funds, issuing equity or selling assets. Our actual results of operations
will be affected by a number of factors, including the revenues we receive from tenants at our properties, our operating and other
expenses, interest expense, the ability of our tenants to meet their obligations and unanticipated expenditures. For more information
regarding risk factors that could materially and adversely affect our actual results of operations, please see Item 1 A. “Risk Factors.”

Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2019.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table summarizes the number of shares of Class A common stock surrendered to the Company by employees to
satisfy their tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted shares for the specified periods and amounts
outstanding under our common stock repurchase program:

Maximum number

Total number of (or approximate dollar
Total number Average price shares purchased value) of shares that

of shares of paid per share as part of publicly may yet be purchased

Class A common of Class A announced plans under the plans

Period stock purchased common stock or programs or programs (a)
October 1, 2019 to October 31, 2019 — $ — N/A $ 189,105
November 1, 2019 to November 30, 2019 — $ — N/A $ 189,105
December 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 55 $ 13.40 N/A $ 189,105
Total 55 $ 13.40 N/A $ 189,105

(a) As disclosed on the Current Reports on Form 8-K dated December 15, 2015 and December 14, 2017, represents the amount outstanding
under our $500,000 common stock repurchase program, which has no scheduled expiration date.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
related notes appearing elsewhere in this annual report.

RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Net investment properties $ 3,296,490 $§ 3,379,152 $§ 3,569,937 $§ 4,056,173 $§ 4,254,647
Total assets $ 3,586,362 $ 3,647470 $ 3918264 $ 4452973 $§ 4,621,251
Total debt $ 1,624925 $§ 1,622,049 $ 1,746,086 $ 1,997,925 $ 2,166,238
Total shareholders’ equity $ 1,632477 $ 1,746,591 $ 1,885,700 $ 2,152,086 $ 2,155,337
Revenues $ 481,686 $ 482,497 $ 538,139 $ 583,143  $ 603,960
Total expenses (389,003) (368.987) (478,904) (456,997) (462,890)
Interest expense (76,571) (73,746) (146,092) (109,730) (138,938)
Gain on sales of investment properties 18,872 37,211 337,975 129,707 121,792
Other, net (2,587) 665 373 20,694 1,700
Net income 32,397 77,640 251,491 166,817 125,624
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — — (528)
Net income attributable to the Company 32,397 77,640 251,491 166,817 125,096
Preferred stock dividends — — (13,867) (9,450) (9,450)
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 32397 % 77,640 $ 237,624 $ 157,367 $ 115,646
Earnings per common share — basic and diluted $ 0.15 § 035 $ 1.03 $ 0.66 $ 0.49
Distributions declared — preferred $ — 3 $ 9,161 $ 9,450 § 9,450
Distributions declared per preferred share $ — 3 — 8 170  $ 1.75 °$ 1.75
Excess of redemption value over carrying value of

preferred stock redemption $ — $ 4706 $ — 8 =
Distributions declared — common $ 141,528  $ 144,409 $ 151,612  $ 157,168  $ 157,173
Distributions declared per common share $ 0.66 $ 0.66 $ 0.66 $ 0.66 $ 0.66
Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 231,491 $ 204,163 $ 247,516 $ 266,130 $ 266,650
Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities $ (90,302) $ 87,275 $ 608,302 $ 12,444  § 2,623
Cash flows used in financing activities $ (146,343) $ (358,172) $  (851,832) $  (283,453) $  (352,806)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic 212,948 217,830 230,747 236,651 236,380
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted 213,198 218,231 230,927 236,951 236,382
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Certain statements in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” “Risk Factors,”
“Business” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning
of the safe harbor from civil liability provided for such statements by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (set
forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act). Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties and you
should not rely on them as predictions of future events. Forward-looking statements depend on assumptions, data or methods
which may be incorrect or imprecise and we may not be able to realize them. We do not guarantee that the transactions and events
described will happen as described (or that they will happen at all). You can identify forward-looking statements by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “should,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates” or “anticipates” and
variations of such words or similar expressions or the negative of such words. You can also identify forward-looking statements
by discussions of strategies, plans or intentions. Risks, uncertainties and changes in the following factors, among others, could
cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

EENT3 EERT

* economic, business and financial conditions, and changes in our industry and changes in the real estate markets in particular;
*  economic and other developments in markets where we have a high concentration of properties;

*  our business strategy;

e our projected operating results;

* rental rates and/or vacancy rates;

+ frequency and magnitude of defaults on, early terminations of or non-renewal of leases by tenants;
*  bankruptcy or insolvency of a major tenant or a significant number of smaller tenants;

* adverse impact of e-commerce developments and shifting consumer retail behavior on our tenants;
* interest rates or operating costs;

e the discontinuation of LIBOR;

» real estate and zoning laws and changes in real property tax rates;

= real estate valuations;

e our leverage;

e our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to service our outstanding indebtedness and make distributions to our
shareholders;

*  our ability to obtain necessary outside financing;
» the availability, terms and deployment of capital;
»  general volatility of the capital and credit markets and the market price of our Class A common stock;

» risks generally associated with real estate acquisitions and dispositions, including our ability to identify and pursue
acquisition and disposition opportunities;

«  risks generally associated with redevelopment, including the impact of construction delays and cost overruns, our ability
to lease redeveloped space and our ability to identify and pursue redevelopment opportunities;

*  composition of members of our senior management team;

e our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel;

23



e  our ability to continue to qualify as a REIT;

* governmental regulations, tax laws and rates and similar matters;
e our compliance with laws, rules and regulations;

* environmental uncertainties and exposure to natural disasters;

e insurance coverage; and

the likelihood or actual occurrence of terrorist attacks in the U.S.

For a further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance or transactions, see Item 1A.
“Risk Factors.” Readers should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which are based only on information
currently available to us (or to third parties making the forward-looking statements). We undertake no obligation to publicly release
any revisions to such forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, except as required by applicable law.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related
notes included in this report.

Executive Summary

Retail Properties of America, Inc. is a REIT that owns and operates high quality, strategically located open-air shopping centers,
including properties with a mixed-use component. As of December 31, 2019, we owned 104 retail operating properties in the
United States representing 19,972,000 square feet of GLA and had three active expansion and redevelopment projects. Our retail
operating portfolio includes (i) neighborhood and community centers, (ii) power centers, and (iii) lifestyle centers and multi-tenant
retail-focused mixed-use properties, as well as single-user retail properties.

The following table summarizes our portfolio as of December 31, 2019:

Percent Leased

Number of GLA Including Leases
Property Type Properties (in thousands) Occupancy Signed (a)
Retail operating portfolio:
Multi-tenant retail:
Neighborhood and community centers 63 10,244 95.5% 96.8%
Power centers 23 4,922 96.2% 96.8%
Lifestyle centers and mixed-use properties (b) 16 4,545 93.4% 94.0%
Total multi-tenant retail 102 19,711 95.2% 96.2%
Single-user retail 2 261 100.0% 100.0%
Total retail operating properties 104 19,972 95.2% 96.2%
Expansion and redevelopment projects:
Circle East (c) 1
One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H (d) —
Carillon 1
Total number of properties 106

(a) Includes leases signed but not commenced.

(b) Excludes the 18 multi-family rental units at Plaza del Lago. As of December 31, 2019, 14 multi-family rental units were leased at an average
monthly rental rate per unit of $1,309.

(c) The redevelopment at Circle East is no longer combined with our neighboring property Towson Square, which increased our property count
within expansion and redevelopment projects by one. There was no change to the property count of lifestyle centers and mixed-use properties
as Towson Square remains within our retail operating portfolio.

(d) The operating portion of this property is included in the property count of lifestyle centers and mixed-use properties within our retail
operating portfolio.
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During the first half of 2018, we completed our portfolio transformation and are now a prominent owner of multi-tenant retail
properties, many with a mixed-use component, primarily located in the following markets: Dallas, Washington, D.C./Baltimore,
New York, Chicago, Seattle, Atlanta, Houston, San Antonio, Phoenix and Austin.

We are primarily focused on growing our portfolio organically through (i) accretive leasing activity and (ii) mixed-use expansion
and redevelopment projects. During 2019, we recorded a series of accomplishments in each of these primary areas of focus.

Our 2019 leasing activity was accretive as we signed 498 new and renewal leases across 3,255,000 square feet of GLA for a blended
comparable re-leasing spread of 8.1%, achieving positive comparable cash leasing spreads of 19.7% on signed new leases and
5.3% on signed renewal leases. This 2019 signed leasing activity represents approximately 16% of our portfolio GLA, just shy of
our record high of approximately 17% achieved in 2018. These signings helped us achieve record highs in a number of leasing,
occupancy and ABR statistics as of December 31, 2019, including (i) retail portfolio occupancy of 95.2%, (ii) retail portfolio
percent leased, including leases signed but not commenced, of 96.2%, (iii) retail anchor tenant occupancy of 97.6% and (iv) retail
anchor tenant percent leased, including leases signed but not commenced, of 98.8%, as well as retail portfolio ABR per occupied
square foot of $19.52. During 2019, we also achieved average annual contractual rent increases on signed new leases of
approximately 180 basis points.

Our active and near-term expansion and redevelopment projects consist of approximately $372,000 to $407,000 of expected
investment through 2022, equivalent to approximately 12% of the net book value of our investment properties as of December 31,
2019. These predominantly mixed use-focused projects include the redevelopments at Circle East and phase one at Carillon, the
expansion projects of Pads G & H at One Loudoun Downtown and site and building reconfiguration at The Shoppes at Quarterfield
as well as the vacant pad development at Southlake Town Square. Our current portfolio of assets contains numerous additional
projects in the longer-term pipeline, including, among others, future phases at Carillon, additional pad developments at One
Loudoun Downtown, pad developments and expansions at Main Street Promenade and Downtown Crown, and future projects at
Merrifield Town Center, Tysons Corner, Southlake Town Square, Lakewood Towne Center and One Loudoun Uptown.

During 2019, we recorded several milestones related to our expansion and redevelopment projects. We placed the redevelopment
of the multi-family rental units at Plaza del Lago, our first multi-family rental redevelopment, in service. At Carillon, we executed
a joint venture agreement for the medical office building component at phase one of the project and completed demolition work
on approximately 290,000 square feet of vacant retail GLA. We also broke ground on Pads G & H at One Loudoun Downtown.
Lastly, we signed our first lease at the Circle East redevelopment with a prominent fast casual restaurant operator.

2019 Company Highlights
Developments in Progress
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we:

* invested $29,470 in our expansion and redevelopment projects at Circle East, Plaza del Lago, One Loudoun Downtown
and Carillon;

* commenced development of Pads G & H at One Loudoun Downtown and redevelopment at Carillon and reclassified the
related costs from “Buildings and other improvements” into “Developments in progress” in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets; and

* placed the Plaza del Lago multi-family rental redevelopment project in service and reclassified the related costs from
“Developments in progress” into “Buildings and other improvements” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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The following table summarizes the carrying amount of developments in progress as of December 31, 2019:

Property Name MSA December 31, 2019
Active expansion and redevelopment projects:
Circle East Baltimore $ 33,628
One Loudoun Downtown Washington, D.C. 27,868
Carillon Washington, D.C. 26,407
87,903
Land held for future development:
One Loudoun Uptown Washington, D.C. 25,450
Total developments in progress $ 113,353
Acquisitions

The following table summarizes our acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2019:

Square Acquisition
Date Property Name MSA Property Type Footage Price
March 7, 2019 North Benson Center Seattle Multi-tenant retail 70,500 $ 25,340
June 10, 2019 Paradise Valley Marketplace — Parcel Phoenix Land (a) — 1,343
August 13,2019  Southlake Town Square — Parcel Dallas Single-user parcel (b) 3,100 3,293

73,600 29,976

=$=

(a) We acquired a parcel adjacent to our Paradise Valley Marketplace multi-tenant retail operating property. The total number of properties in
our portfolio was not affected by this transaction.

(b) We acquired a single-user parcel at our Southlake Town Square multi-tenant retail operating property. The total number of properties in our
portfolio was not affected by this transaction.

Dispositions

The following table summarizes our dispositions during the year ended December 31, 2019:

Square
Date Property Name Property Type Footage Consideration
March 8, 2019 Edwards Multiplex — Fresno (a) Single-user retail 94,600 $ 25,850
June 28, 2019 North Rivers Towne Center Multi-tenant retail 141,500 18,900
236,100 $ 44,750

(a) Prior to the disposition, we were subject to a ground lease whereby we leased the underlying land from a third party. The ground lease was
assumed by the purchaser in connection with the disposition.

In addition to the property dispositions listed above, during the year ended December 31, 2019, we received consideration of
$5,089 in connection with the second and third phases of the sale of a land parcel at One Loudoun Downtown, which included
rights to develop 22 residential units.
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Market Summary

The following table summarizes our retail operating portfolio by market as of December 31, 2019. Square feet of GLA is presented
in thousands.

% of Total % of Total
Multi-Tenant ABR per Multi-Tenant % Leased
Number of Retail ABR Occupied Retail GLA Including
Property Type/Market Properties ABR (a) (a) Sq. Ft. GLA (a) (a) Occupancy Signed
Multi-Tenant Retail:
Top 25 MSAs (b)
Dallas 19 $§ 842821 232% $ 22.77 3,942 20.0% 94.5% 94.8%
Washington, D.C. 8 39,860 10.9% 29.44 1,388 7.0% 97.5% 97.5%
New York 9 37,797 10.3% 29.80 1,292 6.6% 98.1% 98.1%
Chicago 8 29,156 8.0% 23.63 1,358 6.9% 90.9% 91.3%
Seattle 9 23,879 6.5% 16.45 1,548 7.9% 93.8% 98.2%
Baltimore 5 23,066 6.3% 16.07 1,604 8.1% 89.5% 94.0%
Atlanta 9 20,648 5.7% 13.85 1,513 7.7% 98.5% 98.5%
Houston 9 16,446 4.5% 15.01 1,141 5.8% 96.0% 97.1%
San Antonio 3 12,825 3.5% 18.04 722 3.7% 98.5% 98.5%
Phoenix 3 10,959 3.0% 17.92 632 3.2% 96.8% 98.1%
Los Angeles 1 5,711 1.6% 25.98 241 1.2% 91.1% 93.8%
Riverside 1 4,508 1.2% 15.72 292 1.5% 98.1% 98.1%
St. Louis 1 4,275 1.2% 9.60 453 2.3% 98.3% 98.3%
Charlotte 1 3,964 1.1% 13.68 320 1.6% 90.6% 90.6%
Tampa 1 2,378 0.7% 19.51 126 0.6% 97.0% 97.0%
Subtotal 87 320,293 87.7% 20.35 16,572 84.1% 95.0% 96.1%
Non-Top 25 MSAs (b) 15 44,978 12.3% 14.91 3,139 15.9% 96.0% 96.5%
Total Multi-Tenant Retail 102 365,271 100.0% 19.47 19,711 100.0% 95.2% 96.2%
Single-User Retail 2 5,864 22.49 261 100.0% 100.0%
Total Retail
Operating Portfolio () ____ 104 371,135 S 1952 ___19972 — 2% ___ 962%

(a) Excludes $1,898 of multi-tenant retail ABR and 106 square feet of multi-tenant retail GLA attributable to Circle East and Carillon, both of
which are in active redevelopment and are located in the Baltimore and Washington, D.C. MSAs, respectively. Including these amounts,
87.8% of our multi-tenant retail ABR and 84.2% of our multi-tenant retail GLA is located in the top 25 MSAs.

(b) Top 25 MSAs and Non-Top 25 MSAs are determined by the United States Census Bureau and ranked based on the most recently available
population estimates.

(¢) Excludes the 18 multi-family rental units at Plaza del Lago, which were placed in service during the three months ended September 30,
2019. As of December 31, 2019, 14 multi-family rental units were leased at an average monthly rental rate per unit of $1,309.

Leasing Activity

The following table summarizes the leasing activity in our retail operating portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Leasing activity related to our active and near-term expansion and redevelopment projects is also included beginning in the fourth
quarter of 2019. Leases with terms of less than 12 months have been excluded from the table.

New

Contractual Prior % Change ‘Weighted Tenant
Number of GLA Signed Rent per Square ~ Contractual over Prior Average Allowances

Leases Signed  (in thousands) Foot (PSF) (a) Rent PSF (a) ABR (a) Lease Term PSF (b)
Comparable Renewal Leases 310 1,989 $ 2059 $ 19.56 5.3% 48 % 2.15
Comparable New Leases 76 469 23.93 20.00 19.7% 9.7 58.31

Non-Comparable New and

Renewal Leases (c) 112 797 18.53 N/A N/A 7.7 31.96

Total 498 3,255 § 2123 § 19.64 8.1% 63 % 17.05

(a) Total excludes the impact of Non-Comparable New and Renewal Leases.
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(b) Excludes tenant allowances and related square foot amounts at our active and near-term expansion and redevelopment projects. These tenant
allowances are included in the expected investment for each project.

(¢) Includes (i) leases signed on units that were vacant for over 12 months, (ii) leases signed without fixed rental payments and (iii) leases
signed where the previous and the current lease do not have a consistent lease structure.

We anticipate our leasing efforts in 2020 will focus on (i) vacant anchor and small shop space, (ii) upcoming lease expirations and
(iii) spaces within our expansion and redevelopment projects. As we lease these spaces, we look to capitalize on the opportunity
to mark rents to market, upgrade our tenancy and optimize the mix of operators and unique retailers at our properties.

Capital Markets
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we:

» issued $100,000 of 10-year 4.82% senior unsecured notes in a private placement transaction pursuant to a note purchase
agreement we entered into with certain institutional investors;

» entered into a term loan agreement with a group of financial institutions for a five-year $120,000 unsecured term loan
(Term Loan Due 2024) and a seven-year $150,000 unsecured term loan (Term Loan Due 2026). The term loans bear
interest at a rate of LIBOR, adjusted based on applicable reserve percentages established by the Federal Reserve, plus a
credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging from 1.20% to 1.70% for the Term Loan Due 2024 and 1.50% to 2.20%
for the Term Loan Due 2026;

+ entered into agreements to swap $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt to a fixed interest rate of 1.68% through
July 2024 and $150,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt to a fixed interest rate of 1.77% through July 2026;

*  repaid $255,000, net of borrowings, on our unsecured revolving line of credit; and

* repaid $107,671 of mortgages payable, incurred $8,151 of debt prepayment fees and made scheduled principal payments
of $2,875 related to amortizing loans.

Distributions
We declared quarterly distributions totaling $0.6625 per share of our Class A common stock during 2019.
Results of Operations

The following information summarizes our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2018. Information pertaining to fiscal year 2017 was included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31,2018 beginning on page 25 under Part I, “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” which was filed with the SEC on February 13, 2019 and which information is incorporated
by reference in this Item 7.
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Comparison of Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 to 2018

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 Change

Revenues:

Lease income $ 481,686 $ 482,497 $ (811)
Expenses:

Operating expenses 68,396 74,885 (6,489)

Real estate taxes 73,247 73,683 (436)

Depreciation and amortization 194,573 175,977 18,596

Provision for impairment of investment properties 12,298 2,079 10,219

General and administrative expenses 40,489 42,363 (1,874)
Total expenses 389,003 368,987 20,016
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (76,571) (73,746) (2,825)
Gain on sales of investment properties 18,872 37,211 (18,339)
Other (expense) income, net (2,587) 665 (3,252)
Net income 32,397 77,640 (45,243)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — — —
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ (45,243)

Net income attributable to common shareholders decreased $45,243 from $77,640 for the year ended December 31,2018 to $32,397
for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily as a result of the following:

* an $18,596 increase in depreciation and amortization primarily due to the write-off of assets taken out of service due to
the demolition of existing structures at our Carillon redevelopment during the year ended December 31, 2019. No such
write-off occurred during the year ended December 31, 2018;

+ an$18,339 decrease in gain on sales of investment properties related to the sale of two investment properties, representing
approximately 236,100 square feet of GLA, and the sale of two land parcels during the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the sale of 10 investment properties and a land parcel, representing approximately 1,831,200 square feet of
GLA, and the sale of air rights at Circle East during the year ended December 31, 2018; and

* a$10,219 increase in provision for impairment of investment properties. Based on the results of our evaluations for
impairment (see Notes 12 and 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements), we recognized impairment
charges of $12,298 and $2,079 during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively;

partially offset by

*  a$6,489 decrease in operating expenses primarily due to the sales of operating properties during 2018 and 2019 as well
as termination fee expense of $1,900 incurred during 2018 related to the Toys “R” Us auction process whereby we were
the winning bidder on two leases. No such termination fee expense was incurred during 2019.

Net operating income (NOI)

We define NOI as all revenues other than (i) straight-line rental income (non-cash), (ii) amortization of lease inducements, (iii)
amortization of acquired above and below market lease intangibles and (iv) lease termination fee income, less real estate taxes
and all operating expenses other than lease termination fee expense and non-cash ground rent expense, which is comprised of
straight-line ground rent expense and amortization of acquired ground lease intangibles for the year ended December 31, 2018
and amortization of right-of-use lease assets and amortization of lease liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2019. NOI
consists of same store NOI (Same Store NOI) and NOI from other investment properties (NOI from Other Investment Properties).
We believe that NOI, Same Store NOI and NOI from Other Investment Properties, which are supplemental non-GAAP financial
measures, provide an additional and useful operating perspective not immediately apparent from “Net income” or “Net income
attributable to common shareholders™ in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP).
We use these measures to evaluate our performance on a property-by-property basis because they allow management to evaluate
the impact that factors such as lease structure, lease rates and tenant base have on our operating results. NOI, Same Store NOI and
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NOI from Other Investment Properties do not represent alternatives to “Net income” or “Net income attributable to common
shareholders™ in accordance with GAAP as indicators of our financial performance. Comparison of our presentation of NOI, Same
Store NOIand NOI from Other Investment Properties to similarly titled measures for other REITs may not necessarily be meaningful
due to possible differences in definition and application by such REITs. For reference and as an aid in understanding our computation
of NOI, a reconciliation of net income attributable to common shareholders as computed in accordance with GAAP to Same Store
NOI has been presented for each comparable period presented.

Same store portfolio — 2019 and 2018

For the year ended December 31, 2019, our same store portfolio consisted of 102 retail operating properties acquired or placed in
service and stabilized prior to January 1, 2018. The number of properties in our same store portfolio increased to 102 as of
December 31, 2019 from 101 as of December 31, 2018 as a result of the following:

» the addition of three same store investment properties acquired prior to January 1, 2018;
partially offset by
* the removal of two same store investment properties sold during the year ended December 31, 2019.
The properties and financial results reported in “Other investment properties” primarily include the following:
*  properties acquired after December 31, 2017

+ Reisterstown Road Plaza, which was reclassified from active redevelopment into our retail operating portfolio during
2018;

«  the multi-family rental units at Plaza del Lago, a redevelopment project that was placed in service during 2019;
*  Circle East, which is in active redevelopment;

*  One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H, which are in active development;

e Carillon, which is in active redevelopment;

*  properties that were sold or held for sale in 2018 and 2019; and

* the net income from our wholly owned captive insurance company.

The following tables present a reconciliation of net income attributable to common shareholders to Same Store NOI and details
of the components of Same Store NOI for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 Change
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ (45,243)
Adjustments to reconcile to Same Store NOI:
Gain on sales of investment properties (18,872) (37,211) 18,339
Depreciation and amortization 194,573 175,977 18,596
Provision for impairment of investment properties 12,298 2,079 10,219
General and administrative expenses 40,489 42,363 (1,874)
Interest expense 76,571 73,746 2,825
Straight-line rental income, net (4,533) (5,717) 1,184
Amortization of acquired above and below market lease intangibles, net (5,429) (5,467) 38
Amortization of lease inducements 1,329 1,020 309
Lease termination fees, net (2,024) 179 (2,203)
Non-cash ground rent expense, net 1,356 1,844 (488)
Other expense (income), net 2,587 (665) 3,252
NOI 330,742 325,788 4,954
NOI from Other Investment Properties (10,099) (13,556) 3,457
Same Store NOI $ 320,643 $ 312,232 $ 8,411
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Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 Change
Same Store NOI:
Base rent $ 344,872 $ 336,713 $ 8,159
Percentage and specialty rent 3,187 3,681 (494)
Tenant recoveries 102,932 101,313 1,619
Other lease-related income 5,569 4,675 894
Bad debt, net (2,387) (1,915) (472)
Property operating expenses (62,047) (61,502) (545)
Real estate taxes (71,483) (70,733) (750)
Same Store NOI $ 320,643 $ 312,232 $ 8,411

Same Store NOI increased $8,411, or 2.7%, primarily due to an increase of $8,159 in base rent driven by increases of (i) $3,575
from contractual rent changes, (ii) $3,105 from occupancy growth and (iii) $2,177 from re-leasing spreads, partially offset by
$1,595 from higher rent abatements.

Funds From Operations Attributable to Common Shareholders

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, an industry trade group, has promulgated a financial
measure known as funds from operations (FFO). In December 2018, NAREIT issued “NAREIT Funds From Operations White
Paper — 2018 Restatement” (2018 FFO White Paper) to incorporate interpretive guidance and clarifications made by NAREIT
subsequent to their previous FFO White Paper, which was issued in April 2002. The 2018 FFO White Paper was effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods therein. We adopted the 2018 FFO White Paper effective
January 1, 2019 on a retrospective basis.

As defined by NAREIT, FFO means net income computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding (i) depreciation and amortization
related to real estate, (ii) gains from sales of real estate assets, (iii) gains and losses from change in control and (iv) impairment
write-downs of real estate assets and investments in entities directly attributable to decreases in the value of real estate held by the
entity. We have adopted the NAREIT definition in our computation of FFO attributable to common shareholders. Management
believes that, subject to the following limitations, FFO attributable to common shareholders provides a basis for comparing our
performance and operations to those of other REITs.

The 2018 FFO White Paper did not change the fundamental definition of FFO; however, it provided clarification and that, to the
extent a REIT recognizes a gain on sale or impairment related to assets incidental to the main business of a REIT, the REIT has
the option to include or exclude such gains or impairments in the calculation of FFO. In connection with the adoption of the 2018
FFO White Paper, we elected to exclude all gains on sale and impairments of real estate from FFO, whereas we previously only
excluded gains on sale and impairments of depreciable investment properties. To be consistent with the current presentation, we
restated FFO attributable to common shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2018 to exclude the gain on sale of non-
depreciable investment property of $3,464, which was previously included within FFO attributable to common shareholders. There
was no change to FFO attributable to common shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2017 as a result of the adoption of
the 2018 FFO White Paper as there was no gain on sale or impairment of non-depreciable investment property recorded during
the year ended December 31, 2017.

We define Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders as FFO attributable to common shareholders excluding the impact
of discrete non-operating transactions and other events which we do not consider representative of the comparable operating results
of our real estate operating portfolio, which is our core business platform. Specific examples of discrete non-operating transactions
and other events include, but are not limited to, the impact on earnings from gains or losses associated with the early extinguishment
of debt or other liabilities, litigation involving the Company, the impact on earnings from executive separation and the excess of
redemption value over carrying value of preferred stock redemption, which are not otherwise adjusted in our calculation of FFO
attributable to common shareholders. There was no change to previously reported Operating FFO attributable to common
shareholders for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 as a result of the adoption of the 2018 FFO White Paper because
gains on sale and impairments of non-depreciable investment property have been, and continue to be, excluded from our calculation
of Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders.

We believe that FFO attributable to common shareholders and Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders, which are
supplemental non-GAAP financial measures, provide additional and useful means to assess the operating performance of REITs.
FFO attributable to common shareholders and Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders do not represent alternatives
to (i) “Net income” or “Net income attributable to common shareholders” as indicators of our financial performance, or (ii) “Cash
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flows from operating activities” in accordance with GAAP as measures of our capacity to fund cash needs, including the payment
of dividends. Comparison of our presentation of Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders to similarly titled measures
for other REITs may not necessarily be meaningful due to possible differences in definition and application by such REITs.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income attributable to common shareholders to FFO attributable to common
shareholders and Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ 237,624
Depreciation and amortization of real estate 193,183 (a) 174,672 202,110
Provision for impairment of investment properties 12,298 2,079 67,003
Gain on sales of investment properties (18,872) (37,211) (b) (337,975)
FFO attributable to common shareholders $ 219,006 $ 217,180 (b) $ 168,762
FFO attributable to common shareholders per common share outstanding — diluted $ 1.03 $ 1.00 (b) $ 0.73
FFO attributable to common shareholders $ 219,006 $ 217,180 $ 168,762
Impact on earnings from the early extinguishment of debt, net 7,581 5,944 72,654
Provision for hedge ineffectiveness — = 9
Impact on earnings from executive separation (c) — 1,737 (1,086)
Excess of redemption value over carrying value of preferred stock redemption (d) — — 4,706
Other (e) 3,106 629 441
Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders $ 229,693 $ 225490 (b) $ 245,486
Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders
per common share outstanding — diluted $ 1.08 $ 1.03 (b) $ 1.06

(a) Includes $26,330 of accelerated depreciation recorded in connection with the write-off of assets taken out of service due to the demolition
of existing structures at our Carillon redevelopment during the year ended December 31, 2019.

(b) FFO attributable to common shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2018 has been restated to exclude $3,464 of gain on sale of
non-depreciable investment property in connection with our adoption of the 2018 FFO White Paper effective January 1, 2019 on a
retrospective basis. As the gain on sale of non-depreciable investment property was previously excluded from Operating FFO attributable
to common shareholders, there was no change to Operating FFO attributable to common shareholders.

(c) Reflected as an increase (decrease) within “General and administrative expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
and other comprehensive (loss) income.

(d) Included within “Preferred stock dividends” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss)
income.

(e) Primarily consists of the impact on earnings from litigation involving the Company, including costs to engage outside counsel related to
litigation with former tenants, which are included in “Other (expense) income, net” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
and other comprehensive (loss) income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We anticipate that cash flows from the below-listed sources will provide adequate capital for the next 12 months and beyond for
all scheduled principal and interest payments on our outstanding indebtedness, including maturing debt, current and anticipated
tenant allowances or other capital obligations, the shareholder distributions required to maintain our REIT status and compliance
with the financial covenants of our unsecured debt agreements.
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Our primary expected sources and uses of liquidity are as follows:

SOURCES

= Operating cash flow
= Cash and cash equivalents

= Available borrowings under our unsecured revolving

line of credit

= Proceeds from capital markets transactions

= Proceeds from asset dispositions
= Proceeds from the sales of air rights

USES

Tenant allowances and leasing costs

Improvements made to individual properties, certain of which are not

recoverable through common area maintenance charges to tenants

Debt repayments

Distribution payments

Redevelopment, expansion and pad development activities

Acquisitions
New development

Repurchases of our common stock

We have made substantial progress over the last several years in strengthening our balance sheet, as demonstrated by our reduced
leverage, improved financial flexibility and higher unencumbered asset ratio. We have funded debt maturities primarily through
asset dispositions and capital markets transactions, including the public offering of our common stock and private and public
offerings of senior unsecured notes. As of December 31, 2019, we had no scheduled debt maturities and $2,494 of principal
amortization due through the end of 2020, which we plan on satisfying through a combination of cash flows from operations,
working capital and our unsecured revolving line of credit.

The table below summarizes our consolidated indebtedness as of December 31, 2019:

Aggregate Weighted Weighted
Principal Average Average Years
Debt Amount Interest Rate Maturity Date to Maturity

Fixed rate mortgages payable (a) $ 94,904 4.37% Various 5.1 years
Unsecured notes payable:

Senior notes — 4.12% due 2021 100,000 4.12% June 30, 2021 1.5 years

Senior notes — 4.58% due 2024 150,000 4.58% June 30, 2024 4.5 years

Senior notes — 4.00% due 2025 250,000 4.00% March 15, 2025 5.2 years

Senior notes — 4.08% due 2026 100,000 4.08% September 30, 2026 6.8 years

Senior notes — 4.24% due 2028 100,000 4.24% December 28, 2028 9.0 years

Senior notes — 4.82% due 2029 100,000 4.82% June 28, 2029 9.5 years
Total unsecured notes payable (a) 800,000 4.27% 5.8 years
Unsecured credit facility:

Term loan due 2021 — fixed rate (b) 250,000 3.20% January 5, 2021 1.0 year

Revolving line of credit — variable rate 18,000 2.85% April 22,2022 (c) 2.3 years
Total unsecured credit facility (a) 268,000 3.18% 1.1 years
Unsecured term loans:

Term Loan Due 2023 — fixed rate (d) 200,000 4.05% November 22, 2023 3.9 years

Term Loan Due 2024 — fixed rate (e) 120,000 2.88% July 17,2024 4.5 years

Term Loan Due 2026 — fixed rate (f) 150,000 3.27% July 17,2026 6.5 years
Total unsecured term loans (a) 470,000 3.50% 4.9 years
Total consolidated indebtedness $ 1,632,904 3.88% 4.7 years

(a) Fixed rate mortgages payable excludes mortgage discount of $(493) and capitalized loan fees of $(256), net of accumulated amortization,
as of December 31, 2019. Unsecured notes payable excludes discount of $(616) and capitalized loan fees of $(3,137), net of accumulated
amortization, as of December 31, 2019. Unsecured term loans exclude capitalized loan fees of $(3,477), net of accumulated amortization,
as of December 31, 2019. Capitalized loan fees related to the revolving line of credit are included in “Other assets, net” in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets.

(b) Reflects $250,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate of 2.00% plus a credit spread based on a leverage
grid ranging from 1.20% to 1.70% through January 5, 2021. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2019.

(¢) We have two six-month extension options on the revolving line of credit, which we may exercise as long as we are in compliance with the
terms of the unsecured credit agreement and we pay an extension fee equal to 0.075% of the commitment amount being extended.
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(d) Reflects $200,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate of 2.85% plus a credit spread based on a leverage
grid ranging from 1.20% to 1.85% through November 22, 2023. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2019.

(e) Reflects $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.68% plus a credit spread based on a leverage
grid ranging from 1.20% to 1.70% through July 17, 2024. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2019.

(f) Reflects $150,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.77% plus a credit spread based on a leverage
grid ranging from 1.50% to 2.20% through July 17, 2026. The applicable credit spread was 1.50% as of December 31, 2019.

Mortgages Payable

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we repaid mortgages payable in the total amount of $107,671, which had a weighted
average fixed interest rate of 4.91%, incurred $8,151 of debt prepayment fees and made scheduled principal payments of $2,875
related to amortizing loans.

Unsecured Notes Payable
Notes Due 2029

On June 28, 2019, we issued $100,000 of 4.82% senior unsecured notes due 2029 (Notes Due 2029) in a private placement
transaction pursuant to a note purchase agreement we entered into with certain institutional investors on April 5,2019. The proceeds
were used to repay borrowings on our unsecured revolving line of credit.

The note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2029 contains customary representations, warranties and covenants, and
events of default. Pursuant to the terms of such note purchase agreement, we are subject to various financial covenants, which
include the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage ratios; (ii) a minimum interest coverage
ratio; (iii) a minimum unencumbered interest coverage ratio (as set forth in our unsecured credit facility and the note purchase
agreements governing the Notes Due 2021 and 2024 and the Notes Due 2026 and 2028 defined below); and (iv) a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio (as set forth in our unsecured credit facility).

Notes Due 2026 and 2028

On September 30,2016, we issued $100,000 of 4.08% senior unsecured notes due 2026 in a private placement transaction pursuant
to a note purchase agreement we entered into with certain institutional investors on September 30, 2016. Pursuant to the same note
purchase agreement, on December 28, 2016, we also issued $100,000 of 4.24% senior unsecured notes due 2028 (Notes Due 2026
and 2028). The proceeds were used to pay down our unsecured revolving line of credit, early repay certain longer-dated mortgages
payable and for general corporate purposes.

The note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2026 and 2028 contains customary representations, warranties and
covenants, and events of default. Pursuant to the terms of the note purchase agreement, we are subject to various financial covenants,
including the requirement to maintain the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage ratios; (ii)
a minimum interest coverage ratio; (iii) an unencumbered interest coverage ratio (as set forth in our unsecured credit facility and
the note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2021 and 2024 described below); and (iv) a fixed charge coverage ratio (as
set forth in our unsecured credit facility).

Notes Due 2025

On March 12, 2015, we completed a public offering of $250,000 in aggregate principal amount of 4.00% senior unsecured notes
due 2025 (Notes Due 2025). The Notes Due 2025 were priced at 99.526% of the principal amount to yield 4.058% to maturity.
The proceeds were used to repay a portion of our unsecured revolving line of credit.

The indenture, as supplemented, governing the Notes Due 2025 (the Indenture) contains customary covenants and events of default.
Pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, we are subject to various financial covenants, including the requirement to maintain the
following: (i) maximum secured and total leverage ratios; (ii) a debt service coverage ratio; and (iii) maintenance of an unencumbered
assets to unsecured debt ratio.

Notes Due 2021 and 2024

On June 30, 2014, we completed a private placement of $250,000 of unsecured notes, consisting of $100,000 of 4.12% senior
unsecured notes due 2021 and $150,000 of 4.58% senior unsecured notes due 2024 (Notes Due 2021 and 2024). The proceeds
were used to repay a portion of our unsecured revolving line of credit.
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The note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2021 and 2024 contains customary representations, warranties and
covenants, and events of default. Pursuant to the terms of the note purchase agreement, we are subject to various financial covenants,
some of which are based upon the financial covenants in effect in our unsecured credit facility, including the requirement to maintain
the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage ratios; (ii) minimum interest coverage and
unencumbered interest coverage ratios; and (iii) a minimum consolidated net worth.

As of December 31, 2019, management believes we were in compliance with the financial covenants under the Indenture and the
note purchase agreements.

Unsecured Term Loans and Revolving Line of Credit

Unsecured Credit Facility

On April 23, 2018, we entered into our fifth amended and restated unsecured credit agreement (Unsecured Credit Agreement) with
a syndicate of financial institutions led by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association serving as syndication agent and KeyBank
National Association serving as administrative agent to provide for an unsecured credit facility aggregating $1,100,000 (Unsecured
Credit Facility). The Unsecured Credit Facility consists of an $850,000 unsecured revolving line of credit and a $250,000 unsecured
term loan and is priced on a leverage grid at a rate of LIBOR plus a credit spread. In accordance with the Unsecured Credit
Agreement, we may elect to convert to an investment grade pricing grid. As of December 31, 2019, making such an election would
have resulted in a higher interest rate and, as such, we have not made the election to convert to an investment grade pricing grid.

The following table summarizes the key terms of the Unsecured Credit Facility:

Leverage-Based Pricing Investment Grade Pricing
Maturity  Extension  Extension
Unsecured Credit Facility Date Option Fee Credit Spread  Facility Fee Credit Spread  Facility Fee
$250,000 unsecured term loan due 2021 1/5/2021 N/A N/A 1.20%-1.70% N/A 0.90%-1.75% N/A

$850,000 unsecured revolving line of credit ~ 4/22/2022  2-six month 0.075% 1.05%-1.50%  0.15%-0.30%  0.825%-1.55% 0.125%—-0.30%

The Unsecured Credit Facility has a $500,000 accordion option that allows us, at our election, to increase the total Unsecured
Credit Facility up to $1,600,000, subject to (i) customary fees and conditions including, but not limited to, the absence of an event
of default as defined in the Unsecured Credit Agreement and (ii) our ability to obtain additional lender commitments.

The Unsecured Credit Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants, and events of default. Pursuant
to the terms of the Unsecured Credit Agreement, we are subject to various financial covenants, including the requirement to
maintain the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage ratios; and (ii) minimum fixed charge and
unencumbered interest coverage ratios. As of December 31,2019, management believes we were in compliance with the financial
covenants and default provisions under the Unsecured Credit Agreement.

AsofDecember 31,2019, we had letters of credit outstanding totaling $291 that serve as collateral for certain capital improvements
at one of our properties and reduce the available borrowings on our unsecured revolving line of credit.

Unsecured Term Loans

Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due 2026

On July 17, 2019, we entered into a term loan agreement (2019 Term Loan Agreement) with a group of financial institutions for
a five-year $120,000 unsecured term loan (Term Loan Due 2024) and a seven-year $150,000 unsecured term loan (Term Loan
Due 2026). The Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due 2026 bear interest at a rate of LIBOR, adjusted based on applicable
reserve percentages established by the Federal Reserve, plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid. In accordance with the 2019
Term Loan Agreement, we may elect to convert to an investment grade pricing grid. As of December 31, 2019, making such an
election would have resulted in a higher interest rate and, as such, we have not made the election to convert to an investment grade
pricing grid. The proceeds were used to repay outstanding indebtedness and for general corporate purposes.

Term Loan Due 2023

On January 3, 2017, we received funding on a seven-year $200,000 unsecured term loan (Term Loan Due 2023) with a group of
financial institutions, which closed during the year ended December 31, 2016 and was amended on November 20, 2018. The Term
Loan Due 2023 is priced on a leverage grid at a rate of LIBOR plus a credit spread. In accordance with the amended term loan
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agreement (Amended 2017 Term Loan Agreement), we may elect to convert to an investment grade pricing grid. As of December 31,
2019, making such an election would have resulted in a higher interest rate and, as such, we have not made the election to convert
to an investment grade pricing grid.

The following table summarizes the key terms of the unsecured term loans:

Leverage-Based Pricing Investment Grade Pricing
Unsecured Term Loans Maturity Date Credit Spread Credit Spread
$200,000 unsecured term loan due 2023 11/22/2023 1.20% — 1.85% 0.85% — 1.65%
$120,000 unsecured term loan due 2024 7/17/2024 1.20% — 1.70% 0.80% — 1.65%
$150,000 unsecured term loan due 2026 7/17/2026 1.50% — 2.20% 1.35% — 2.25%

The Term Loan Due 2024 has a $130,000 accordion option and the Term Loan Due 2026 has a $100,000 accordion option that,
collectively, allow us, at our election, to increase the total of the Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due 2026 up to $500,000,
subject to (i) customary fees and conditions, including the absence of an event of default as defined in the 2019 Term Loan
Agreement and (ii) our ability to obtain additional lender commitments.

The Term Loan Due 2023 has a $100,000 accordion option that allows us, at our election, to increase the Term Loan Due 2023 up
to $300,000, subject to (i) customary fees and conditions, including the absence of an event of default as defined in the Amended
2017 Term Loan Agreement and (ii) our ability to obtain additional lender commitments.

The 2019 Term Loan Agreement and the Amended 2017 Term Loan Agreement contain customary representations, warranties and
covenants, and events of default. These include financial covenants such as (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated
leverage ratios; (ii) minimum fixed charge coverage ratios; and (iii) minimum unencumbered interest coverage ratios. As of
December 31, 2019, management believes we were in compliance with the financial covenants and default provisions under the
2019 Term Loan Agreement and the Amended 2017 Term Loan Agreement.

Debt Maturities

The following table summarizes the scheduled maturities and principal amortization of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2019,
for each of the next five years and thereafter and the weighted average interest rates by year, as well as the fair value of our
indebtedness as of December 31, 2019. The table does not reflect the impact of any 2020 debt activity.

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Debt:
Fixed rate debt:

Mortgages payable (a) $ 2494 $ 2626 $ 26678 $ 31,758 § 1,737 $ 29,611 $ 94904 $§ 98,082

Fixed rate term loans (b) — 250,000 — 200,000 120,000 150,000 720,000 720,000

Unsecured notes payable (c) — 100,000 — — 150,000 550,000 800,000 822,883

Total fixed rate debt 2,494 352,626 26,678 231,758 271,737 729,611 1,614,904 1,640,965
Variable rate debt:

Variable rate revolving line of credit — — 18,000 — — — 18,000 18,000
Total debt (d) $ 2494 $352,626 $ 44,678  $231,758  $271,737 $ 729,611 $1,632,904  $ 1,658,965
Weighted average interest rate on debt:

Fixed rate debt 4.38% 3.47% 4.81% 4.06% 3.83% 4.02% 3.89%
Variable rate debt (e) — — 2.85% — — — 2.85%

Total 4.38% 3.47% 4.02% 4.06% 3.83% 4.02% 3.88%

(a) Excludes mortgage discount of $(493) and capitalized loan fees of $(256), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019.

(b) Excludes capitalized loan fees of $(3,477), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019. The following variable rate term
loans have been swapped to fixed rate debt: (i) $250,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 2.00% plus
a credit spread based on a leverage grid through January 5, 2021; (ii) $200,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a
fixed rate of 2.85% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through November 22, 2023; (iii) $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate
debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.68% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through July 17, 2024; and (iv) $150,000 of
LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.77% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through July 17,
2026. As of December 31, 2019, the applicable credit spread for (i), (ii) and (iii) was 1.20% and for (iv) was 1.50%.
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(c) Excludes discount of $(616) and capitalized loan fees of $(3,137), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019.
(d) The weighted average years to maturity of consolidated indebtedness was 4.7 years as of December 31, 2019.

(e) Represents interest rate as of December 31, 2019.

We plan on addressing our debt maturities through a combination of cash flows from operations, working capital, capital markets
transactions and our unsecured revolving line of credit.

Distributions and Equity Transactions

Our distributions of current and accumulated earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax purposes are taxable to shareholders,
generally, as ordinary income. Distributions in excess of these earnings and profits generally are treated as a non-taxable reduction
of the shareholders’ basis in the shares to the extent thereof (non-dividend distributions) and thereafter as taxable gain. We intend
to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Code generally requires that a REIT annually distributes
to its shareholders at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding
net capital gains. The Code imposes tax on any undistributed REIT taxable income.

To satisfy the requirements for qualification as a REIT and generally not be subject to U.S. federal income and excise tax, we
intend to make regular quarterly distributions of all, or substantially all, of our taxable income to shareholders. Our future
distributions will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors. When determining the amount of future distributions, we expect
to consider, among other factors, (i) the amount of cash generated from our operating activities, (ii) our expectations of future cash
flow, (iii) our determination of near-term cash needs for debt repayments and potential future share repurchases, (iv) the market
of available acquisitions of new properties and redevelopment, expansion and pad development opportunities, (v) the timing of
significant re-leasing activities and the establishment of additional cash reserves for anticipated tenant allowances and general
property capital improvements, (vi) our ability to continue to access additional sources of capital, and (vii) the amount required
to be distributed to maintain our status as a REIT, which is a requirement of our Unsecured Credit Agreement, and to avoid or
minimize any income and excise taxes that we otherwise would be required to pay. Under certain circumstances, we may be
required to make distributions in excess of cash available for distribution in order to meet the REIT distribution requirements.

In December 2015, our board of directors authorized a common stock repurchase program under which we may repurchase, from
time to time, up to a maximum of $250,000 of shares of our Class A common stock. In December 2017, our board of directors
authorized a $250,000 increase to the common stock repurchase program. The shares may be repurchased in the open market or
in privately negotiated transactions and are canceled upon repurchase. The timing and actual number of shares repurchased will
depend on a variety of factors, including price in absolute terms and in relation to the value of our assets, corporate and regulatory
requirements, market conditions and other corporate liquidity requirements and priorities. The common stock repurchase program
may be suspended or terminated at any time without prior notice. We did not repurchase any shares during the year ended December
31, 2019. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we repurchased 6,341 and 17,683 shares, respectively, at an
average price per share of $11.80 and $12.82, respectively, for a total of $74,952 and $227,102, respectively. As of December 31,
2019, $189,105 remained available for repurchases of shares of our Class A common stock under our common stock repurchase
program.

Capital Expenditures and Redevelopment Activity

We anticipate that obligations related to capital improvements and redevelopments, including expansions and pad developments,
in 2020 can be met with cash flows from operations, working capital, capital markets transactions and our unsecured revolving
line of credit.

As of December 31, 2019, we have active expansion and redevelopment projects at Circle East, One Loudoun Downtown and
Carillon. We have invested a total of approximately $42,000 in these projects, which is net of proceeds of $11,820 from the sale
of air rights at Circle East and net of contributions from our joint venture partners at One Loudoun Downtown and Carillon. These
projects are at various stages of completion, and based on our current plans and estimates, we anticipate that it will require
approximately $319,000 to $352,000 of additional investment from us to complete these projects. In addition, we have a near-
term expansion project at The Shoppes at Quarterfield and a vacant pad development at Southlake Town Square that we anticipate
commencing in 2020 and will require approximately $11,000 to $13,000 of investment.

We capitalized $3,730, $2,128 and $1,202 of indirect project costs, which includes $1,414, $1,123 and $268 of internal salaries
and related benefits of personnel directly involved in the expansion and redevelopment projects and $1,594, $462 and $485 of
interest, related to expansion and redevelopment projects during the years ended December 31,2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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In addition, we capitalized $2,685, $2,032 and $1,187 of internal salaries and related benefits of personnel directly involved in
capital projects and tenant improvements during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. We also
capitalized $359, $384 and $368 of internal leasing incentives, all of which were incremental to signed leases, during the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Dispositions

The following table highlights our property dispositions during 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Number of Square Aggregate Debt
Properties Sold (a) Footage Consideration Proceeds, Net (b) Extinguished
2019 Dispositions 2 236,100 $ 44,750 $ 39,594 $ —
2018 Dispositions 10 1,831,200 $ 201,400 $ 184,109 $ 10,750
2017 Dispositions 47 5,810,700 $ 917,808 $ 896,301 $ 27,353 (c)

(a) 2018 dispositions include the disposition of Crown Theater, which was classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2017. 2017 dispositions
include the dispositions of CVS Pharmacy — Sylacauga and Century I1I Plaza, including the Home Depot parcel, both of which were classified
as held for sale as of December 31, 2016.

(b) Represents total consideration net of transaction costs, as well as capital and tenant-related costs credited to the buyer at close, as applicable.

2017 dispositions include proceeds of $54,087, which were temporarily restricted related to potential 1031 Exchanges as of December 31,
2017.

(c) Excludes $214,505 of mortgages payable repayments or defeasances completed prior to disposition of the respective property for the year
ended December 31, 2017.

In addition to the transactions presented in the preceding table, during the year ended December 31,2019, we received net proceeds
of $5,062 in connection with the second and third phases of the sale of a land parcel, which included rights to develop 22 residential
units, at One Loudoun Downtown. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we also received (i) net proceeds of $11,820 in
connection with the sale of air rights at Circle East, (ii) net proceeds of $1,789 in connection with the sale of the first phase of a
land parcel, which included rights to develop eight residential units, at One Loudoun Downtown, and (iii) proceeds of $169 from
a condemnation award. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we also received net proceeds of $155 from other transactions,
including escrow funds related to a property disposition and a condemnation award.

Acquisitions

The following table highlights our asset acquisitions during 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Number of
Assets Acquired Square Footage Acquisition Price Mortgage Debt
2019 Acquisitions (a) 3 73,600 $ 29,976 $ —
2018 Acquisition (b) 1 — $ 25,000 $ —
2017 Acquisitions (c) 10 443,800 $ 202,915 $ =

(a) In addition to the acquisition of one multi-tenant retail operating property, 2019 acquisitions include the purchase of the following that did
not affect our property count: (i) a parcel adjacent to our Paradise Valley Marketplace multi-tenant retail operating property and (ii) a single-
user parcel at our Southlake Town Square multi-tenant retail operating property.

(b) 2018 acquisition is One Loudoun Uptown, a 58-acre land parcel, which contains 32 acres that are developable, located adjacent to our One
Loudoun Downtown multi-tenant retail operating property. The total number of properties in our portfolio was not affected by this transaction.

(c) In addition to the acquisition of three multi-tenant retail operating properties, 2017 acquisitions include the purchase of the following that
did not affect our property count: (i) the fee interest in our Carillon multi-tenant retail property that was previously subject to a ground lease
with a third party, (ii) the remaining five phases under contract, including the development rights for additional residential units, at our One
Loudoun Downtown multi-tenant retail operating property that were acquired in phases as the seller completed construction on stand-alone
buildings at the property, and (iii) a multi-tenant retail outparcel located at our Southlake Town Square multi-tenant retail operating property.
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Summary of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 Change

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 231,491 $ 204,163 $ 27,328

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (90,302) 87,275 (177,577)
Net cash used in financing activities (146,343) (358,172) 211,829

Decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (5,154) (66,734) 61,580

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of year 19,601 86,335

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of year $ 14,447 $ 19,601

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities consist primarily of net income from property operations, adjusted for the following, among
others: (i) depreciation and amortization, (ii) provision for impairment of investment properties and (iii) gain on sales of investment
properties. Net cash provided by operating activities in 2019 increased $27,328 primarily due to the following:

* a$%$4,954 increase in NOI, consisting of an increase in Same Store NOI of $8,411, partially offset by a decrease in NOI
from properties that were sold or held for sale in 2018 and 2019 and other properties not included in our same store
portfolio of $3,457; and

» ordinary course fluctuations in working capital accounts;
partially offset by
* a$1,661 increase in cash paid for leasing fees and inducements;
* a$1,230 increase in cash paid for interest, excluding debt prepayment fees; and
* a$514 increase in cash bonuses paid.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities consist primarily of cash paid to purchase investment properties and fund capital expenditures,
tenant improvements and developments in progress, net of proceeds from the sales of investment properties. Net cash flows from
investing activities in 2019 decreased $177,577 due to the following:

¢ a$153,231 decrease in proceeds from the sales of investment properties;
* a$17,244 increase in investment in developments in progress;

* a$4,441 increase in cash paid to purchase investment properties; and

* a$2,661 increase in capital expenditures and tenant improvements.

In 2020, we expect to fund redevelopment, expansion and pad development activities, capital expenditures and tenant improvements
through cash flows generated from operations, working capital, capital markets transactions and our unsecured revolving line of
credit.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows used in financing activities primarily consist of (i) repayments of our unsecured revolving line of credit and unsecured
term loans, (ii) distribution payments, (iii) principal payments on mortgages payable, (iv) debt prepayment costs, (v) payment of
loan fees and deposits and (vi) shares repurchased through our common stock repurchase program, partially offset by proceeds
from our unsecured revolving line of credit and the issuance of debt instruments. Net cash flows used in financing activities in
2019 decreased $211,829 primarily due to the following:

* 2 $270,000 increase in proceeds from the issuance of the Term Loan Due 2024 and the Term Loan Due 2026 during the
year ended December 31, 2019. No such proceeds were received in 2018;
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* a $100,000 increase in proceeds from the issuance of unsecured notes payable to institutional investors in a private
placement transaction during the year ended December 31, 2019. No such proceeds were received in 2018;

* a$100,000 decrease in repayments of unsecured term loans resulting from the repayment of our unsecured term loan due
2018 during the year ended December 31, 2018. No such repayments were made in 2019;

* a$74,952 decrease in cash paid to repurchase common shares through our common stock repurchase program resulting
from the common stock repurchased in 2018. No such repurchases were completed in 2019;

* a$3,805 decrease in distributions paid as a result of a decrease in common shares outstanding due to the repurchase of
common shares through our common stock repurchase program in 2018; and

* a3$3,435 decrease in the payment of loan fees and deposits;
partially offset by

* a$312,000 change in the activity on our unsecured revolving line of credit from net borrowings of $57,000 during the
year ended December 31, 2018 compared to net repayments of $255,000 during the year ended December 31, 2019;

* a$28,758 increase in principal payments on mortgages payable; and
* a$2,360 increase in debt prepayment fees.

In 2020, we plan to continue to address our debt maturities through a combination of cash flows from operations, working capital
and our unsecured revolving line of credit.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Contractual Obligations

The following table presents our obligations and commitments to make future payments under our debt obligations and lease
agreements as of December 31, 2019 and excludes the following:

* the impact of any 2020 debt activity;
« recorded debt discounts and capitalized loan fees, which are not obligations;

+ obligations related to developments, redevelopments, expansions and pad developments as well as recurring capital
additions, as payments are only due upon satisfactory performance under the contracts; and

* letters of credit totaling $291 that serve as collateral for certain capital improvements at one of our properties, which will
be satisfied upon completion of the project.

Payment due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
1 year (b) years (c) years (d) 5 years (e) Total
Long-term debt (a):
Fixed rate $ 2,494 $ 379,304 $ 503,495 $ 729,611 $ 1,614,904
Variable rate — 18,000 — — 18,000
Interest (f) 63,672 103,400 82,104 58,862 308,038
Operating lease obligations (g) 6,152 12,438 11,800 247,798 278,188
$ 72,318 $ 513,142 $ 597,399 $ 1,036,271 § 2219130

(a) Fixed rate amounts for each year include scheduled principal amortization payments. Interest payments related to variable rate debt were
calculated using interest rates as of December 31, 2019.

(b) Weplanonaddressing our 2020 scheduled principal payments on our mortgages payable through a combination of cash flows from operations,
working capital and our unsecured revolving line of credit.
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(c) Included in fixed rate debt is $250,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate through three interest rate
swaps through January 2021.

(d) Included in fixed rate debt is (i) $200,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate through two interest rate
swaps through November 2023 and (ii) $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate through three
interest rate swaps through July 2024.

(e) Included in fixed rate debt is $150,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate through three interest rate
swaps through July 2026.

(f) Represents expected interest payments on our consolidated debt obligations as of December 31, 2019, including any capitalized interest.

(g) We lease land under non-cancellable leases at certain of our properties expiring in various years from 2035 to 2073, not inclusive of any
available option period. In addition, unless we can purchase a fee interest in the underlying land or extend the terms of these leases before
or at their expiration, we will lose our interest in the improvements and the right to operate these properties. We lease office space under
non-cancellable leases expiring in various years from 2020 to 2023.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.
For example, significant estimates and assumptions have been made with respect to capitalization of development costs; provision
for impairment, including estimates of holding periods, capitalization rates and discount rates (where applicable); and initial
valuations and related amortization periods of deferred costs and intangibles, particularly with respect to property acquisitions.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following disclosure pertains to accounting policies and estimates we believe are most “critical” to the portrayal of our financial
condition and results of operations and require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. These judgments often result
from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. GAAP requires information in financial
statements about accounting principles, methods used and disclosures pertaining to significant estimates. This discussion addresses
our judgment pertaining to known trends, events or uncertainties which were taken into consideration upon the application of those
policies and the likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported upon taking into consideration different conditions
and assumptions.

Acquisition of Investment Property

We allocate the purchase price of each acquired investment property accounted for as an asset acquisition based upon the relative
fair value of the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which generally include (i) land, (ii) building and other
improvements, (iii) in-place lease value intangibles, (iv) acquired above and below market lease intangibles, (v) any assumed
financing that is determined to be above or below market and (vi) the value of customer relationships. Asset acquisitions do not
give rise to goodwill and the related transaction costs are capitalized and included with the allocated purchase price.

For tangible assets acquired, including land, building and other improvements, we consider available comparable market and
industry information in estimating the acquisition date fair value. We allocate a portion of the purchase price to the estimated
acquired in-place lease value intangibles based on estimated lease execution costs for similar leases as well as lost rental payments
during an assumed lease-up period. We also evaluate each acquired lease as compared to current market rates. If an acquired lease
is determined to be above or below market, we allocate a portion of the purchase price to such above or below market leases based
upon the present value of the difference between the contractual lease payments and estimated market rent payments over the
remaining lease term. Renewal periods are included within the lease term in the calculation of above and below market lease
intangibles if, based upon factors known at the acquisition date, market participants would consider it reasonably assured that the
lessee would exercise such options. Fair value estimates used in acquisition accounting, including the discount rate used, require
us to consider various factors, including, but not limited to, market knowledge, demographics, age and physical condition of the
property, geographic location, size and location of tenant spaces within the acquired investment property, and tenant profile.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our investment properties, including developments in progress, are reviewed for potential impairment at the end of each reporting
period or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. At the end of each
reporting period, we separately determine whether impairment indicators exist for each property. Examples of situations considered
to be impairment indicators for both operating properties and developments in progress include, but are not limited to:

* asubstantial decline in or continued low occupancy rate or cash flow;
+  expected significant declines in occupancy in the near future;

»  continued difficulty in leasing space;

» asignificant concentration of financially troubled tenants;

+ areduction in anticipated holding period,

e a cost accumulation or delay in project completion date significantly above and beyond the original development or
redevelopment estimate;

* asignificant decrease in market price not in line with general market trends; and
* any other quantitative or qualitative events or factors deemed significant by our management or board of directors.

If the presence of one or more impairment indicators as described above is identified at the end of a reporting period or at any
point throughout the year with respect to a property, the asset is tested for recoverability by comparing its carrying value to the
estimated future undiscounted cash flows. An investment property is considered to be impaired when the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows are less than its current carrying value. When performing a test for recoverability or estimating the fair
value of an impaired investment property, we make certain complex or subjective assumptions that include, but are not limited to:

*  projected operating cash flows considering factors such as vacancy rates, rental rates, lease terms, tenant financial strength,
competitive positioning and property location;

« estimated holding period or various potential holding periods when considering probability-weighted scenarios;
+  projected capital expenditures and lease origination costs;

* estimated interest and internal costs expected to be capitalized, dates of construction completion and grand opening dates
for developments in progress;

*  projected cash flows from the eventual disposition of an operating property or development in progress;
e comparable selling prices; and
* aproperty-specific discount rate.

To the extent impairment has occurred, we will record an impairment charge calculated as the excess of the carrying value of the
asset over its estimated fair value.

Lease Income

We commence recognition of lease income on our leases based on a number of factors. In most cases, revenue recognition under
a lease begins when the lessee takes possession or controls the physical use of the leased asset. Generally, this occurs on the lease
commencement date. At lease commencement, we expect that collectibility is probable for all of our leases due to the
creditworthiness analysis performed by us before entering into a new lease. Lease income, for leases that have fixed and measurable
rent escalations, is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease. The difference between such lease income earned
and the cash rent due under the provisions of a lease is recorded as deferred rent receivable and is included as a component of
“Accounts and notes receivable” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Certain leases provide for percentage rent based primarily on tenant sales volume. We recognize percentage rent when the specified
target (i.e. breakpoint) that triggers the percentage rent is achieved.

Also, most leases provide for the reimbursement of the tenant’s pro rata share of certain operating expenses incurred by the landlord
including, among others, real estate taxes, insurance, utilities, common area maintenance and management fees, subject to the
terms of the respective lease. Certain other tenants are subject to net leases where the tenant is responsible for paying base rent to
us but is directly responsible for other costs associated with occupancy, such a real estate taxes. Expenses paid directly by the
tenant rather than the landlord are not included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive
(loss) income. Expenses paid by the landlord, subject to reimbursement by the tenant, are included within “Operating expenses”
or “Real estate taxes” and reimbursements are included within “Lease income” along with the associated base rent in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.

We made an accounting policy election to not separate non-lease components (primarily reimbursement of common area
maintenance costs) from the related lease components as (i) the fixed non-lease components have the same timing and pattern of
transfer as the associated lease component, (ii) the lease component, if accounted for separately, would be classified as an operating
lease and (iii) we consider the lease component to be the predominant component of the combined contract. Reimbursements from
tenants for recoverable operating expenses are recognized within “Lease income” in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.

In addition, we record lease termination fee income when (i) a termination letter agreement is signed, (ii) all of the conditions of
such agreement have been fulfilled, (iii) the tenant is no longer occupying the property and (iv) collectibility is reasonably assured.
Upon early lease termination, we provide for losses related to recognized tenant specific intangibles and other assets or adjust the
remaining useful life of the assets if determined to be appropriate.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements — Prior to 2020

Effective January 1, 2019, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, Leases. This new guidance, including related
ASUs that were subsequently issued, requires lessees to recognize a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use lease
(ROU) asset, initially measured at the present value of lease payments, for both operating and financing leases. For leases with a
term of 12 months or less, lessees are permitted to make an accounting policy election, by class of underlying asset, to not recognize
lease liabilities and lease assets. The guidance allows lessees and lessors to make an accounting policy election, by class of
underlying asset, to not separate non-lease components from lease components. The guidance also provides an optional transition
method that would allow entities to initially apply the new guidance in the period of adoption, recognizing a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings, if necessary, and provides a package of three practical expedients whereby
companies are not required to reassess (i) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) the lease classification
(operating vs. capital/financing leases) for any expired or existing leases and (iii) initial direct costs for any existing leases (Package
of Three Practical Expedients), as well as practical expedients whereby companies are not required to reassess whether land
easements contain a lease and can use hindsight in determining the lease term and assessing impairment of the ROU asset. The
guidance requires changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables to be presented as an adjustment to revenue rather than
the previous presentation within “Operating expenses” on the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive
(loss) income. Finally, only incremental direct leasing costs may be capitalized under the new guidance, which is consistent with
our previous policies.

We adopted this new guidance on January 1, 2019, applied the requirements as of that date, made an accounting policy election
to not separate non-lease components from lease components for all classes of assets, and elected the Package of Three Practical
Expedients as well as the practical expedient related to not reassessing whether land easements contain a lease. We did not elect
the practical expedient related to hindsight for determining the lease term or assessing impairment of ROU assets. There was no
retained earnings adjustment as a result of the adoption. The guidance regarding capitalization of leasing costs did not have any
effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Upon adoption, we recognized lease liabilities and ROU assets of $103,432 for operating leases where we are the lessee related
to long-term ground leases and office leases, which are presented as “Right-of-use lease assets” and “Lease liabilities” in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The ROU assets are presented net of our existing straight-line ground rent liabilities
of $31,030 and acquired ground lease intangible liability of $11,898 as of January 1, 2019. For leases with a term of 12 months
or less, we made an accounting policy election to not recognize lease liabilities and lease assets.
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For leases where we are the lessor, as noted above, we made an accounting policy election to not separate non-lease components
from lease components for all classes of assets and have presented all lease-related revenues in a single line item, “Lease income,”
rather than the previous presentation that separated revenues between “Rental income,” “Tenant recovery income” and “Other
property income” in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income for the current and
comparative periods. This resulted in the reclassification of (i) $370,638 and $414,804 of revenue previously presented as “Rental
income,” (ii) $105,170 and $115,944 of revenue previously presented as “Tenant recovery income” and (iii) $6,689 and $7,391
of revenue previously presented as “Other property income” for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, into
“Lease income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income. In addition,
we began recording changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables as an adjustment to “Lease income” in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables are presented within “Operating expenses” in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.

Effective January 1, 2019, we adopted ASU 2018-16, Derivatives and Hedging, due to our early adoption of ASU 2017-12,
Derivatives and Hedging. This new guidance permits use of the Overnight Index Swap (OIS) Rate based on the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (SOFR) as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for hedge accounting purposes. SOFR represents the fifth permissible
U.S. benchmark rate in addition to the following current eligible benchmark interest rates: (i) direct Treasury obligations of the
U.S. government (UST), (ii) the LIBOR swap rate, (iii) the OIS Rate based on the Fed Funds Effective Rate and (iv) the Securities
Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) Municipal Swap Rate. The adoption of this pronouncement did not have
any effect on our consolidated financial statements as we did not change our benchmark rate.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements — 2020

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses. This new guidance was effective January
1, 2020 and replaces the current incurred loss impairment methodology with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses.
Financial assets that are measured at amortized cost are required to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected with
an allowance for credit losses deducted from the amortized cost basis. In addition, an entity must consider broader information in
developing its expected credit loss estimate, including the use of forecasted information. In November 2018, the FASB issued
ASU 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses, which clarifies that receivables
arising from operating leases are not within the scope of this new guidance. Generally, the pronouncement requires a modified
retrospective method of adoption. The adoption of this pronouncement on January 1, 2020 did not have any effect on our consolidated
financial statements as we did not have any financial assets within the scope of this guidance.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement. This new guidance was effective January 1, 2020 and
provides new and, in some cases, eliminates or modifies the existing disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. Public
entities are now required to disclose the following: (i) the changes in unrealized gains and losses for the period included in other
comprehensive income for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of the reporting period and (ii) the range and
weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements. In addition, public entities
are no longer required to disclose the following: (i) the amount of and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy, (ii) the policy for timing of transfers between levels and (iii) the valuation processes for Level 3 fair value
measurements. The new pronouncement also clarifies and modifies certain existing provisions to promote the appropriate exercise
of discretion by entities when considering fair value measurement disclosures and clarifies that materiality is an appropriate
consideration when evaluating disclosure requirements. As permitted by the new pronouncement, we removed the discussion of
our valuation processes for Level 3 fair value measurements. We did not remove any other disclosures as we did not have any
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the current and comparative periods. The adoption of this pronouncement
on January 1, 2020 did not have any effect on our consolidated financial statements. The amended disclosure guidance will be
applied prospectively.

Inflation

Certain of our leases contain provisions designed to mitigate the adverse impact of inflation. Such provisions include clauses
enabling us to receive payment of additional rent calculated as a percentage of tenants’ gross sales above predetermined thresholds,
which generally increase as prices rise, and/or escalation clauses, which generally increase rental rates during the terms of the
leases. While most escalation clauses are fixed in nature, some may include increases based upon changes in the consumer price
index or similar inflation indices. In addition, many of our leases are for terms of less than 10 years, which permits us to seek to
increase rents to market rates upon renewal. Most of our leases require the tenant to pay an allocable share of operating expenses,
including common area maintenance costs, real estate taxes and insurance, thereby reducing our exposure to increases in costs
and operating expenses resulting from inflation.
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Subsequent Events

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, we:

closed on the disposition of King Philip’s Crossing, a 105,900 square foot multi-tenant retail operating property located
in Seekonk, Massachusetts, for a sales price of $13,900 with no anticipated gain on sale or additional impairment due to
previously recognized impairment charges;

closed on the acquisition of the fee interest in Fullerton Metrocenter, our existing multi-tenant retail operating property
located in Fullerton, California, for a gross purchase price of $55,000. In connection with this acquisition, we also assumed
the lessor position in a ground lease with a shadow anchor;

granted 116 restricted shares at a grant date fair value of $13.07 per share and 331 RSUs at a grant date fair value of
$13.67 per RSU to our executives in conjunction with our long-term equity compensation plan. The restricted shares will
vest over three years and the RSUs granted are subject to a three-year performance period. Refer to Note 5 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional details regarding the terms of the RSUs;

issued 105 shares of common stock and 175 restricted shares with a one year vesting term for the RSUs with a performance
period that concluded on December 31, 2019. An additional 43 shares of common stock were also issued for dividends
that would have been paid on the common stock and restricted shares during the performance period; and

declared the cash dividend for the first quarter of 2020 of $0.165625 per share on our outstanding Class A common stock,
which will be paid on April 9, 2020 to Class A common shareholders of record at the close of business on March 26,
2020.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We may be exposed to interest rate changes primarily as a result of our long-term debt that is used to maintain liquidity and fund
our operations. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash
flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. To achieve our objectives, we borrow primarily at fixed rates, and in some cases
at variable rates with the ability to convert to fixed rates.

With regard to variable rate financing, we assess interest rate cash flow risk by continually identifying and monitoring changes in
interest rate exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities. We maintain
risk management control systems to monitor interest rate cash flow risk attributable to both our outstanding or forecasted debt
obligations as well as our potential offsetting hedge positions. The risk management control systems involve the use of analytical
techniques, including cash flow sensitivity analysis, to estimate the expected impact of changes in interest rates on our future cash
flows.

As of December 31,2019, we had $720,000 of variable rate debt based on LIBOR that has been swapped to fixed rate debt through
interest rate swaps. Our interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2019 are summarized in the following table:

Fair Value of

Notional Derivative
Amount Maturity Date Liability
Unsecured credit facility term loan due 2021 $ 250,000 January 5, 2021 $ 1,005
Term Loan Due 2023 200,000 November 22, 2023 9,656
Term Loan Due 2024 120,000 July 17, 2024 499
Term Loan Due 2026 150,000 July 17,2026 1,128
$ 720,000 $ 12,288

Adecrease of 1% in market interest rates would result in a hypothetical increase in our derivative liability of approximately $25,065.
The combined carrying amount of our debt is approximately $34,040 lower than the fair value as of December 31, 2019.

We may use additional derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates. To the extent we do, we
are exposed to market and credit risk. Market risk is the adverse effect on the value of a financial instrument that results from a
change in interest rates. The market risk associated with interest rate contracts is managed by establishing and monitoring parameters
that limit the types and degree of market risk that may be undertaken. Credit risk is the failure of the counterparty to perform under
the terms of the derivative contract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty owes us, which creates
credit risk for us. When the fair value of a derivative contract is negative, we owe the counterparty and, therefore, we generally
are not exposed to the credit risk of the counterparty. We minimize credit risk in derivative instruments by entering into transactions
with highly rated counterparties or with the same party providing the financing, with the right of offset.

When LIBOR is discontinued, the interest rate for certain of our debt instruments, including our unsecured credit facility term
loan due 2021, unsecured credit facility revolving line of credit, Term Loan Due 2023, Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due
2026, and interest rate swap agreements that are indexed to LIBOR will be based on a replacement rate or an alternate base rate
as specified in the applicable documentation governing such debt or swaps or as otherwise agreed upon. Such an event would not
affect our ability to borrow or maintain already outstanding borrowings or swaps, but the replacement rate or alternate base rate
could be higher or more volatile than LIBOR prior to its discontinuation. We understand that LIBOR is expected to remain available
through the end of 2021.
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Debt Maturities

Our interest rate risk is monitored using a variety of techniques. The following table summarizes the scheduled maturities and
principal amortization of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2019, for each of the next five years and thereafter and the weighted
average interest rates by year, as well as the fair value of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2019. The table does not reflect the
impact of any 2020 debt activity.

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Debt:
Fixed rate debt:

Mortgages payable (a) $ 2494 $ 2626 $ 26678 $ 31,758 § 1,737 $ 29,611 $ 94904 $ 98,082

Fixed rate term loans (b) — 250,000 — 200,000 120,000 150,000 720,000 720,000

Unsecured notes payable (c) — 100,000 — — 150,000 550,000 800,000 822,883

Total fixed rate debt 2,494 352,626 26,678 231,758 271,737 729,611 1,614,904 1,640,965
Variable rate debt:

Variable rate revolving line of credit — — 18,000 — — — 18,000 18,000
Total debt (d) $ 2,494 §$352,626 $ 44,678  $231,758  $271,737  § 729,611 $1,632,904  $ 1,658,965
Weighted average interest rate on debt:

Fixed rate debt 4.38% 3.47% 4.81% 4.06% 3.83% 4.02% 3.89%
Variable rate debt (e) — — 2.85% — — — 2.85%

Total 4.38% 3.47% 4.02% 4.06% 3.83% 4.02% 3.88%

(a) Excludes mortgage discount of $(493) and capitalized loan fees of $(256), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019.

(b) Excludes capitalized loan fees of $(3,477), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019. The following variable rate term
loans have been swapped to fixed rate debt: (i) $250,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 2.00% plus
a credit spread based on a leverage grid through January 5, 2021; (ii) $200,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a
fixed rate of 2.85% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through November 22, 2023; (iii) $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate
debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.68% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through July 17, 2024; and (iv) $150,000 of
LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.77% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through July 17,
2026. As of December 31, 2019, the applicable credit spread for (i), (ii) and (iii) was 1.20% and for (iv) was 1.50%.

(c) Excludes discount of $(616) and capitalized loan fees of $(3,137), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019.
(d) The weighted average years to maturity of consolidated indebtedness was 4.7 years as of December 31, 2019.

(e) Represents interest rate as of December 31, 2019.

We had $18,000 of variable rate debt, excluding $720,000 of variable rate debt that has been swapped to fixed rate debt, with an
interest rate of 2.85% based upon LIBOR as of December 31, 2019. An increase in the variable interest rate on this debt constitutes
a market risk. If interest rates increase by 1% based on debt outstanding as of December 31, 2019, interest expense would increase
by approximately $180 on an annualized basis.

The table incorporates only those interest rate exposures that existed as of December 31, 2019 and does not consider those interest
rate exposures or positions that could arise after that date. The information presented herein is merely an estimate and has limited
predictive value. As a result, the ultimate realized gain or loss with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on the interest
rate exposures that arise during future periods, our hedging strategies at that time and future changes in interest rates.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Retail Properties of America, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31,2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss)
income, equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and the
schedules listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements™). In our opinion, the financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 19, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Real Estate Investment Properties — Determination of Impairment Indicators — Refer to Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s evaluation of real estate investment properties for impairment involves an initial assessment of each investment
property to determine whether events or changes in circumstances exist that may indicate that the carrying amounts of investment
properties are no longer recoverable. Possible indications of impairment may include current events or anticipated future changes
in circumstances affecting occupancy, leasing, hold periods, and changes in market conditions. When events or changes in
circumstances are identified, a property is tested for recoverability by comparing its carrying value to its estimated future
undiscounted cash flows. If the carrying amount of a property exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows, an analysis
is performed to determine the fair value of the property.
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The Company makes significant assumptions in its consideration of events or changes in circumstances to identify whether there
are indications of impairment. Changes in these assumptions could have a significant impact on the investment properties identified
for further analysis. The total investment properties balance as of December 31, 2019 was $3.3 billion, following impairment
losses recorded in 2019 of $12.3 million.

We identified the Company’s consideration of impairment indicators for its investment properties as a critical audit matter because
of the significant assumptions management makes in its consideration of whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred
that indicate the carrying amounts of investment properties may not be recoverable. This required a high degree of auditor judgment
when performing audit procedures to evaluate whether management appropriately identified impairment indicators.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the assessment of investment properties for possible indications of impairment included the
following, among others:

*  We tested the effectiveness of the controls over management’s identification of possible circumstances that may indicate
the carrying amounts of investment properties are no longer recoverable, including controls over management’s estimates.

*  We evaluated management’s impairment analysis by:

o Testing real estate assets for possible indications of impairment, including searching for adverse asset-specific
and/or market conditions.

o Developing an independent expectation of impairment indicators and comparing such expectation to
management’s analysis.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 19, 2020

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009.

50



RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value amounts)

Assets

Investment properties:
Land
Building and other improvements
Developments in progress

Less: accumulated depreciation

Net investment properties (includes $12,445 and $0 from consolidated
variable interest entities, respectively)

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and notes receivable, net
Acquired lease intangible assets, net
Right-of-use lease assets

Other assets, net (includes $164 and $1,264 from consolidated
variable interest entities, respectively)

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity

Liabilities:
Mortgages payable, net
Unsecured notes payable, net
Unsecured term loans, net
Unsecured revolving line of credit
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Distributions payable
Acquired lease intangible liabilities, net
Lease liabilities

Other liabilities (includes $1,707 and $428 from consolidated
variable interest entities, respectively)

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding

Class A common stock, $0.001 par value, 475,000 shares authorized, 213,600 and 213,176
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated distributions in excess of earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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December 31,

December 31,

2019 2018
$ 1,021,829 $ 1,036,901
3,544,582 3,607,484
113,353 48,369
4,679,764 4,692,754
(1,383,274) (1,313,602)
3,296,490 3,379,152
9,989 14,722

73,832 78,398

79,832 97,090

50,241 —

75,978 78,108

$ 3,586,362

$ 3,647,470

$ 94,155 § 205320
796,247 696,362
716,523 447,367

18,000 273,000
78,902 82,942
35,387 35,387
63,578 86,543
91,129 —
56,368 73,540
1,950,289 1,900,461
214 213
4,510,484 4,504,702
(2,865,933) (2,756,802)
(12,288) (1,522)
1,632,477 1,746,591
3,596 418
1,636,073 1,747,009

$ 3,586,362

$ 3,647,470




RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Lease income

Expenses:
Operating expenses
Real estate taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for impairment of investment properties
General and administrative expenses
Total expenses

Other (expense) income:

Interest expense

Gain on sales of investment properties

Other (expense) income, net

Net income

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to the Company

Preferred stock dividends

Net income attributable to common shareholders

Earnings per common share — basic and diluted:

Net income per common share attributable to common shareholders

Net income
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Net unrealized (loss) gain on derivative instruments (Note 8)

Comprehensive income attributable to the Company

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
$ 481,686 $ 482,497 $ 538,139
68,396 74,885 84,556
73,247 73,683 82,755
194,573 175,977 203,866
12,298 2,079 67,003
40,489 42,363 40,724
389,003 368,987 478,904
(76,571) (73,746) (146,092)
18,872 37,211 337,975
(2,587) 665 373
32,397 77,640 251,491
32,397 77,640 251,491
— — (13,867)
$ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ 237,624
$ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ 251,491
(10,766) (2,608) 352
212,948 217,830 230,747
213,198 218,231 230,927
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for impairment of investment properties
Gain on sales of investment properties
Amortization of loan fees and debt premium and discount, net
Amortization of stock-based compensation
Premium paid in connection with defeasance of mortgages payable
Debt prepayment fees
Payment of leasing fees and inducements
Changes in accounts receivable, net
Changes in right-of-use lease assets
Changes in accounts payable and accrued expenses, net
Changes in lease liabilities
Changes in other operating assets and liabilities, net
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investment properties
Capital expenditures and tenant improvements
Proceeds from sales of investment properties
Investment in developments in progress

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on mortgages payable
Proceeds from unsecured notes payable
Proceeds from unsecured term loans
Repayments of unsecured term loans
Proceeds from unsecured revolving line of credit
Repayments of unsecured revolving line of credit
Payment of loan fees and deposits
Debt prepayment fees
Purchase of U.S. Treasury securities in connection with defeasance of mortgages payable
Redemption of preferred stock
Distributions paid
Shares repurchased through common stock repurchase program
Other, net
Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of year
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Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
$ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ 251,491
194,573 175,977 203,866
12,298 2,079 67,003
(18,872) (37,211) (337,975)
2,863 3,416 7,655
7,559 6,992 6,059
— — 59,968
8,151 5,791 8,498
(10,436) (8,775) (15,981)
4,830 (8,395) 962
1,923 — —
129 (6,398) 579
(630) — —
2,935 (672) (1,770)
(6,229) (6,281) (2,839)
231,491 204,163 247,516
(29,891) (25,450) (200,755)
(75,597) (72,936) (73,750)
44,656 197,887 896,456
(29,470) (12,226) (13,649)
(90,302) 87,275 608,302
(110,546) (81,788) (106,722)
100,000 — —
270,000 — 200,000
— (100,000) (100,000)
263,000 482,000 943,000
(518,000) (425,000) (813,000)
(2,519) (5,954) (10)
(8,151) (5,791) (8,498)
— — (439,403)
— — (135,000)
(141,528) (145,333) (163,684)
— (74,952) (227,102)
1,401 (1,354) (1,413)
(146,343) (358,172) (851,832)
(5,154) (66,734) 3,986
19,601 86,335 82,349
$ 14,447 § 19,601 § 86,335
(continued)



RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Supplemental cash flow disclosure, including non-cash activities:
Cash paid for interest, net of interest capitalized
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities
Distributions payable
Accrued capital expenditures and tenant improvements
Accrued leasing fees and inducements
Accrued redevelopment costs
Amounts reclassified into developments in progress
Developments in progress placed in service
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use lease assets
Straight-line ground rent liabilities reclassified to right-of-use lease asset
Straight-line office rent liability reclassified to right-of-use lease asset
Acquired ground lease intangible liability reclassified to right-of-use lease asset
U.S. Treasury securities transferred in connection with defeasance of mortgages payable

Defeasance of mortgages payable

Purchase of investment properties (after credits at closing):
Net investment properties
Accounts receivable, acquired lease intangibles and other assets
Accounts payable, acquired lease intangibles and other liabilities
Gain on exchange of investment property
Purchase of investment properties (after credits at closing)

Proceeds from sales of investment properties:
Net investment properties
Right-of-use lease assets
Accounts receivable, acquired lease intangibles and other assets
Lease liabilities
Accounts payable, acquired lease intangibles and other liabilities
Deferred gain
Gain on sales of investment properties
Proceeds from sales of investment properties

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of year:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash (included within “Other assets, net’)
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

$§ 74154 $ 70,564 § 78,327
$ 6,011 § — 8 —
$ 35387 $ 35387 $§ 36311
$ 7477 $ 16,007 $ 7,902
$ 1,903 § 530 $ 547
$ 2,185 $ 41 $ 750
$ 34746 $ — $ —
$ 1,377 § 11,997 $ —
$ 103,840 $ — 3 =
$ 31,030 $ — —
$ 507 $ — 3 —
$ 11,898 $ — 3 —
$ — $ — $ 439,403
O W 7Y
$ (28,486) $§ (25,450) $ (198,984)
(1,792) — (15,451)

387 — 11,156

— 2,524

$ (29.891) § (25450) $ (200,755)

$ 30,119 $ 156248 $ 556,129
8,242 = =
1,591 11,279 17,678
(11,326) = =
(2,842) (6,851) (11,316)

— — (1,486)
18,872 37211 335,451

$ 44656 S 197.887 $ 896,456

$ 998 § 14722 $ 25,185
4,458 4,879 61,150

$ 14447 S 19601 $ 86,335

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Retail Properties of America, Inc. (the Company) was formed on March 5, 2003 and its primary purpose is to own and operate
high quality, strategically located open-air shopping centers, including properties with a mixed-use component. As of December 31,
2019, the Company owned 104 retail operating properties in the United States.

The Company has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (REIT) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the Code). The Company believes it qualifies for taxation as a REIT and, as such, the Company generally will not be subject to
U.S. federal income tax on taxable income that is distributed to its shareholders. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any
taxable year, the Company will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its taxable income. Even if the Company qualifies for
taxation as a REIT, the Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income, property or net worth and U.S.
federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income. The Company has one wholly owned subsidiary that has jointly
elected to be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary (TRS) and is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes at regular
corporate tax rates. The income tax expense incurred by the TRS did not have a material impact on the Company’s accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP)
requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. For example, significant estimates and assumptions have
been made with respect to provision for impairment, including estimates of holding periods, capitalization rates and discount rates
(where applicable), and initial valuations and related amortization periods of deferred costs and intangibles, particularly with
respect to property acquisitions and initial recognition of right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 205, Presentation of Financial Statements, certain prior year balances
have been reclassified in order to conform to the current period presentation. Specifically, all lease-related revenues have been
presented in a single line item, “Lease income,” rather than the previous presentation which separated revenues between “Rental
income,” “Tenant recovery income” and “Other property income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
other comprehensive (loss) income. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

All share amounts and dollar amounts in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are stated in thousands with the
exception of per share, per square foot and per unit amounts. Square foot and per square foot amounts are unaudited.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, as well as all wholly owned subsidiaries
and consolidated variable interest entities (VIEs). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Wholly owned subsidiaries generally consist of limited liability companies, limited partnerships and statutory trusts.

The Company’s property ownership as of December 31, 2019 is summarized below:

Property Count
Retail operating properties 104
Expansion and redevelopment projects:
Circle East (a) 1
One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H (b) —
Carillon 1
Total number of properties 106

(a) The redevelopment at Circle East is no longer combined with the Company’s neighboring property Towson Square, which
increased the Company’s redevelopment property count by one. There was no change to the property count of retail operating
properties as Towson Square remains within the Company’s retail operating portfolio.

(b) The operating portion of this property is included within the property count for retail operating properties.

56



RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture related to the redevelopment project at
Carillon. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company entered into two joint venture agreements related to expansion
and redevelopment projects at One Loudoun Downtown and Carillon. The joint ventures are considered VIEs and the Company
is considered the primary beneficiary. As such, the Company has consolidated these joint ventures and presented the joint venture
partners’ interests as noncontrolling interests.

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investment Properties: Investment properties are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Ordinary repairs and maintenance
are expensed as incurred. Expenditures for significant improvements, including internal salaries and related benefits of personnel
directly involved in the improvements, are capitalized.

The Company allocates the purchase price of each acquired investment property accounted for as an asset acquisition based upon
the relative fair value of the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which generally include (i) land, (ii) building and
other improvements, (iii) in-place lease value intangibles, (iv) acquired above and below market lease intangibles, (v) any assumed
financing that is determined to be above or below market and (vi) the value of customer relationships. Asset acquisitions do not
give rise to goodwill and the related transaction costs are capitalized and included with the allocated purchase price.

For tangible assets acquired, including land, building and other improvements, the Company considers available comparable
market and industry information in estimating the acquisition date fair value. The Company allocates a portion of the purchase
price to the estimated acquired in-place lease value intangibles based on estimated lease execution costs for similar leases as well
as lost rental payments during an assumed lease-up period. The Company also evaluates each acquired lease as compared to current
market rates. If an acquired lease is determined to be above or below market, the Company allocates a portion of the purchase
price to such above or below market leases based upon the present value of the difference between the contractual lease payments
and estimated market rent payments over the remaining lease term. Renewal periods are included within the lease term in the
calculation of above and below market lease values if, based upon factors known at the acquisition date, market participants would
consider it reasonably assured that the lessee would exercise such options. Fair value estimates used in acquisition accounting,
including the discount rate used, require the Company to consider various factors, including, but not limited to, market knowledge,
demographics, age and physical condition of the property, geographic location, size and location of tenant spaces within the acquired
investment property, and tenant profile.

The portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired in-place lease value intangibles is amortized on a straight-line basis over
the life of the related lease as a component of depreciation and amortization expense. The Company incurred amortization expense
pertaining to acquired in-place lease value intangibles of $14,728, $21,014 and $25,284 for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, respectively.

With respect to acquired leases in which the Company is the lessor, the portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired above
and below market lease intangibles is amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the related lease as an adjustment to lease
income. Amortization pertaining to above market lease intangibles of $3,197, $4,403 and $4,696 for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was recorded as a reduction to lease income. Amortization pertaining to below market lease
intangibles of $8,626, $9,870 and $8,009 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was recorded as
an increase to lease income.

With respect to acquired leases in which the Company is the lessee, a lease liability is measured at the present value of the remaining
lease payments and the right-of-use lease (ROU) asset is initially measured as the same amount as the lease liability and adjusted
for any above or below market ground lease intangibles. Amortization pertaining to above market ground lease intangibles of $560
and $560 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was recorded as a reduction to operating expenses.
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RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following table presents the amortization during the next five years and thereafter related to the acquired lease intangible
assets and liabilities for properties owned as of December 31, 2019:

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total
Amortization of:
Acquired above market lease intangibles (a) $ 1,910 $ 1,418 § 1,150 $ 1,010 $§ 772 $ 2,393 § 8,653
Acquired in-place lease value intangibles (a) 10,461 9,471 8,267 7,105 6,291 29,584 71,179
Acquired lease intangible assets, net (b) $ 12371 $§ 10,889 § 9,417 ' $ 8,115 § 7,063 $ 31,977 $ 79,832

Acquired below market lease intangibles (a) ~ §  (5,513) $  (5,147) $  (4830) S  (4600) $  (4384) $ (39,104) $ (63,578)
Acquired lease intangible liabilities, net (b) $  (5513) $ (5,147) §  (4830) $§ (46000 $ (4384 $ (39,104) $ (63,578)

(a) Represents the portion of the purchase price with respect to acquired leases in which the Company is the lessor. The amortization of acquired
above and below market lease intangibles is recorded as an adjustment to lease income and the amortization of acquired in-place lease value
intangibles is recorded to depreciation and amortization expense.

(b) Acquired lease intangible assets, net and acquired lease intangible liabilities, net are presented net of $280,530 and $53,018 of accumulated
amortization, respectively, as of December 31, 2019.

Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line method. Building and other improvements are depreciated based upon
estimated useful lives of 30 years for building and associated improvements and 15 years for site improvements and most other
capital improvements. Tenant improvements and leasing fees, including capitalized internal leasing incentives, all of which are
incremental to signed leases, are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the related lease as a component of depreciation
and amortization expense. The Company capitalized internal salaries and related benefits of personnel directly involved in capital
projects and tenant improvements of $2,685, $2,032 and $1,187 during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. The
Company also capitalized $359, $384 and $368 of internal leasing incentives, all of which were incremental to signed leases,
during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company’s investment properties, including developments in progress, are reviewed for
potential impairment at the end of each reporting period or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable. At the end of each reporting period, the Company separately determines whether impairment
indicators exist for each property. Examples of situations considered to be impairment indicators for both operating properties and
developments in progress include, but are not limited to:

* asubstantial decline in or continued low occupancy rate or cash flow;
+ expected significant declines in occupancy in the near future;

*  continued difficulty in leasing space;

* asignificant concentration of financially troubled tenants;

+ areduction in anticipated holding period,

* a cost accumulation or delay in project completion date significantly above and beyond the original development or
redevelopment estimate;

* asignificant decrease in market price not in line with general market trends; and

* any other quantitative or qualitative events or factors deemed significant by the Company’s management or board of
directors.

If the presence of one or more impairment indicators as described above is identified at the end of a reporting period or at any
point throughout the year with respect to a property, the asset is tested for recoverability by comparing its carrying value to the
estimated future undiscounted cash flows. An investment property is considered to be impaired when the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows are less than its current carrying value. When performing a test for recoverability or estimating the fair
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value of an impaired investment property, the Company makes certain complex or subjective assumptions which include, but are
not limited to:

*  projected operating cash flows considering factors such as vacancy rates, rental rates, lease terms, tenant financial strength,
competitive positioning and property location;

+ estimated holding period or various potential holding periods when considering probability-weighted scenarios;
+ projected capital expenditures and lease origination costs;

+ estimated interest and internal costs expected to be capitalized, dates of construction completion and grand opening dates
for developments in progress;

* projected cash flows from the eventual disposition of an operating property or development in progress;
e comparable selling prices; and
* aproperty-specific discount rate.

To the extent impairment has occurred, the Company will record an impairment charge calculated as the excess of the carrying
value of the asset over its estimated fair value.

Below is a summary of impairment charges recorded during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Impairment of consolidated properties (a) $ 12,298 $ 2,079 $ 67,003

(a) Included within “Provision for impairment of investment properties” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other
comprehensive (loss) income.

The Company’s assessment of impairment as of December 31, 2019 was based on the most current information available to the
Company. If the operating conditions mentioned above deteriorate or if the Company’s expected holding period for assets change,
subsequent tests for impairment could result in additional impairment charges in the future. The Company can provide no assurance
that material impairment charges with respect to the Company’s investment properties will not occur in 2020 or future periods.
Based upon current market conditions, certain of the Company’s properties may have fair values less than their carrying amounts.
However, based on the Company’s plans with respect to those properties, the Company believes that their carrying amounts are
recoverable and therefore, under applicable GAAP guidance, no additional impairment charges were recorded. Accordingly, the
Company will continue to monitor circumstances and events in future periods to determine whether additional impairment charges
are warranted. Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Expansion and Redevelopment Projects: Active expansion and redevelopment projects are classified as developments in progress
on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and include (i) land held for development, (ii) ground-up developments and (iii)
redevelopment properties undergoing significant renovations and improvements. During the development period, the Company
capitalizes direct project costs such as construction, insurance, architectural and legal, as well as certain indirect project costs such
as interest, other financing costs, real estate taxes and internal salaries and related benefits of personnel directly involved in the
project. Capitalization of project costs begins when the activities and related expenditures commence and cease when the project,
or a portion of the project, is substantially complete and ready for its intended use, at which time the classification changes from
development to operating, the project is placed in service and depreciation commences. Generally, rental property is considered
substantially complete and ready for its intended use upon completion of tenant improvements, but no later than one year from
completion of major construction activity. A property is considered stabilized upon reaching 90% occupancy, but generally no
later than one year from completion of major construction activity.

The Company makes estimates as to the probability of completion of expansion and redevelopment projects. If the Company
determines that completion of the expansion or redevelopment project is no longer probable, the Company expenses any capitalized
costs that are not recoverable. The Company capitalized $3,730, $2,128 and $1,202 of indirect project costs related to expansions
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and redevelopment projects, including, among other costs, $1,414, $1,123 and $268 of internal salaries and related benefits of
personnel directly involved in the expansion and redevelopment projects and $1,594, $462 and $485 of interest, during the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Investment Properties Held for Sale: In determining whether to classify an investment property as held for sale, the Company
considers whether: (i) management has committed to a plan to sell the investment property; (ii) the investment property is available
for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that are usual and customary; (iii) the Company has initiated a
program to locate a buyer; (iv) the Company believes that the sale of the investment property is probable; (v) the Company is
actively marketing the investment property for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current value; and (vi) actions
required for the Company to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that any significant changes will be made.

If all of the above criteria are met, the Company classifies the investment property as held for sale. When these criteria are met,
the Company suspends depreciation (including depreciation for tenant improvements and building improvements) and amortization
ofacquired in-place lease value intangibles and any above or below market lease intangibles and the Company records the investment
property held for sale at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The assets and liabilities associated with those investment
properties that are classified as held for sale are presented separately on the consolidated balance sheets for the most recent reporting
period. No properties qualified for held for sale accounting treatment as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Partially-Owned Entities: The Company consolidates partially-owned entities if they are VIEs in accordance with the
Consolidation Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) and the
Company is considered the primary beneficiary, the Company has voting control, the limited partners (or non-managing members)
do not have substantive kick-out rights or substantive participating rights, or other conditions exist that indicate that the Company
has control. Management uses its judgment when determining if the Company is the primary beneficiary of, or has a controlling
financial interest in, an entity in which it has a variable interest, to determine whether the Company has the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and if it has significant economic exposure to the risk
and rewards of ownership. The Company assesses its interests in VIEs on an ongoing basis to determine if the entity should be
consolidated.

Noncontrolling interest is the portion of equity in a consolidated subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
In the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income, revenues, expenses and net income or loss
from less-than-wholly-owned consolidated subsidiaries are reported at the consolidated amounts, including both the amounts
attributable to common shareholders and noncontrolling interests. Consolidated statements of equity are included in the annual
financial statements, including beginning balances, activity for the period and ending balances for total shareholders’ equity,
noncontrolling interests and total equity. Noncontrolling interests are adjusted for additional contributions from and distributions
to noncontrolling interest holders, as well as the noncontrolling interest holders’ share of the net income or loss of each respective
entity, as applicable. The Company evaluates the classification and presentation of noncontrolling interests associated with
consolidated joint venture investments, if any, on an ongoing basis as facts and circumstances necessitate.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash: The Company considers all demand deposits, money market accounts and
investments in certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements purchased with a maturity of three months or less at the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at major financial institutions. The cash
and cash equivalents balance at one or more of these financial institutions exceeds the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) insurance coverage. The Company periodically assesses the credit risk associated with these financial institutions and
believes that the risk of loss is minimal.

Restricted cash consists of funds restricted through lender or other agreements, including funds held in escrow for future acquisitions,
funds related to our captive insurance company and potential Internal Revenue Code Section 1031 tax-deferred exchanges (1031
Exchanges), and are included as a component of “Other assets, net” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Derivative and Hedging Activities: Derivatives are recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at fair value within
“Other assets, net” and “Other liabilities.” The Company uses interest rate derivatives to manage differences in the amount, timing
and duration of the Company’s known or expected cash payments principally related to certain of its borrowings. The Company
does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. On the date the Company enters into a derivative, it may designate
the derivative as a hedge against the variability of cash flows that are to be paid in connection with a recognized liability. Subsequent
changes in fair value of a derivative that is designated and that qualifies as a cash flow hedge are recorded in “Accumulated other
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comprehensive loss” and are reclassified into interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s variable rate debt.
As of December 31,2019 and 2018, the balance in accumulated other comprehensive loss relating to derivatives was $12,288 and
$1,522, respectively.

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations: The Company evaluates the potential impact of conditional asset retirement obligations
on its consolidated financial statements. The term conditional asset retirement obligation refers to a legal obligation to perform an
asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be
within the entity’s control. Thus, the timing and/or method of settlement may be conditional on a future event. Based upon the
Company’s evaluation, no accrual of a liability for asset retirement obligations was warranted as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Lease Income and Accounts and Notes Receivable, Net: The Company is primarily a lessor of commercial retail space and the
majority of revenues from the Company’s properties consist of rents received under long-term operating leases, predominantly
consisting of base rent with designated increases over the term of the lease.

The Company commences recognition of lease income on its leases based on a number of factors. In most cases, revenue recognition
under a lease begins when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased asset. Generally, this occurs on
the lease commencement date. At lease commencement, the Company expects that collectibility is probable for all of its leases
due to the creditworthiness analysis performed by the Company before entering into a new lease. Lease income, for leases that
have fixed and measurable rent escalations, is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The difference between
such lease income earned and the cash rent due under the provisions of a lease is recorded as deferred rent receivable and is included
as a component of “Accounts and notes receivable” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Certain leases provide for percentage rent based primarily on tenant sales volume. The Company recognizes percentage rent when
the specified target (i.e., breakpoint) that triggers the percentage rent is achieved. The Company recorded percentage rent and
percentage rentin lieu of base rent of $2,555, $3,426 and $4,451 for the years ended December 31,2019,2018 and 2017, respectively,
within “Lease income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.

Also, most leases provide for the reimbursement of the tenant’s pro rata share of certain operating expenses incurred by the landlord
including, among others, real estate taxes, insurance, utilities, common area maintenance and management fees, subject to the
terms of the respective lease. Certain other tenants are subject to net leases where the tenant is responsible for paying base rent to
the Company but is directly responsible for other costs associated with occupancy, such a real estate taxes. Expenses paid directly
by the tenant rather than the landlord are not included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other
comprehensive (loss) income. Expenses paid by the landlord, subject to reimbursement by the tenant, are included within “Operating
expenses” or “Real estate taxes” and reimbursements are included within “Lease income” along with the associated base rent in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.

The Company made an accounting policy election to not separate non-lease components (primarily reimbursement of common
area maintenance costs) from the related lease components as (i) the fixed non-lease components have the same timing and pattern
of transfer as the associated lease component, (ii) the lease component, if accounted for separately, would be classified as an
operating lease and (iii) the Company considers the lease component to be the predominant component of the combined contract.
Reimbursements from tenants for recoverable operating expenses are recognized within “Lease income” in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.

In addition, the Company records lease termination fee income when (i) a termination letter agreement is signed, (ii) all of the
conditions of such agreement have been fulfilled, (iii) the tenant is no longer occupying the property and (iv) collectibility is
reasonably assured. Upon early lease termination, the Company provides for losses related to recognized tenant-specific intangibles
and other assets or adjusts the remaining useful life of the assets if determined to be appropriate. The Company recorded lease
termination fee income of $2,024, $1,721 and $2,021 for the years ended December 31,2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, which
is included within “Lease income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss)
income.

In certain municipalities, the Company is required to remit sales taxes to governmental authorities based upon the rental income
received from properties in those regions. These taxes are reimbursed by the tenant to the Company in accordance with the terms
of the applicable tenant lease. The presentation of the remittance and reimbursement of these taxes is on a gross basis with sales
tax expenses included within “Operating expenses” and sales tax reimbursements included within “Lease income” in the
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accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income. Such taxes remitted to governmental
authorities, which are generally reimbursed by tenants, were $634, $545 and $1,414 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

Accounts and notes receivable include base rent, percentage rent, tenant reimbursements, sales tax reimbursements and deferred
rent receivables. Beginning January 1, 2019, the Company began recording changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables
as an adjustment to “Lease income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss)
income. For the periods prior to January 1, 2019, changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables are presented within
“Operating expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.
Management’s estimate of the collectibility of accounts and notes receivable is completed on a lease-by-lease basis based on the
best information available to management at the time of evaluation and includes consideration of items such as balances outstanding
and tenant creditworthiness.

Right-of-use Lease Assets and Lease Liabilities: The Company is a lessee of (i) land under non-cancellable operating leases and
(i1) office space for certain management offices and its corporate offices. Rental expense associated with land and office space
that the Company leases under non-cancellable operating leases is recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease.

On January 1, 2019, the Company began recognizing lease liabilities and ROU assets for long-term ground and office leases where
it is the lessee in connection with the Company’s adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, Leases. The lease
liability is calculated by discounting future lease payments by the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, which is determined
through consideration of (i) the Company’s entity-specific risk premium, (ii) observable market interest rates and (iii) lease term.
The ROU asset is initially measured as the same amount as the lease liability and presented net of the Company’s existing straight-
line ground rent liabilities and acquired ground lease intangible liability. The lease liability is amortized based on changes in the
value of discounted future lease payments and the ROU asset is amortized by the difference in the straight-line lease expense for
the period and the change in value of the lease liability.

The Company does not (i) include option terms in its future lease payments where they are not reasonably certain to be exercised,
(i1) recognize lease liabilities and ROU assets for leases with a term of 12 months or less or (iii) separate non-lease components
from lease components for operating leases.

Gain on Sales of Investment Properties: Beginning January 1, 2018, gains on sale of investment properties are recognized, and
the related real estate derecognized, when (i) the parties to the sale contract have approved the contract and are committed to
perform their respective obligations; (ii) the Company can identify each party’s rights regarding the property transferred; (iii) the
Company can identify the payment terms for the property transferred; (iv) the contract has commercial substance (that is, the risk,
timing or amount of the entity’s future cash flows is expected to change as a result of the contract); and (v) the Company has
satisfied its performance obligations by transferring control of the property. Typically, the timing of payment and satisfaction of
performance obligations occur simultaneously on the disposition date upon transfer of the property’s ownership.

Prior to January 1, 2018, profits from sales of real estate were recognized under the full accrual method when the following criteria
were met: (i) a sale was consummated; (ii) the buyer’s initial and continuing investments were adequate to demonstrate a
commitment to pay for the property; (iii) the Company’s receivable, if applicable, was not subject to future subordination; (iv) the
Company had transferred to the buyer the usual risks and rewards of ownership; and (v) the Company did not have substantial
continuing involvement with the property. The Company sold two, 10 and 47 consolidated investment properties during the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion.

Loan Fees: Loan fees are generally amortized using the effective interest method (or other methods which approximate the
effective interest method) over the life of the related loan as a component of interest expense. Debt prepayment penalties and
certain fees associated with exchanges or modifications of debt are expensed as incurred as a component of interest expense.

The Company presents unamortized capitalized loan fees, excluding those related to its unsecured revolving line of credit, as direct
reductions of the carrying amounts of the related debt liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized
capitalized loan fees attributable to the Company’s unsecured revolving line of credit are recorded in “Other assets, net” in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Income Taxes: The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code. As a REIT, the
Company generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the taxable income the Company currently distributes to its
shareholders.

The Company records a benefit, based on the GAAP measurement criteria, for uncertain income tax positions if the result of a tax
position meets a “more likely than not” recognition threshold. Tax returns for the calendar years 2016 through 2019 remain subject
to examination by federal and various state tax jurisdictions.

Segment Reporting: The Company’s chief operating decision maker, which is comprised of its Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assesses and measures the operating results of the Company’s portfolio of properties
based on net operating income and does not differentiate properties by geography, market, size or type. Each of the Company’s
investment properties is considered a separate operating segment, as each property earns revenue and incurs expenses, individual
operating results are reviewed and discrete financial information is available. However, the Company’s properties are aggregated
into one reportable segment as they have similar economic characteristics, the Company provides similar services to its tenants
and the Company’s chief operating decision maker evaluates the collective performance of its properties.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements — Prior to 2020

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases. This new guidance, including related ASUs that were
subsequently issued, requires lessees to recognize a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use lease (ROU) asset, initially
measured at the present value of lease payments, for both operating and financing leases. For leases with a term of 12 months or
less, lessees are permitted to make an accounting policy election, by class of underlying asset, to not recognize lease liabilities
and lease assets. The guidance allows lessees and lessors to make an accounting policy election, by class of underlying asset, to
not separate non-lease components from lease components. The guidance also provides an optional transition method that would
allow entities to initially apply the new guidance in the period of adoption, recognizing a cumulative-effect adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings, if necessary, and provides a package of three practical expedients whereby companies are
not required to reassess (i) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (ii) the lease classification (operating
vs. capital/financing leases) for any expired or existing leases and (iii) initial direct costs for any existing leases (Package of Three
Practical Expedients), as well as practical expedients whereby companies are not required to reassess whether land easements
contain a lease and can use hindsight in determining the lease term and assessing impairment of the ROU asset. The guidance
requires changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables to be presented as an adjustment to revenue rather than the previous
presentation within “Operating expenses” on the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.
Finally, only incremental direct leasing costs may be capitalized under the new guidance, which is consistent with our previous
policies.

The Company adopted this new guidance on January 1, 2019, applied the requirements as of that date, made an accounting policy
election to not separate non-lease components from lease components for all classes of assets, and elected the Package of Three
Practical Expedients as well as the practical expedient related to not reassessing whether land easements contain a lease. The
Company did not elect the practical expedient related to hindsight for determining the lease term or assessing impairment of ROU
assets. There was no retained earnings adjustment as a result of the adoption. The guidance regarding capitalization of leasing
costs did not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Upon adoption, the Company recognized lease liabilities and ROU assets of $103,432 for operating leases where it is the lessee
related to long-term ground leases and office leases, which are presented as “Right-of-use lease assets” and “Lease liabilities” in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The ROU assets are presented net of the Company’s existing straight-line ground
rent liabilities of $31,030 and acquired ground lease intangible liability of $11,898 as of January 1, 2019. For leases with a term
of 12 months or less, the Company made an accounting policy election to not recognize lease liabilities and lease assets.

For leases where the Company is the lessor, as noted above, the Company made an accounting policy election to not separate non-
lease components from lease components for all classes of assets and have presented all lease-related revenues in a single line
item, “Lease income,” rather than the previous presentation that separated revenues between “Rental income,” “Tenant recovery
income” and “Other property income” in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income for the
current and comparative periods. This resulted in the reclassification of (i) $370,638 and $414,804 of revenue previously presented
as “Rental income,” (ii) $105,170 and $115,944 of revenue previously presented as “Tenant recovery income” and (iii) $6,689
and $7,391 of revenue previously presented as “Other property income” for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
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respectively, into “Lease income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss)
income. In addition, the Company began recording changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables as an adjustment to
“Lease income” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income. For the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, changes in collectibility of operating lease receivables are presented within “Operating
expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2018-16, Derivatives and Hedging, due to its early adoption of ASU 2017-12,
Derivatives and Hedging. This new guidance permits use of the Overnight Index Swap (OIS) Rate based on the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (SOFR) as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for hedge accounting purposes. SOFR represents the fifth permissible
U.S. benchmark rate in addition to the following current eligible benchmark interest rates: (i) direct Treasury obligations of the
U.S. government (UST), (ii) the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) swap rate, (iii) the OIS Rate based on the Fed Funds
Effective Rate and (iv) the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) Municipal Swap Rate. The adoption
of'this pronouncement did not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as the Company did not change
its benchmark rate.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements — 2020

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses. This new guidance was effective January
1, 2020 and replaces the current incurred loss impairment methodology with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses.
Financial assets that are measured at amortized cost are required to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected with
an allowance for credit losses deducted from the amortized cost basis. In addition, an entity must consider broader information in
developing its expected credit loss estimate, including the use of forecasted information. In November 2018, the FASB issued
ASU 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses, which clarifies that receivables
arising from operating leases are not within the scope of this new guidance. Generally, the pronouncement requires a modified
retrospective method of adoption. The adoption of this pronouncement on January 1, 2020 did not have any effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements as it did not have any financial assets within the scope of this guidance.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement. This new guidance was effective January 1, 2020 and
provides new and, in some cases, eliminates or modifies the existing disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. Public
entities are now required to disclose the following: (i) the changes in unrealized gains and losses for the period included in other
comprehensive income for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of the reporting period and (ii) the range and
weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements. In addition, public entities
are no longer required to disclose the following: (i) the amount of and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy, (ii) the policy for timing of transfers between levels and (iii) the valuation processes for Level 3 fair value
measurements. The new pronouncement also clarifies and modifies certain existing provisions to promote the appropriate exercise
of discretion by entities when considering fair value measurement disclosures and clarifies that materiality is an appropriate
consideration when evaluating disclosure requirements. As permitted by the new pronouncement, the Company removed the
discussion of its valuation processes for Level 3 fair value measurements. The Company did not remove any other disclosures as
it did not have any transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the current and comparative periods. The adoption
of'this pronouncement on January 1, 2020 did not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The amended
disclosure guidance will be applied prospectively.
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(3) ACQUISITIONS AND DEVELOPMENTS IN PROGRESS
Acquisitions

The Company closed on the following acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2019:

Metropolitan Square Acquisition
Date Property Name Statistical Area (MSA) Property Type Footage Price
March 7, 2019 North Benson Center Seattle Multi-tenant retail 70,500 $ 25,340
June 10, 2019 Paradise Valley Marketplace — Parcel Phoenix Land (a) — 1,343
August 13,2019 Southlake Town Square — Parcel Dallas Single-user parcel (b) 3,100 3,293

73,600 $ 29,976 (c)
(a) The Company acquired a parcel adjacent to its Paradise Valley Marketplace multi-tenant retail operating property. The total number of
properties in the Company’s portfolio was not affected by this transaction.

(b) The Company acquired a single-user parcel at its Southlake Town Square multi-tenant retail operating property. The total number of properties
in the Company’s portfolio was not affected by this transaction.

(¢) Acquisition price does not include capitalized closing costs and adjustments totaling $316.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company acquired One Loudoun Uptown for an acquisition price of $25,000. The
58-acre land parcel contains 32 acres that are developable and is located adjacent to One Loudoun Downtown, the Company’s
multi-tenant retail operating property in Ashburn, Virginia. The acquisition price does not include capitalized closing costs and
adjustments totaling $450. The acquired land parcel is classified as land held for development and is included in “Developments
in progress” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The total number of properties in the Company’s portfolio was not
affected by this transaction.

The Company closed on the following acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2017:

Metropolitan Square Acquisition
Date Property Name Statistical Area (MSA) Property Type Footage Price
January 13, 2017 Main Street Promenade (a) Chicago Multi-tenant retail 181,600 $ 88,000
January 25,2017 Carillon — Fee Interest Washington, D.C. Fee interest (b) — 2,000
Additional phase of
February 24, 2017 One Loudoun Downtown — Phase 11 Washington, D.C. multi-tenant retail (c) 15,900 4,128
Additional phase of
April 5,2017 One Loudoun Downtown — Phase 111 Washington, D.C. multi-tenant retail (c) 9,800 2,193
May 16, 2017 One Loudoun Downtown — Phase IV Washington, D.C. Development rights (c) — 3,500
July 6, 2017 New Hyde Park Shopping Center New York Multi-tenant retail 32,300 22,075
Additional phase of
August 8, 2017 One Loudoun Downtown — Phase V Washington, D.C. multi-tenant retail (c) 17,700 5,167
Additional phase of
August 8, 2017 One Loudoun Downtown — Phase VI Washington, D.C. multi-tenant retail (c) 74,100 20,523
December 11,2017  Plaza del Lago (d) Chicago Multi-tenant retail 100,200 48,300
Multi-tenant retail
December 19, 2017 Southlake Town Square — Outparcel Dallas outparcel (e) 12,200 7,029
443,800 $ 202,915 (f)

(a) This property was acquired through two consolidated VIEs and was used to facilitate a 1031 Exchange.

(b) The multi-tenant retail operating property located in Largo, Maryland was previously subject to an approximately 70 acre long-term ground
lease with a third party. The Company completed a transaction whereby it received the fee interest in approximately 50 acres of the underlying
land in exchange for which (i) the Company paid $1,939 and (ii) the term of the ground lease with respect to the remaining approximately
20 acres was shortened to nine months. The Company derecognized building and improvements of $11,347 related to the remaining ground
lease, recognized the fair value of land received of $15,200 and recorded a gain of $2,524, which was recognized during the three months
ended December 31,2017 upon the expiration of the ground lease on approximately 20 acres. The total number of properties in the Company’s
portfolio was not affected by this transaction.
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The Company acquired the remaining five phases under contract, including the development rights for an additional 123 residential units
for a total of 408 units, at One Loudoun Downtown. The total number of properties in the Company’s portfolio was not affected by these
transactions.

Plaza del Lago also contained 8,800 square feet of residential space, comprised of 15 multi-family rental units at acquisition, for a total of
109,000 square feet.

The Company acquired a multi-tenant retail outparcel located at its Southlake Town Square multi-tenant retail operating property. The total
number of properties in the Company’s portfolio was not affected by this transaction.

Acquisition price does not include capitalized closing costs and adjustments totaling $2,506.

The following table summarizes the acquisition date values, before prorations, the Company recorded in conjunction with the
acquisitions completed during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 discussed above:

2019 2018 2017

Land $ 14,819 $ = $ 50,876

Developments in progress — 25,450 —

Building and other improvements, net 13,667 — 148,108

Acquired lease intangible assets (a) 2,040 — 15,608
Acquired lease intangible liabilities (b) (234) — (8,095)
Other liabilities — — (1,076)

Net assets acquired $ 30,292 $ 25,450 $ 205,421
(a) The weighted average amortization period for acquired lease intangible assets is six years and seven years for acquisitions completed during

(b)

the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2017, respectively.

The weighted average amortization period for acquired lease intangible liabilities is five years and 13 years for acquisitions completed
during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2017, respectively.

These acquisitions were funded using a combination of available cash on hand, proceeds from dispositions and proceeds from the
Company’s unsecured revolving line of credit. All of the acquisitions completed during 2019, 2018 and 2017 were considered
asset acquisitions and, as such, transaction costs were capitalized upon closing.

Developments in Progress

The carrying amount of the Company’s developments in progress are as follows:

December 31,
Property Name MSA 2019 2018

Active expansion and redevelopment projects:
Circle East (a) Baltimore $ 33,628 $ 22,383
Plaza del Lago (b) Chicago — 536
One Loudoun Downtown (c) Washington, D.C. 27,868 —
Carillon (d) Washington, D.C. 26,407 —
87,903 22,919

Land held for future development:

One Loudoun Uptown (e) Washington, D.C. 25,450 25,450
Total developments in progress $ 113,353 $ 48,369

(2)

(b)

©

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company received net proceeds of $11,820 in connection with the sale of air rights to a third
party to develop multi-family rental units at Circle East, which is shown net in the “Developments in progress” balance as of December 31,
2019 and 2018 in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During the three months ended September 30, 2019, the Company placed the Plaza del Lago multi-family rental redevelopment project in
service and reclassified the related costs from “Developments in progress” into “Building and other improvements™ in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

During the three months ended June 30, 2019, the Company commenced the active development of Pads G & H at One Loudoun Downtown,
at which time all predevelopment costs related to the development as well as the Company’s historical basis in the pads were reclassified
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from “Other assets, net” and “Investment properties,” respectively, to “Developments in progress” in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets.

(d) During the three months ended September 30, 2019, the Company commenced the active redevelopment at Carillon, at which time the
Company (i) recorded $26,330 of accelerated depreciation related to the write-off of assets taken out of service due to the demolition of
existing structures in connection with the redevelopment and (ii) reclassified all predevelopment costs related to the redevelopment as well
as the Company’s historical basis in the phases to be developed from “Other assets, net” and “Investment properties,” respectively, to
“Developments in progress” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(e) During 2018, the Company acquired One Loudoun Uptown, a 58-acre land parcel that contains 32 acres that are developable.
Variable Interest Entities

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture related to the development, ownership and
operation of the medical office building portion of the redevelopment project at Carillon, of which joint venture the Company
owns 95%. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company entered into two joint ventures related to the development,
ownership and operation of (i) the multi-family rental portion of the expansion project at One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H
and (ii) the multi-family rental redevelopment project at Carillon, of which joint ventures the Company owns 90% and 95%,
respectively.

The joint ventures are considered VIEs primarily because the Company’s joint venture partners do not have substantive kick-out
rights or substantive participating rights. The Company is considered the primary beneficiary as it has a controlling financial
interest in each joint venture. As such, the Company has consolidated these joint ventures and presented the joint venture partners’
interests as noncontrolling interests.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had recorded the following amounts related to the consolidated joint ventures:

December 31,2019 December 31, 2018
One Carillon — Carillon — One Carillon — Carillon —
Loudoun Phase One Phase One Loudoun Phase One Phase One
Downtown —  Multi-family Medical Downtown —  Multi-family Medical
Pads G & H Rental Office Total Pads G & H Rental Office Total
Net investment properties $ 8,830 $ 2,940 § 675 $ 12445 § — — 3 — S =
Other assets, net $ 164 $ — 3 — 3 164 $ 579 $ 6385 % — 3 1,264
Other liabilities $ 1,546 § RV 129 % 1,707 $ 165 § 263 $ — 3 428
Noncontrolling interests $ 1,869 $ 1,454 $ 273 % 3,596 $ 207 $ 211§ — S 418

Development costs are funded by the partners, including the Company, and/or construction loan financing throughout the
construction period. Under terms defined in the joint venture agreements, after construction completion and stabilization of the
respective development project, the Company has the ability to call, and the joint venture partner has the ability to put to the
Company, subject to certain conditions, the joint venture partner’s interest in the respective joint venture at fair value. The Company
has not provided financial support to these VIEs in excess of any amounts that it is contractually required to provide. There was
no income from the joint venture projects during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and, as such, no income was
attributed to the noncontrolling interests.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with a qualified intermediary related to a 1031
Exchange. The Company loaned $87,452 to the VIEs to acquire Main Street Promenade. The 1031 Exchange was completed
during the year ended December 31, 2017 and, in accordance with applicable provisions of the Code, within 180 days after the
acquisition date of the property. At the completion of the 1031 Exchange, the sole membership interests of the VIEs were assigned
to the Company in satisfaction of the outstanding loan, resulting in the entities being wholly owned by the Company and no longer
considered VIEs.

During 2017, prior to the completion of the 1031 Exchange, the Company was deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIEs
related to the 1031 Exchange as it had the ability to direct the activities of the VIEs that most significantly impacted their economic
performance and it had all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Accordingly, the Company consolidated the VIEs related to the
1031 Exchange. No value or income was attributed to the noncontrolling interests during the year ended December 31, 2017. The
assets of the VIEs related to the 1031 Exchange consisted of the investment property that was operated by the Company.
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(4) DISPOSITIONS

The Company closed on the following dispositions during the year ended December 31, 2019:

Square Aggregate
Date Property Name Property Type Footage Consideration Proceeds, Net (a) Gain
March 8, 2019 Edwards Multiplex — Fresno (b) Single-user retail 94,600 $ 25,850 $ 21,605  $ 8,449
June 28, 2019 North Rivers Towne Center Multi-tenant retail 141,500 18,900 17,989 6,881

236,100 $ 44750 $ 39,594 $ 15,330

(a) Aggregate proceeds are net of transaction costs.

(b) Prior to the disposition, the Company was subject to a ground lease whereby it leased the underlying land from a third party. The ground
lease was assumed by the purchaser in connection with the disposition.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company also received net proceeds of $5,062 and recognized a gain of $3,542
in connection with the sale of the second and third phases of a land parcel at One Loudoun Downtown, which included rights to
develop 22 residential units. The aggregate proceeds from the property dispositions and other transactions during the year ended
December 31, 2019 totaled $44,656, with aggregate gains of $18,872.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no properties qualified for held for sale accounting treatment.

The Company closed on the following dispositions during the year ended December 31, 2018:

Square Aggregate
Date Property Name Property Type Footage Consideration Proceeds, Net (a) Gain
January 19, 2018 Crown Theater Single-user retail 74,200 $ 6,900 $ 6,350 $ 2,952
February 15,2018 Cranberry Square Multi-tenant retail 195,200 23,500 23,163 10,174
March 7, 2018 Rite Aid Store (Eckerd)—Crossville, TN Single-user retail 13,800 1,800 1,768 157
March 20, 2018 Home Depot Plaza (b) Multi-tenant retail 135,600 16,250 15,873 —
March 21, 2018 Governor's Marketplace (c) Multi-tenant retail 243,100 23,500 22,400 8,836
March 28,2018 Stony Creek I & Stony Creek II (d) Multi-tenant retail 204,800 32,800 32,078 11,628
April 19, 2018 CVS Pharmacy — Lawton, OK Single-user retail 10,900 1,600 1,596 -
May 31, 2018 Schaumburg Towers Office 895,400 86,600 73,315 —
December 28,2018  Orange Plaza (Golfland Plaza) Multi-tenant retail 58,200 8,450 7,566 —

1,831,200 § 201,400 $ 184,109 $ 33,747

(a) Aggregate proceeds are net of transaction costs, as well as capital and tenant-related costs credited to the buyer at close, as applicable, and
exclude $169 of condemnation proceeds, which did not result in any additional gain recognition.

(b) The Company repaid a $10,750 mortgage payable in conjunction with the disposition of the property.

(¢) The Company recorded an additional gain on sale of $1,407 during the three months ended September 30, 2018 upon satisfaction of
performance obligations associated with escrow agreements executed upon disposition of the property.

(d) The terms of the disposition of Stony Creek I and Stony Creek II were negotiated as a single transaction.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company also received net proceeds of $11,820 and recognized a gain of $2,179
in connection with the sale of air rights at Circle East. In addition, the Company received net proceeds of $1,789 and recognized
a gain of $1,285 in connection with the sale of the first phase of a land parcel, which included rights to develop eight residential
units, at One Loudoun Downtown. The aggregate proceeds from the property dispositions and other transactions during the year
ended December 31, 2018 totaled $197,887 with aggregate gains of $37,211.

During the year ended December 31,2017, the Company sold 47 properties aggregating 5,810,700 square feet for total consideration
0f$917,808. The property dispositions and certain additional transactions, including the receipt of escrow funds related to a property
disposition and a condemnation award, resulted in aggregate proceeds of $896,456 with aggregate gains of $337,975. During the
year ended December 31, 2017, the Company repaid or defeased $241,858 in mortgages payable prior to or in connection with
the 2017 dispositions.
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(5) EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2014 Long-Term Equity Compensation Plan, subject to certain conditions, authorizes the
issuance of incentive and non-qualified stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other
similar awards to the Company’s employees, non-employee directors, consultants and advisors in connection with compensation
and incentive arrangements that may be established by the Company’s board of directors or executive management.

The following table summarizes the Company’s unvested restricted shares as of and for the years ended December 31,2017, 2018
and 2019:

Weighted Average
Unvested Grant Date Fair
Restricted Value per

Shares Restricted Share
Balance as of January 1, 2017 542 $ 15.28
Shares granted (a) 285 $ 14.60
Shares vested (291) $ 15.44
Shares forfeited (40) $ 15.12
Balance as of December 31, 2017 496 $ 14.81
Shares granted (a) 382 $ 12.81
Shares vested (426) $ 14.52
Shares forfeited (12) $ 13.26
Balance as of December 31, 2018 440 $ 13.40
Shares granted (a) 469 $ 12.22
Shares vested (358) $ 13.29
Shares forfeited (16) $ 12.77
Balance as of December 31, 2019 (b) 535 $ 12.46

(a) Shares granted in 2017, 2018 and 2019 vest over periods ranging from one year to three years, 0.9 years to three years and 0.9 years to three
years, respectively, in accordance with the terms of applicable award agreements.

(b) As of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted shares was $2,052, which is expected to
be amortized over a weighted average term of 1.2 years.

In addition, during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, performance restricted stock units (RSUs) were granted
to the Company’s executives. Following the three-year performance period, one-third of the RSUs that are earned will convert
into shares of common stock and two-thirds will convert into restricted shares with a one year vesting term. As long as the minimum
hurdle is achieved and the executive remains employed during the performance period, the RSUs will convert into shares of
common stock and restricted shares at a conversion rate of between 50% and 200% based upon the Company’s Total Shareholder
Return (TSR) as compared to that of the peer companies within the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT)
Shopping Center Index (Peer Companies) for the respective performance period. If an executive terminates employment during
the performance period by reason of a qualified termination, as defined in the award agreement, a prorated portion of his or her
outstanding RSUs will be eligible for conversion based upon the period in which the executive was employed during the performance
period. If an executive terminates for any reason other than a qualified termination during the performance period, he or she would
forfeit his or her outstanding RSUs. Following the performance period, additional shares of common stock will also be issued in
an amount equal to the accumulated value of the dividends that would have been paid on the earned awards during the performance
period. The Company calculated the grant date fair values per unit using Monte Carlo simulations based on the probabilities of
satisfying the market performance hurdles over the remainder of the performance period.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s unvested RSUs as of and for the years ended December 31,2017, 2018 and 2019:

Weighted Average
Unvested Grant Date Fair
RSUs Value per RSU

RSUs eligible for future conversion as of January 1, 2017 391 $ 14.02
RSUs granted (a) 253 $ 15.52
RSUs ineligible for conversion (89) $ 14.68
RSUs eligible for future conversion as of December 31, 2017 555 $ 14.60
RSUs granted (b) 291 $ 14.36
Conversion of RSUs to common stock and restricted shares (c) (141) $ 14.10
RSUs ineligible for conversion (56) $ 15.36
RSUs eligible for future conversion as of December 31, 2018 649 $ 14.54
RSUs granted (d) 382 $ 10.98
Conversion of RSUs to common stock and restricted shares (e) (192) $ 13.74
RSUs eligible for future conversion as of December 31, 2019 (f) (g) 839 $ 13.10

(a) Assumptions and inputs as of the grant date included a risk-free interest rate of 1.50%, the Company’s historical common stock performance
relative to the peer companies within the NAREIT Shopping Center Index and the Company’s common stock dividend yield of 4.32%.

(b) Assumptions and inputs as of the grant dates included a weighted average risk-free interest rate of 2.04%, the Company’s historical common
stock performance relative to the peer companies within the NAREIT Shopping Center Index and the Company’s weighted average common
stock dividend yield of 5.00%.

(c) OnFebruary 5,2018, 141 RSUs converted into 42 shares of common stock and 65 restricted shares that vested on December 31, 2018, after
applying a conversion rate of 76% based upon the Company’s TSR relative to the TSRs of its Peer Companies, for the performance period
that concluded on December 31, 2017. An additional 16 shares of common stock were also issued representing the dividends that would
have been paid on the earned awards during the performance period.

(d) Assumptions and inputs as of the grant date included a risk-free interest rate of 2.47%, the Company’s historical common stock performance
relative to the peer companies within the NAREIT Shopping Center Index and the Company’s common stock dividend yield of 6.07%.

(e) On February 4, 2019, 192 RSUs converted into 82 shares of common stock and 125 restricted shares that vested on December 31, 2019,
after applying a conversion rate of 107.5% based upon the Company’s TSR relative to the TSRs of its Peer companies, for the performance
period that concluded on December 31, 2018. An additional 29 shares of common stock were also issued representing the dividends that
would have been paid on the earned awards during the performance period.

(f) AsofDecember 31,2019, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs was $4,856, which is expected to be amortized
over a weighted average term of 1.9 years.

(g) Subsequent to December 31,2019, 196 RSUs converted into 105 shares of common stock and 175 restricted shares with a one year vesting
term after applying a conversion rate of 142.5% based upon the Company’s TSR relative to the TSRs of its Peer Companies, for the
performance period that concluded on December 31, 2019. An additional 43 shares of common stock were also issued representing the
dividends that would have been paid on the earned awards during the performance period.

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded compensation expense of $7,559, $6,992 and
$6,059, respectively, related to the amortization of unvested restricted shares and RSUs. Included within the amortization of stock-
based compensation expense recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018 is compensation expense of $330 related to the
accelerated vesting of 23 restricted shares and remaining amortization related to the 29 RSUs that remained eligible for future
conversion in conjunction with the departure of the Company’s former Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary.
Included within the amortization of stock-based compensation expense recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017 is the
reversal of $830 of previously recognized compensation expense related to the forfeiture of 34 restricted shares and 89 RSUs
resulting from the 2017 resignation of the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. In addition, $30 of dividends
previously paid on the forfeited restricted shares were reclassified from distributions paid into compensation expense. The total
fair value of restricted shares that vested during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $4,448, $5,091 and
$4,232, respectively. In addition, the total fair value of RSUs that converted into common stock during the years ended December
31,2019 and 2018 was $1,052 and $486, respectively.

Prior to 2013, non-employee directors had been granted options to acquire shares under the Company’s Third Amended and

Restated Independent Director Stock Option and Incentive Plan. Options to purchase a total of 84 shares of common stock had
been granted under the plan. As of December 31, 2019, options to purchase 16 shares of common stock remained outstanding and
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exercisable. The Company did not grant any options in 2019, 2018 or 2017 and no compensation expense related to stock options
was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(6) LEASES
Leases as Lessor

Lease income related to the Company’s operating leases is comprised of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Lease income related to fixed lease payments $ 362,866 $ 361,909 $ 406,923
Lease income related to variable lease payments 116,928 116,141 128,968
Other (a) 1,892 4,447 2,248
Lease income $ 481,686 $ 482,497 $ 538,139

(a) For the year ended December 31, 2019, “Other” is comprised of revenue adjustments related to changes in collectibility and amortization
of above and below market lease intangibles and lease inducements. For the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017, “Other” is comprised
of amortization of above and below market lease intangibles and lease inducements.

As of December 31, 2019, undiscounted lease payments to be received under operating leases, excluding additional percentage
rent based on tenants’ sales volume and tenant reimbursements of certain operating expenses and assuming no exercise of renewal
options or early termination rights, for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Lease Payments

2020 $ 363,222
2021 327,131
2022 279,283
2023 230,164
2024 175,781
Thereafter 556,877
Total $ 1,932,458

As of December 31, 2018, undiscounted lease payments to be received under operating leases, excluding additional percentage
rent based on tenants’ sales volume and tenant reimbursements of certain operating expenses and assuming no exercise of renewal
options or early termination rights, were as follows:

Lease Payments

2019 $ 351,145
2020 314,081
2021 274,135
2022 227,417
2023 180,199
Thereafter 569,758
Total $ 1,916,735

The remaining lease terms range from less than one year to approximately 63 years and less than one year to approximately 64
years as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Many of the leases at the Company’s properties contain provisions that condition a tenant’s obligation to remain open, the amount
of rent payable by the tenant or potentially the tenant’s obligation to remain in the lease, upon certain factors, including: (i) the
presence and continued operation of a certain anchor tenant or tenants, (ii) minimum occupancy levels at the applicable property
or (iii) tenant sales amounts. If such a provision is triggered by a failure of any of these or other applicable conditions, a tenant
could have the right to cease operations at the applicable property, have its rent reduced or terminate its lease early. The Company
does not expect that such provisions will have a material impact on its future operating results.
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Leases as Lessee

The Company leases land under non-cancellable operating leases at certain of its properties expiring in various years from 2035
to 2073, exclusive of any available option periods. In addition, the Company leases office space for certain management offices
and its corporate offices expiring in various years from 2020 to 2023, exclusive of any available option periods.

Upon adoption of the new lease accounting standard (ASU 2016-02 and related amendments) on January 1, 2019, the Company
recorded lease liabilities and ROU assets of $103,432 for long-term ground and office leases where it is the lessee, calculated by
discounting future lease payments by the Company’s incremental borrowing rate as of January 1,2019. The incremental borrowing
rate was determined through consideration of (i) the Company’s entity-specific risk premium, (ii) observable market interest rates
and (iii) lease term. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate used to discount the future payments was 5.91% and the
Company’s operating leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 44 years as of January 1, 2019. The Company’s
existing straight-line ground rent liabilities of $31,030 and acquired ground lease intangible liability of $11,898 were reclassified
as of January 1, 2019 to be presented net of the ROU assets. During 2019, the Company extended the term of one office lease
resulting in an additional lease liability and ROU asset of $321.

The following table summarizes total lease costs recognized during the period, including variable lease payments which were not
significant, and non-cash rent expense. Lease costs recognized during the year ended December 31, 2019 are presented under the
new lease accounting standard and lease costs recognized during the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017 are presented under
the standard in effect prior to the Company’s adoption of ASU 2016-02.

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Ground lease rent expense (a) $ 6,395 $ 7,638 $ 9,188
Office rent expense (b) $ 1,133 $ 1,137 $ 1,311
Office rent costs capitalized (c) $ 181 $ 156 $ =

(a) Included within “Operating expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income.
Includes non-cash ground rent expense of $1,356, $2,404 and $2,710 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(b) Office rent related to property management operations is included within “Operating expenses” and office rent related to corporate office
operations is included within “General and administrative expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other
comprehensive (loss) income. The Company has elected to not record a lease liability/ROU asset for leases with a term of less than 12
months. Office rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 includes $29 of short-term lease costs.

(c) Office rent costs incurred as an indirect cost related to redevelopment projects are capitalized as a cost of the redevelopment project.

As of December 31,2019, undiscounted future rental obligations to be paid under the long-term ground and office leases, including
fixed rental increases, for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Lease Obligations

2020 $ 6,152
2021 6,283
2022 6,155
2023 6,102
2024 5,698
Thereafter 247,798
Total $ 278,188
Adjustment for discounting (187,059)
Lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 $ 91,129

The Company’s operating leases for ground leases and office leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 44 years and
a weighted average discount rate of 5.93% as of December 31, 2019.
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As of December 31, 2018, future rental obligations to be paid under the ground and office leases, including fixed rental increases,

were as follows:

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

(7) DEBT

Lease Obligations

$

6,448
6,656
6,716
6,761
6,769

279,916

313,266

The Company has the following types of indebtedness: (i) mortgages payable, (ii) unsecured notes payable, (iii) unsecured term

loans and (iv) an unsecured revolving line of credit.
Mortgages Payable

The following table summarizes the Company’s mortgages payable:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Aggregate Weighted Weighted Aggregate Weighted Weighted
Principal Average Average Years Principal Average Average Years
Balance Interest Rate to Maturity Balance Interest Rate to Maturity
Fixed rate mortgages payable (a) $ 94,904 4.37% 5.1 $ 205,450 4.65% 4.5
Premium, net of accumulated amortization — 775
Discount, net of accumulated amortization (493) (536)
Capitalized loan fees, net of accumulated
amortization (256) (369)
$ 205,320

Mortgages payable, net $ 94,155

(a) The fixed rate mortgages had interest rates ranging from 3.75% to 7.48% as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repaid mortgages payable in the total amount of $107,671, which had a
weighted average fixed interest rate of 4.91%, incurred $8,151 of debt prepayment fees and made scheduled principal payments
of $2,875 related to amortizing loans. Certain of the Company’s mortgages payable require monthly payments of principal and
interest. Collateral for the Company’s mortgages payable consists of the respective mortgaged property and its related tenant leases.

Unsecured Notes Payable

The following table summarizes the Company’s unsecured notes payable:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Interest Rate/ Interest Rate/
Principal Weighted Average Principal Weighted Average
Unsecured Notes Payable Maturity Date Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
Senior notes — 4.12% due 2021 June 30, 2021 $ 100,000 4.12% $ 100,000 4.12%
Senior notes —4.58% due 2024 June 30, 2024 150,000 4.58% 150,000 4.58%
Senior notes — 4.00% due 2025 March 15, 2025 250,000 4.00% 250,000 4.00%
Senior notes — 4.08% due 2026 September 30, 2026 100,000 4.08% 100,000 4.08%
Senior notes — 4.24% due 2028 December 28, 2028 100,000 4.24% 100,000 4.24%
Senior notes — 4.82% due 2029 June 28, 2029 100,000 4.82% — —%
800,000 4.27% 700,000 4.19%
Discount, net of accumulated amortization (616) (734)
Capitalized loan fees, net of accumulated amortization (3,137) (2,904)
Total $ 796,247 $ 696,362
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Notes Due 2029

On June 28,2019, the Company issued $100,000 0f4.82% senior unsecured notes due 2029 (Notes Due 2029) in a private placement
transaction pursuant to a note purchase agreement it entered into with certain institutional investors on April 5, 2019. The proceeds
were used to repay borrowings on the Company’s unsecured revolving line of credit.

The note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2029 contains customary representations, warranties and covenants, and
events of default. Pursuant to the terms of such note purchase agreement, the Company is subject to various financial covenants,
which include the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage ratios; (ii) a minimum interest
coverage ratio; (iii) a minimum unencumbered interest coverage ratio (as set forth in the Company’s unsecured credit facility and
the note purchase agreements governing the Notes Due 2021 and 2024 and the Notes Due 2026 and 2028 defined below); and (iv)
a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio (as set forth in the Company’s unsecured credit facility).

Notes Due 2026 and 2028

On September 30, 2016, the Company issued $100,000 0f4.08% senior unsecured notes due 2026 in a private placement transaction
pursuant to a note purchase agreement it entered into with certain institutional investors on September 30, 2016. Pursuant to the
same note purchase agreement, on December 28, 2016, the Company also issued $100,000 of 4.24% senior unsecured notes due
2028 (Notes Due 2026 and 2028). The proceeds were used to pay down the Company’s unsecured revolving line of credit, early
repay certain longer-dated mortgages payable and for general corporate purposes.

The note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2026 and 2028 contains customary representations, warranties and
covenants, and events of default. Pursuant to the terms of the note purchase agreement, the Company is subject to various financial
covenants, including the requirement to maintain the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage
ratios; (i1) a minimum interest coverage ratio; (iii) an unencumbered interest coverage ratio (as set forth in the Company’s unsecured
credit facility and the note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2021 and 2024 described below); and (iv) a fixed charge
coverage ratio (as set forth in the Company’s unsecured credit facility).

Notes Due 2025

OnMarch 12,2015, the Company completed a public offering of $250,000 in aggregate principal amount 0f4.00% senior unsecured
notes due 2025 (Notes Due 2025). The Notes Due 2025 were priced at 99.526% of the principal amount to yield 4.058% to maturity.
The proceeds were used to repay a portion of the Company’s unsecured revolving line of credit.

The indenture, as supplemented, governing the Notes Due 2025 (the Indenture) contains customary covenants and events of default.
Pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, the Company is subject to various financial covenants, including the requirement to maintain
the following: (i) maximum secured and total leverage ratios; (ii) a debt service coverage ratio; and (iii) maintenance of an
unencumbered assets to unsecured debt ratio.

Notes Due 2021 and 2024

On June 30, 2014, the Company completed a private placement of $250,000 of unsecured notes, consisting of $100,000 of 4.12%
senior unsecured notes due 2021 and $150,000 of 4.58% senior unsecured notes due 2024 (Notes Due 2021 and 2024). The proceeds
were used to repay a portion of the Company’s unsecured revolving line of credit.

The note purchase agreement governing the Notes Due 2021 and 2024 contains customary representations, warranties and
covenants, and events of default. Pursuant to the terms of the note purchase agreement, the Company is subject to various financial
covenants, some of which are based upon the financial covenants in effect in the Company’s unsecured credit facility, including
the requirement to maintain the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage ratios; (ii) minimum
interest coverage and unencumbered interest coverage ratios; and (iii) a minimum consolidated net worth.

As of December 31, 2019, management believes the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the Indenture
and the note purchase agreements.
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Unsecured Term Loans and Revolving Line of Credit

The following table summarizes the Company’s unsecured term loans and revolving line of credit:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Interest Interest
Maturity Date Balance Rate Balance Rate

Unsecured credit facility term loan due 2021 — fixed rate (a) January 5, 2021 § 250,000 320% $ 250,000 3.20%
Unsecured term loan due 2023 — fixed rate (b) November 22, 2023 200,000 4.05% 200,000 4.05%
Unsecured term loan due 2024 — fixed rate (c) July 17, 2024 120,000 2.88% — —%
Unsecured term loan due 2026 — fixed rate (d) July 17, 2026 150,000 3.27% — —%

Subtotal 720,000 450,000
Capitalized loan fees, net of accumulated amortization (3,477) (2,633)
Term loans, net $ 716,523 $ 447,367
Unsecured credit facility revolving line of credit —

variable rate (e) April 22,2022 $ 18,000 2.85% $ 273,000 3.57%

(a) $250,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 2.00% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging
from 1.20% to 1.70% through January 5, 2021. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

(b) $200,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 2.85% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging
from 1.20% to 1.85% through November 22, 2023. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

(c) $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.68% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging
from 1.20% to 1.70% through July 17, 2024. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2019.

(d) $150,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.77% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging
from 1.50% to 2.20% through July 17, 2026. The applicable credit spread was 1.50% as of December 31, 2019.

(e) Excludes capitalized loan fees, which are included in “Other assets, net” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Unsecured Credit Facility

On April 23, 2018, the Company entered into its fifth amended and restated unsecured credit agreement (Unsecured Credit
Agreement) with a syndicate of financial institutions led by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association serving as syndication agent
and KeyBank National Association serving as administrative agent to provide for an unsecured credit facility aggregating
$1,100,000 (Unsecured Credit Facility). The Unsecured Credit Facility consists of an $850,000 unsecured revolving line of credit
and a $250,000 unsecured term loan and is priced on a leverage grid at a rate of LIBOR plus a credit spread. In accordance with
the Unsecured Credit Agreement, the Company may elect to convert to an investment grade pricing grid. As of December 31,
2019, making such an election would have resulted in a higher interest rate and, as such, the Company has not made the election
to convert to an investment grade pricing grid.

The following table summarizes the key terms of the Unsecured Credit Facility:

Leverage-Based Pricing Investment Grade Pricing
Maturity  Extension  Extension
Unsecured Credit Facility Date Option Fee Credit Spread  Facility Fee Credit Spread  Facility Fee
$250,000 unsecured term loan due 2021 1/5/2021 N/A N/A 1.20%-1.70% N/A 0.90%—1.75% N/A
$850,000 unsecured revolving line of credit ~ 4/22/2022  2-six month 0.075% 1.05%-1.50% 0.15%-0.30%  0.825%-1.55% 0.125%-0.30%

The Unsecured Credit Facility has a $500,000 accordion option that allows the Company, at its election, to increase the total
Unsecured Credit Facility up to $1,600,000, subject to (i) customary fees and conditions including, but not limited to, the absence
of an event of default as defined in the Unsecured Credit Agreement and (ii) the Company’s ability to obtain additional lender
commitments.

The Unsecured Credit Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants, and events of default. Pursuant
to the terms of the Unsecured Credit Agreement, the Company is subject to various financial covenants, including the requirement
to maintain the following: (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage ratios; and (ii) minimum fixed charge
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and unencumbered interest coverage ratios. As of December 31, 2019, management believes the Company was in compliance with
the financial covenants and default provisions under the Unsecured Credit Agreement.

Unsecured Term Loans

Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due 2026

On July 17, 2019, the Company entered into a term loan agreement (2019 Term Loan Agreement) with a group of financial
institutions for a five-year $120,000 unsecured term loan (Term Loan Due 2024) and a seven-year $150,000 unsecured term loan
(Term Loan Due 2026). The Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due 2026 bear interest at a rate of LIBOR, adjusted based on
applicable reserve percentages established by the Federal Reserve, plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid. In accordance
with the 2019 Term Loan Agreement, the Company may elect to convert to an investment grade pricing grid. As of December 31,
2019, making such an election would have resulted in a higher interest rate and, as such, the Company has not made the election
to convert to an investment grade pricing grid. The proceeds were used to repay outstanding indebtedness and for general corporate
purposes.

Term Loan Due 2023

On January 3, 2017, the Company received funding on a seven-year $200,000 unsecured term loan (Term Loan Due 2023) with
a group of financial institutions, which closed during the year ended December 31,2016 and was amended on November 20, 2018.
The Term Loan Due 2023 is priced on a leverage grid at a rate of LIBOR plus a credit spread. In accordance with the amended
term loan agreement (Amended 2017 Term Loan Agreement), the Company may elect to convert to an investment grade pricing
grid. As of December 31, 2019, making such an election would have resulted in a higher interest rate and, as such, the Company
has not made the election to convert to an investment grade pricing grid.

The following table summarizes the key terms of the unsecured term loans:

Leverage-Based Pricing Investment Grade Pricing
Unsecured Term Loans Maturity Date Credit Spread Credit Spread
$200,000 unsecured term loan due 2023 11/22/2023 1.20% — 1.85% 0.85% — 1.65%
$120,000 unsecured term loan due 2024 7/17/2024 1.20% - 1.70% 0.80% — 1.65%
$150,000 unsecured term loan due 2026 7/17/2026 1.50% — 2.20% 1.35% — 2.25%

The Term Loan Due 2024 has a $130,000 accordion option and the Term Loan Due 2026 has a $100,000 accordion option that,
collectively, allow the Company, at its election, to increase the total of the Term Loan Due 2024 and Term Loan Due 2026 up to
$500,000, subject to (i) customary fees and conditions, including the absence of an event of default as defined in the 2019 Term
Loan Agreement and (ii) the Company’s ability to obtain additional lender commitments.

The Term Loan Due 2023 has a $100,000 accordion option that allows the Company, at its election, to increase the Term Loan
Due 2023 up to $300,000, subject to (i) customary fees and conditions, including the absence of an event of default as defined in
the Amended 2017 Term Loan Agreement and (ii) the Company’s ability to obtain additional lender commitments.

The 2019 Term Loan Agreement and the Amended 2017 Term Loan Agreement contain customary representations, warranties and
covenants, and events of default. These include financial covenants such as (i) maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated
leverage ratios; (ii)) minimum fixed charge coverage ratios; and (iii) minimum unencumbered interest coverage ratios. As of
December 31, 2019, management believes the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants and default provisions
under the 2019 Term Loan Agreement and the Amended 2017 Term Loan Agreement.
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Debt Maturities

The following table summarizes the scheduled maturities and principal amortization of the Company’s indebtedness as of
December 31, 2019, for each of the next five years and thereafter and the weighted average interest rates by year. The table does
not reflect the impact of any 2020 debt activity.

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total
Debt:
Fixed rate debt:

Mortgages payable (a) $ 2,494 $ 2,626 $ 26,678 $ 31,758 $ 1,737 $ 29,611 $ 94,904

Fixed rate term loans (b) — 250,000 — 200,000 120,000 150,000 720,000

Unsecured notes payable (c) — 100,000 — — 150,000 550,000 800,000

Total fixed rate debt 2,494 352,626 26,678 231,758 271,737 729,611 1,614,904
Variable rate debt:

Variable rate revolving line of credit — — 18,000 — — — 18,000
Total debt (d) $ 2,494 $ 352,626 $ 44,678 $ 231,758 $ 271,737 $ 729,611 $ 1,632,904
Weighted average interest rate on debt:

Fixed rate debt 4.38% 3.47% 4.81% 4.06% 3.83% 4.02% 3.89%
Variable rate debt (e) — — 2.85% — — — 2.85%
Total 4.38% 3.47% 4.02% 4.06% 3.83% 4.02% 3.88%

(a) Excludes mortgage discount of $(493) and capitalized loan fees of $(256), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019.

(b) Excludes capitalized loan fees of $(3,477), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019. The following variable rate term
loans have been swapped to fixed rate debt: (i) $250,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 2.00% plus
a credit spread based on a leverage grid through January 5, 2021; (ii) $200,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a
fixed rate of 2.85% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through November 22, 2023; (iii) $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate
debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.68% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through July 17, 2024; and (iv) $150,000 of
LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 1.77% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid through July 17,
2026. As of December 31, 2019, the applicable credit spread for (i), (ii) and (iii) was 1.20% and for (iv) was 1.50%.

(¢) Excludes discount of $(616) and capitalized loan fees of $(3,137), net of accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2019.
(d) The weighted average years to maturity of consolidated indebtedness was 4.7 years as of December 31, 2019.

(e) Represents interest rate as of December 31, 2019.

The Company plans on addressing its debt maturities through a combination of cash flows generated from operations, working
capital, capital markets transactions and its unsecured revolving line of credit.

(8) DERIVATIVES

The Company’s objective in using interest rate derivatives is to manage its exposure to interest rate movements and add stability
to interest expense. To accomplish this objective, the Company uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management
strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable rate amounts from a counterparty in
exchange for the Company making fixed rate payments over the life of the agreement without exchange of the underlying notional
amount.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has 11 interest rate swaps to hedge the variable cash flows associated with variable rate
debt. Changes in fair value of the derivatives that are designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges are recorded in “Accumulated
other comprehensive loss” and are reclassified into interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s variable rate
debt. Over the next 12 months, the Company estimates that an additional $3,817 will be reclassified as an increase to interest
expense.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2019, which effectively convert one-month
floating rate LIBOR to a fixed rate:

Number of Fixed

Instruments Effective Date Notional Interest Rate Maturity Date
Three December 29, 2017 $ 250,000 2.00% January 5, 2021
Two November 23, 2018 $ 200,000 2.85% November 22, 2023
Three August 15, 2019 $ 120,000 1.68% July 17,2024
Three August 15, 2019 $ 150,000 1.77% July 17,2026

The following table summarizes the Company’s interest rate swaps that were designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk:

Number of Instruments Notional
Interest Rate Derivatives December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Interest rate swaps 11 5 $ 720,000 $ 450,000

The table below presents the estimated fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instruments as well as their classification
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The valuation techniques used are described in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Derivatives
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
Location Fair Value Location Fair Value
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swaps Other assets, net $ — Other assets, net $ 2,324
Interest rate swaps Other liabilities $ 12,288 Other liabilities $ 3,846

The following table presents the effect of the Company’s derivative financial instruments on the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Location of Loss (Gain) Total Interest Expense
Amount of Loss Reclassified from Presented in the Statements
Derivatives in Recognized in Other Accumulated Other Amount of Loss (Gain) of Operations in which
Cash Flow Hedging Comprehensive Income on Comprehensive Income Reclassified from the Effects of Cash Flow
Relationships Derivative (AOCI) into Income AOCI into Income Hedges are Recorded
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Interest rate swaps $ 11,080 $ 1,567 Interest expense $ 314§ (1,041) $ 76,571 $ 73,746

Credit-risk-related Contingent Features

The Company has agreements with each of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision whereby if the Company defaults
on the related indebtedness, including default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender, then
the Company could also be declared in default on its corresponding derivative obligation.

The Company’s agreements with each of its derivative counterparties also contain a provision whereby if the Company consolidates
with, merges with or into, or transfers all or substantially all of its assets to another entity and the creditworthiness of the resulting,
surviving or transferee entity is materially weaker than the Company’s, the counterparty has the right to terminate the derivative
obligations. As of December 31, 2019, the termination value of derivatives in a liability position, which includes accrued interest
but excludes any adjustment for non-performance risk, which the Company has deemed not significant, was $12,818. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company has not posted any collateral related to these agreements. If the Company had breached any of
these provisions as of December 31, 2019, it could have been required to settle its obligations under the agreements at their
termination value of $12,818.

78



RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(9) EQUITY

In December 2012, the Company issued 5,400 shares of its 7.00% Series A cumulative redeemable preferred stock at a price of
$25.00 per share. On December 20, 2017, the Company redeemed all 5,400 outstanding shares of its Series A preferred stock for
cash at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus $0.3840 per share representing all accrued and unpaid dividends up to, but
excluding, the redemption date. The $4,706 difference between the carrying value of $130,294 and the redemption amount of
$135,000 represents the original underwriting discount and offering costs from 2012 and was recorded as preferred stock dividends.

In December 2015, the Company’s board of directors authorized a common stock repurchase program under which the Company
may repurchase, from time to time, up to a maximum of $250,000 of shares of its Class A common stock. In December 2017, the
Company’s board of directors authorized a $250,000 increase to the common stock repurchase program. The shares may be
repurchased in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and are canceled upon repurchase. The timing and actual
number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including price in absolute terms and in relation to the value of
the Company’s assets, corporate and regulatory requirements, market conditions and other corporate liquidity requirements and
priorities. The common stock repurchase program may be suspended or terminated at any time without prior notice. The following
table presents activity under the Company’s common stock repurchase program during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017:

Number of
Common Shares Average Price Total
Repurchased per Share Repurchases
Year to date December 31, 2019 — $ — $ —
Year to date December 31, 2018 6,341 $ 11.80 $ 74,952
Year to date December 31, 2017 17,683 $ 12.82 $ 227,102

As of December 31, 2019, $189,105 remained available for repurchases of shares of the Company’s common stock under its
common stock repurchase program.

(10) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table summarizes the components used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS):

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Numerator:
Net income $ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ 251,491
Preferred stock dividends — — (13,867)
Net income attributable to common shareholders 32,397 77,640 237,624
Earnings allocated to unvested restricted shares (405) (339) (513)
Net income attributable to common shareholders excluding amounts
attributable to unvested restricted shares $ 31992 $ 77301 $ 237,111
Denominator:
Denominator for earnings per common share — basic:
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 212,948 (a) 217,830 (b) 230,747 (c)
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options — () — (d 1 (d)
RSUs 250 (e) 401 () 179 (g)
Denominator for earnings per common share — diluted:
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent
shares outstanding 213,198 218231 230,927

(a) Excludes 535 shares of unvested restricted common stock as of December 31, 2019, which equate to 645 shares on a weighted average
basis for the year ended December 31,2019. These shares will continue to be excluded from the computation of basic EPS until contingencies
are resolved and the shares are released.
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(b) Excludes 440 shares of unvested restricted common stock as of December 31, 2018, which equate to 535 shares on a weighted average
basis for the year ended December 31, 2018. These shares were excluded from the computation of basic EPS as the contingencies remained
and the shares had not been released as of the end of the reporting period.

(c) Excludes 496 shares of unvested restricted common stock as of December 31, 2017, which equate to 537 shares on a weighted average
basis for the year ended December 31, 2017. These shares were excluded from the computation of basic EPS as the contingencies remained
and the shares had not been released as of the end of the reporting period.

(d) There were outstanding options to purchase 16, 22 and 38 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
at a weighted average exercise price of $15.87, $17.34 and $18.85, respectively. Of these totals, outstanding options to purchase 12, 18 and
32 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $17.25, $18.58
and $20.19, respectively, have been excluded from the common shares used in calculating diluted EPS as including them would be anti-
dilutive.

(e) Asof December 31, 2019, there were 839 RSUs eligible for future conversion upon completion of the performance periods (see Note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements), which equate to 837 RSUs on a weighted average basis for the year ended December 31, 2019. These
contingently issuable shares are a component of calculating diluted EPS.

(f) Asof December 31, 2018, there were 649 RSUs eligible for future conversion upon completion of the performance periods, which equate
to 658 RSUs on a weighted average basis for the year ended December 31, 2018. These contingently issuable shares are a component of
calculating diluted EPS.

(g) Asof December 31, 2017, there were 555 RSUs eligible for future conversion upon completion of the performance periods, which equate
to 617 RSUs on a weighted average basis for the year ended December 31, 2017. These contingently issuable shares are a component of
calculating diluted EPS.

(11) INCOME TAXES

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Code. To qualify as a REIT, the Company must meet a number of
organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to annually distribute to its shareholders at least 90% of its
REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gains. The Company
intends to continue to adhere to these requirements and to maintain its REIT status. As a REIT, the Company is entitled to a
deduction for some or all of the distributions it pays to shareholders. Accordingly, the Company is generally subject to U.S. federal
income taxes on any taxable income that is not currently distributed to its shareholders. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT
in any taxable year, it will be subject to U.S. federal income taxes and may not be able to qualify as a REIT until the fifth subsequent
taxable year.

Notwithstanding the Company’s qualification as a REIT, the Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income
or properties. In addition, the Company’s consolidated financial statements include the operations of one wholly owned subsidiary
that has jointly elected to be treated as a TRS and is subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes at regular corporate tax
rates. The Company did not record any income tax expense related to the TRS for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017. As a REIT, the Company may also be subject to certain U.S. federal excise taxes if it engages in certain types of transactions.

Deferred income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the estimated future consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted rates in effect for
the year in which these temporary differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it
is more likely than not that they will be realized based on consideration of available evidence, including future reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, the magnitude and timing of future projected taxable income and tax planning strategies. The
Company believes that it is not more likely than not that its net deferred tax asset will be realized in future periods and therefore,
has recorded a valuation allowance for the balance, resulting in no effect on the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018

Deferred tax assets:
Basis difference in properties $ 2 $ 2
Capital loss carryforward 3,939 3,939
Net operating loss carryforward 6,174 6,170
Other 467 467
Gross deferred tax assets 10,582 10,578
Less: valuation allowance (10,582) (10,578)
Total deferred tax assets — —
Deferred tax liabilities:
Other — —

Net deferred tax assets $ — $ —

The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities result from the activities of the TRS. As of December 31, 2019, the TRS had a
capital loss carryforward and a federal net operating loss carryforward of $18,757 and $29,399, respectively, which if not utilized,
will begin to expire in 2020 and 2031, respectively.

Differences between net income from the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive (loss) income and the
Company’s taxable income primarily relate to the recognition of sales of investment properties, impairment charges recorded on
investment properties and the timing of both revenue recognition and investment property depreciation and amortization.

The following table reconciles the Company’s net income to REIT taxable income before the dividends paid deduction for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

2019 2018 2017
Net income attributable to the Company $ 32,397 $ 77,640 $ 251,491
Book/tax differences 91,144 588 (59,220)
REIT taxable income subject to 90% dividend requirement $ 123,541 $ 78,228 $ 192,271

The Company’s dividends paid deduction for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is summarized below:

2019 2018 2017
Distributions $ 141,172 $ 116,725 $ 192,271
Less: non-dividend distributions (17,630) (38,497) —
Total dividends paid deduction attributable to earnings and profits $ 123,542 $ 78,228 $ 192,271

A summary of the tax characterization per share of the distributions to shareholders of the Company’s preferred stock and common
stock for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 follows:

2019 2018 2017
Preferred stock
Ordinary dividends $ — $ — $ 1.62
Capital gain distributions — — 0.07
Total distributions per share $ — $ — $ 1.69
Common stock
Ordinary dividends (a) $ 0.58 $ 0.36 $ 0.76
Non-dividend distributions 0.08 0.17 —
Capital gain distributions — — 0.03
Total distributions per share $ 0.66 $ 0.53 $ 0.79

(a) The 2019 and 2018 ordinary dividends are qualified REIT dividends that may be eligible for the 20% qualified business income deduction
under Section 199A of the Code.
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The Company records a benefit for uncertain income tax positions if the result of a tax position meets a “more likely than not”
recognition threshold. No liabilities have been recorded as of December 31,2019 or 2018 as a result of this provision. The Company
expects no significant increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits due to changes in tax positions within one year of

December 31, 2019. Returns for the calendar years 2016 through 2019 remain subject to examination by federal and various state
tax jurisdictions.

(12) PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2019 and 2017, the Company identified indicators of impairment at certain of its properties. Such indicators
included a low occupancy rate, difficulty in leasing space and related cost of re-leasing, financially troubled tenants or reduced
anticipated holding periods. As of December 31,2018, the Company did not identify indicators of impairment at any of'its properties.
The following table summarizes the results of these analyses as of December 31, 2019 and 2017:

December 31,
2019 2017

Number of properties for which indicators of impairment were identified 1 6 (a)
Less: number of properties for which an impairment charge was recorded 1 1
Less: number of properties that were held for sale as of the date the analysis was performed

for which indicators of impairment were identified but no impairment charge was recorded 1
Remaining properties for which indicators of impairment were identified but

no impairment charge was considered necessary 4
Weighted average percentage by which the projected undiscounted cash flows exceeded

its respective carrying value for each of the remaining properties (b) N/A 14%

(a) Includes five properties which have subsequently been sold as of December 31, 2019.

(b) Based upon the estimated holding period for each asset where an undiscounted cash flow analysis was performed.
The Company recorded the following investment property impairment charge during the year ended December 31, 2019:

Provision for
Impairment of

Square Investment

Property Name Property Type Impairment Date Footage Properties
Streets of Yorktown (a) Multi-tenant retail September 30, 2019 85,200 $ 11,177
King Philip’s Crossing (b) Multi-tenant retail December 31, 2019 105,900 1,121
$ 12,298
Estimated fair value of impaired properties as of impairment date $ 16,944

(a) The Company recorded an impairment charge as a result of a combination of factors, including expected impact on future operating results
stemming from anticipated changes in lease terms related to the tenant population and a re-evaluation of the strategic alternatives for the
property.

(b) The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. The property was sold on
February 13, 2020.

The Company recorded the following investment property impairment charges during the year ended December 31, 2018:

Provision for
Impairment of

Square Investment

Property Name Property Type Impairment Date Footage Properties
Schaumburg Towers (a) Office Various 895,400 $ 1,116
CVS Pharmacy — Lawton, OK (b) Single-user retail March 31, 2018 10,900 200
Orange Plaza (Golfland Plaza) (c) Multi-tenant retail December 28, 2018 58,200 763
$ 2,079
Estimated fair value of impaired properties as of impairment date $ 85,321

82



(@)

(b)

©

RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Company recorded an impairment charge on March 31, 2018 based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. This
property was classified as held for sale as of March 31, 2018 and was sold on May 31, 2018, at which time additional impairment was
recognized pursuant to the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract.

The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. The property was sold on
April 19, 2018.

The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. The property was sold on
December 28, 2018.

The Company recorded the following investment property impairment charges during the year ended December 31, 2017:

Provision for
Impairment of

Square Investment

Property Name Property Type Impairment Date Footage Properties
Century III Plaza, excluding the Home Depot parcel (a) Multi-tenant retail Various (a) 152,200 § 3,304
Lakepointe Towne Center (b) Multi-tenant retail June 30, 2017 196,600 9,958
Saucon Valley Square (c) Multi-tenant retail September 30, 2017 80,700 184
Schaumburg Towers (d) Office September 30, 2017 895,400 45,638
High Ridge Crossing (e) Multi-tenant retail December 22, 2017 76,900 3,480
Home Depot Plaza (f) Multi-tenant retail December 31, 2017 135,600 4,439
$ 67,003
Estimated fair value of impaired properties as of impairment date $ 107,400

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

©

®

The Company recorded an impairment charge on June 30, 2017 based upon the terms and conditions of a bona fide purchase offer and
additional impairment was recognized upon sale pursuant to the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. This property was
classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2016 and was sold on December 15, 2017. The Home Depot parcel of Century I1I Plaza was
sold on March 15, 2017.

The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. This property was classified
as held for sale as of June 30, 2017 and was sold on August 4, 2017.

The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. This property was classified
as held for sale as of September 30, 2017 and was sold on October 27, 2017.

The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of a bona fide purchase offer. The property was sold on
May 31, 2018.

The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. The property was sold on
December 22, 2017.

The Company recorded an impairment charge based upon the terms and conditions of an executed sales contract. The property was sold on
March 20, 2018.

The Company provides no assurance that material impairment charges with respect to its investment properties will not occur in
future periods.
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(13) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair value of the Company’s financial instruments:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Financial assets:
Derivative asset $ — $ — $ 2,324 $ 2,324
Financial liabilities:

Mortgages payable, net $ 94,155 $ 98,082 $ 205,320 $ 208,173
Unsecured notes payable, net $ 796,247 $ 822,883 $ 696,362 $ 671,492
Unsecured term loans, net $ 716,523 $ 720,000 $ 447367 $ 449,266
Unsecured revolving line of credit $ 18,000 $ 18,000 $ 273,000 $ 272,553
Derivative liability $ 12,288 $ 12,288 $ 3,846 $ 3,846

The carrying value of the derivative asset is included within “Other assets, net” and the carrying value of the derivative liability
is included within “Other liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Fair Value Hierarchy

A fair value measurement is based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability in an
orderly transaction. The hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value are as follows:

* Level 1 Inputs — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
*  Level 2 Inputs — Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

*  Level 3 Inputs — Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

When inputs used to measure fair value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the level within which the fair value measurement
is categorized is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the Company’s financial instruments, which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by the
level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall. Methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value
of these instruments are described after the table.

Fair Value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
December 31, 2019
Derivative liability $ — $ 12,288 $ — $ 12,288
December 31, 2018
Derivative asset $ — $ 2,324 $ — $ 2,324
Derivative liability $ — $ 3,846 $ — $ 3,846

Derivatives: The fair value of the derivative asset and derivative liability is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on
the expected future cash flows of each derivative. This analysis uses observable market data including forward yield curves and
implied volatilities to determine the market’s expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component. The fixed and variable
components of the derivative are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based on the LIBOR swap rate and
are aggregated to arrive at a single valuation for the period. The Company also incorporates credit valuation adjustments to
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appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value
measurements. Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives use Level 3 inputs, such as
estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. However, as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation
of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As
a result, the Company has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are classified within Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk, the Company has considered
any applicable credit enhancements. The Company’s derivative instruments are further described in Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2019,
aggregated by the level within the fair value hierarchy in which those measurements fall. The table includes information related
to properties remeasured to fair value as a result of impairment charges recorded during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of this asset are described after the table. The Company did not remeasure
any assets to fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2018.

Fair Value
Provision for
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Impairment
December 31, 2019
Investment properties $ — $ 11,644 (a) $ 5300 (b) $ 16,944 $ 12,298

(a) Represents the fair value of the Company’s King Philip’s Crossing investment property as of December 31, 2019, the date the asset was
measured at fair value. The estimated fair value of King Philip’s Crossing was based upon the expected sales price from an executed sales
contract and determined to be a Level 2 input.

(b) Represents the fair value of the Company’s Streets of Yorktown investment property as of September 30, 2019, the date the asset was
measured at fair value. The estimated fair value of Streets of Yorktown was determined using the income approach. The income approach
involves discounting the estimated income stream and reversion (presumed sale) value of a property over an estimated holding period to a
present value at a risk-adjusted rate. The discount rates and third-party comparable sales prices used in this approach are derived from
property-specific information, market transactions and other industry data and are considered significant inputs to this valuation. The
reversion value of the property was based upon third-party comparable sales prices, which contain unobservable inputs used by these third
parties. A weighted average discount rate of 6.89% was used to (i) present value the estimated income stream over the estimated holding
period and (ii) present value the reversion value.

Fair Value Disclosures

The following table presents the Company’s financial liabilities, which are measured at fair value for disclosure purposes, by the
level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall.

Fair Value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

December 31, 2019

Mortgages payable, net $ — $ — $ 98,082 $ 98,082
Unsecured notes payable, net $ 255,965 $ — $ 566,918 $ 822,883
Unsecured term loans, net $ — $ — $ 720,000 $ 720,000
Unsecured revolving line of credit $ — $ — $ 18,000 $ 18,000
December 31, 2018

Mortgages payable, net $ — $ — $ 208,173 $ 208,173
Unsecured notes payable, net $ 235,788 $ — $ 435,704 $ 671,492
Unsecured term loans, net $ — $ — $ 449,266 $ 449,266
Unsecured revolving line of credit $ — $ — $ 272,553 $ 272,553
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The Company estimates the fair value of its Level 3 financial liabilities using a discounted cash flow model that incorporates future
contractual principal and interest payments. The Company estimates the fair value of its mortgages payable, net and Level 3
unsecured notes payable, net by discounting the anticipated future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently offered to the
Company by its lenders for similar debt instruments of comparable maturities. The Company estimates the fair value of'its unsecured
term loans, net and unsecured revolving line of credit by discounting the anticipated future cash flows at a reference rate, currently
one-month LIBOR, plus an applicable credit spread currently offered to the Company by its lenders for similar instruments of
comparable maturities. The following rates were used in the discounted cash flow model to calculate the fair value of the Company’s
Level 3 financial liabilities:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Mortgages payable, net — range of discount rates used 3.2% to 3.6% 4.2% to 4.4%
Unsecured notes payable, net — weighted average discount rate used 3.79% 4.91%
Unsecured term loans, net — weighted average credit spread portion of discount rate used 1.26% 1.25%
Unsecured revolving line of credit — credit spread portion of discount rate used 1.05% 1.10%

There were no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
(14) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

On December 1, 2014, the Company formed a wholly owned captive insurance company, Birch Property and Casualty LLC (Birch),
which insures the Company’s first layer of property, environmental and general liability insurance claims subject to certain
limitations. The Company capitalized Birch in accordance with the applicable regulatory requirements and Birch established annual
premiums based on projections derived from the past loss experience of the Company’s properties.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had letters of credit outstanding totaling $291 that serve as collateral for certain capital
improvements at one of its properties and reduce the available borrowings on its unsecured revolving line of credit.

The following table summarizes the Company’s active expansion and redevelopment projects as of December 31, 2019:

Estimated Net Investment Net Investment as of

Project Name MSA Low High December 31, 2019
Circle East (a) Baltimore $ 42,000 $ 44,000 $ 21,766
One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H (b) Washington, D.C. $ 125,000 $ 135,000 $ 14,711
Carillon — phase one (b) Washington, D.C. $ 194,000 $ 215,000 $ 5,358

(a) Investment amounts are net of proceeds of $11,820 received from the sale of air rights.

(b) Investment amounts are net of expected and actual contributions from the Company’s joint venture partners.
(15) LITIGATION

The Company is subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.
While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on currently available
information, that the final outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company.

(16) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Company:

* closed on the disposition of King Philip’s Crossing, a 105,900 square foot multi-tenant retail operating property located
in Seekonk, Massachusetts, for a sales price of $13,900 with no anticipated gain on sale or additional impairment due to
previously recognized impairment charges;

* closed on the acquisition of the fee interest in Fullerton Metrocenter, its existing multi-tenant retail operating property
located in Fullerton, California, for a gross purchase price of $55,000. In connection with this acquisition, the Company
also assumed the lessor position in a ground lease with a shadow anchor;
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o granted 116 restricted shares at a grant date fair value of $13.07 per share and 331 RSUs at a grant date fair value of
$13.67 per RSU to the Company’s executives in conjunction with its long-term equity compensation plan. The restricted
shares will vest over three years and the RSUs granted are subject to a three-year performance period. Refer to Note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements for additional details regarding the terms of the RSUs;

» issued 105 shares of common stock and 175 restricted shares with a one year vesting term for the RSUs with a performance
period that concluded on December 31, 2019. An additional 43 shares of common stock were also issued for dividends
that would have been paid on the common stock and restricted shares during the performance period; and

* declared the cash dividend for the first quarter of 2020 of $0.165625 per share on its outstanding Class A common stock,
which will be paid on April 9, 2020 to Class A common shareholders of record at the close of business on March 26,

2020.

(17) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The following table sets forth selected quarterly financial data for the Company:

Revenues
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders

Net income (loss) per common share attributable to common
shareholders — basic and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted

Revenues
Net income
Net income attributable to common shareholders

Net income per common share attributable to common
shareholders — basic and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — basic

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted

2019
Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31
$ 120,817 $ 119,717 $ 118,449 $ 122,703
$ 16,172 $ (28.153) 8 21,170 $ 23,208
$ 16,172 $ (28.,153) 8 21,170 $ 23,208
$ 0.08 $ (0.13) § 0.10 $ 0.11
212,996 212,995 212,951 212,850

——— e—— e——— " e——

213,627 212,995 213,090 213,223

——— e—— e—— " e————

2018
Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31
$ 119,354 $ 119,137 $ 119,164 $ 124,842
$ 12,144 $ 12,834 $ 10,882 $ 41,780
$ 12,144 $ 12,834 $ 10,882 $ 41,780
$ 0.06 $ 0.06 $ 0.05 $ 0.19
214,684 218,808 218,982 218,849
215,093 219,021 219,410 219,403

—_—l s —— .
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Year ended December 31, 2019
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Tax valuation allowance

Year ended December 31, 2018
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Tax valuation allowance

Year ended December 31, 2017
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Tax valuation allowance

RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.

Schedule II
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

For the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

(in thousands)

Balance at Charged to
beginning costs and . Balance at
of year expenses Deductions end of year
$ 7,976 — (7,976) —
$ 10,578 4 — 10,582
$ 6,567 3,155 (1,746) 7,976
$ 12,347 (1,769) — 10,578
$ 6,886 2,143 (2,462) 6,567
$ 21,175 (8,828) — 12,347
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to us, including our consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to the members of senior management and the
board of directors.

Based on management’s evaluation as of December 31, 2019, our Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in our reports that
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms, and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes to our internal controls over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2019 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal
Control— Integrated Framework (201 3), our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of December 31, 2019. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, as stated in their report which is included
herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Retail Properties of America, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31,2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company and our report
dated February 19, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 19, 2020
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by this Item 10 will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this Item 11 will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this Item 12 will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this Item 13 will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this Item 14 will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) List of documents filed:
(1) The consolidated financial statements of the Company are set forth in this report in Item 8.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

The following financial statement schedules for the year ended December 31, 2019 are submitted herewith:

Page
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (Schedule II) 88
Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation (Schedule I11) 89

Schedules not filed:

All schedules other than those indicated in the index have been omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information
is presented in the consolidated financial statements or related notes.

Exhibit No.

Description

3.1

32

33

34

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

4.1

4.2

43

4.4

10.1

10.2

Sixth Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Registrant, dated March 20, 2012 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2012).

Articles of Amendment to the Sixth Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Registrant, dated March 20, 2012
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2012).

Articles of Amendment to the Sixth Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Registrant, dated March 20, 2012
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2012).

Articles Supplementary to the Sixth Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Registrant, as amended, dated March 20,
2012 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 22, 2012).

Articles Supplementary for the Series A Preferred Stock (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2012).

Certificate of Correction (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report/Amended on Form
8-K/A filed on December 20, 2012).

Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 20, 2012).

Amendment No. 1 to the Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, dated February 11, 2014 (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 12, 2014).

Amendment No. 2 to the Sixth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, dated May 25, 2017 (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 and filed on
August 2, 2017).

Indenture, dated March 12, 2015, by and between the Registrant as Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 12, 2015).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated March 12,2015, by and between the Registrant as Issuerand U.S. Bank National Association
as Trustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 12,
2015).

Form of 4.00% Senior Notes due 2025 (attached as Exhibit A to the First Supplemental Indenture filed as Exhibit 4.2)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 12, 2015).

Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(filed herewith).

Retail Properties of America, Inc. Amended and Restated 2014 Long-Term Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated herein
by reference to Appendix A to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 6, 2018).

Third Amended and Restated Independent Director Stock Option and Incentive Plan of the Registrant (incorporated herein by
reference to Appendix A to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on August 2, 2013).
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

21.1

Retail Properties of America, Inc. Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 24, 2018).

Indemnification Agreements by and between the Registrant and its directors and officers (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibits 10.6B, 10.6D and 10.6E to the Registrant’s Annual Report/Amended on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December
31, 2006 filed on April 27, 2007, Exhibits 10.560 and 10.570 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2007 filed on March 31, 2008, Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 6, 2013, Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2014 filed on August 5, 2014, Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2015 filed on August 5, 2015, Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2015 filed on November 4, 2015, Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed on November 2, 2016, Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 filed on February 15, 2017, and Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed on February 14, 2018).

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of May 16, 2014 among the Registrant as Issuer and Certain Institutions as Purchasers
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 22, 2014).

Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of April 23, 2018, by and among the Registrant as Borrower and
KeyBank National Association as Administrative Agent, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc. as
Joint Book Managers, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association as Syndication Agent, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, KeyBanc
Capital Markets Inc., U.S. Bank National Association, PNC Capital Markets LLC, Capital One, National Association and
Regions Capital Markets as Co-Lead Arrangers, each of U.S. Bank National Association, PNC Capital Markets LLC, Regions
Bank, Capital One, National Association, Bank of America, N.A., Citibank, N.A., The Bank of Nova Scotia, TD Bank, N.A.
and Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. as Documentation Agents, and certain lenders from time to time parties hereto, as
Lenders (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2018 and filed on May 2, 2018).

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September 30, 2016, among the Registrant as Issuer and Certain Institutions as Purchasers
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 5, 2016).

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2016, by and among the Registrant as Borrower and Capital One, National
Association as Administrative Agent, Capital One, National Association, PNC Capital Markets LLC, TD Bank, N.A., and
Regions Bank as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Managers, TD Bank, N.A. as Syndication Agent, PNC Capital Markets
LLC and Regions Bank as Co-Documentation Agent, and Certain Lenders from time to time parties hereto, as Lenders
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 29, 2016).

First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2018, by and among the Registrant as Borrower and Capital
One, National Association as Administrative Agent and certain lenders from time to time parties hereto, as Lenders (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018
filed on August 1, 2018).

Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2018, by and among the Registrant as Borrower and
Capital One, National Association as Administrative Agent and certain lenders from time to time parties hereto, as Lenders
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2018 filed on February 13, 2019).

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of April 5, 2019 among the Registrant as Issuer and Certain Institutions as Purchasers
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 9, 2019).

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July 17,2019, by and among the Registrant, as borrower, and KeyBank National Association,
as administrative agent, KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc., as book runner, KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc., Branch Banking and
Trust Company, PNC Capital Markets LLC, TD Bank and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as joint lead arrangers,
Branch Banking and Trust Company, PNC Bank, National Association, TD Bank and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,
as co-syndication agents, and the initial lenders named therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2019).

Retention Agreement dated July 29, 2019 by and between the Registrant and Steven P. Grimes (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 filed on July 31, 2019).

Retention Agreement dated July 29, 2019 by and between the Registrant and Shane C. Garrison (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 filed on July
31, 2019).

Retention Agreement dated July 30, 2018 by and between the Registrant and Julie M. Swinehart (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018 filed on
August 1, 2018).

List of Subsidiaries of Registrant (filed herewith).
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Exhibit No.

Description

23.1
31.1
31.2

32.1

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP (filed herewith).
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith).

Certification of Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 (furnished herewith).

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (filed herewith).

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed herewith).
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed herewith).
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed herewith).

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed herewith).

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained in
Exhibits 101.*) (filed herewith).

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

RETAIL PROPERTIES OF AMERICA, INC.

/s/ STEVEN P. GRIMES

By: Steven P. Grimes
Chief Executive Officer
Date:  February 19, 2020

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

/s/ STEVEN P. GRIMES /s/ BONNIE S. BIUMI /s/ RICHARD P. IMPERIALE
By: Steven P. Grimes By: Bonnie S. Biumi By: Richard P. Imperiale

Director and Chief Executive Officer Director Director

(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: February 19, 2020 Date:  February 19, 2020 Date: February 19, 2020

/s/ JULIE M. SWINEHART /sl FRANK A. CATALANO, JR. /s/ PETER L. LYNCH
By: Julie M. Swinehart By: Frank A. Catalano, Jr. By: Peter L. Lynch

Executive Vice President, Director Director

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: February 19, 2020 Date: February 19, 2020 Date: February 19, 2020
/sl GERALD M. GORSKI /s/ ROBERT G. GIFFORD /s THOMAS J. SARGEANT
By: Gerald M. Gorski By: Robert G. Gifford By: Thomas J. Sargeant
Chairman of the Board and Director Director Director
Date: February 19, 2020 Date:  February 19, 2020 Date: February 19, 2020
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Board of Directors

Gerald M. Gorski, Chairman
Former Partner, Gorski & Good LLP

Bonnie S. Biumi

Former President and Chief
Financial Officer of Kerzner
International Resorts, Inc.

Frank A. Catalano, Jr.
President of Catalano & Associates

Robert G. Gifford

Former President and Chief
Executive Officer of AIG Global
Real Estate

Steven P. Grimes
Chief Executive Officer

Richard P. Imperiale
President and Founder of the
Uniplan Companies

Peter L. Lynch

Former Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive
Officer of Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.

Thomas J. Sargeant
Former Chief Financial Officer of
AvalonBay Communities, Inc.

Investor Information

Current stockholder information,
including the Annual Report, SEC
filings and press releases, is available
on our website at www.rpai.com or
by e-mail request to ir@rpai.com.

Legal Counsel

Goodwin Procter LLP
Boston, MA

Independent Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, IL

Transfer Agent

Computershare

P.O. Box 505000
Louisville, KY 40233
800.368.5948
www.computershare.com

Executive Officers

Steven P. Grimes
Chief Executive Officer

Shane C. Garrison
President and Chief Operating
Officer

Julie M. Swinehart
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Corporate Office

Retail Properties of America, Inc.
2021 Spring Road, Suite 200
Oak Brook, IL 60523
855.247.RPAI

WwWw.rpai.com

This Annual Report and the Letter to Stockholders contain “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements are statements that are not historical, including statements

regarding management's intentions, beliefs, expectations, representations, plans or predictions of the future and are typically identified by such words as “believes,” “expects,

“should,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,

may,”

will,” “continue,” or “anticipates” and variations of such words or similar expressions or the negative of such words. We intend that such

forward-looking statements be subject to the safe harbor provisions set forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and we include this statement for the purpose of complying with such safe harbor provisions. Future
events and actual results, performance, transactions or achievements, financial or otherwise, may differ materially from the results, performance, transactions or achievements
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause our actual results to be materially different from the forward-looking statements are
discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. We assume no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements or to update the reasons why actual results could differ

from those projected in any forward-looking statements.
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